

Joana Filipa Madureira Gaifem **Deciphering the microbiome and metabolic factors contributing to protection against ulcerative colitis** 

Minho 2018



Universidade do Minho Escola de Medicina

Joana Filipa Madureira Gaifem

Deciphering the microbiome and metabolic factors contributing to protection against ulcerative colitis

dezembro de 2018



**Universidade do Minho** Escola de Medicina

Joana Filipa Madureira Gaifem

## Deciphering the microbiome and metabolic factors contributing to protection against ulcerative colitis

Tese de Doutoramento em Envelhecimento e Doenças Crónicas

Trabalho efetuado sob a orientação do Doutor Ricardo Jorge Leal Silvestre e do Doutor Duarte Custal Ferreira Barral

### **STATEMENT OF INTEGRITY**

I hereby declare having conducted my thesis with integrity. I confirm that I have not used plagiarism or any form of falsification of results in the process of the thesis elaboration.

I further declare that I have fully acknowledged the Code of Ethical Conduct of the University of Minho.

University of Minho, December 18th, 2018

Full name: Joana Filipa Madureira Gaifem

Signature: Joana Filipa Madureira Gaitem

The work presented in this thesis was developed at:

Microbiology and Infection Research Domain, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal





Universidade do Minho Escola de Medicina

Center for Sepsis Control & Care (CSCC), Universitätsklinikum Jena, Jena, Germany





The work presented in this thesis was funded by:

Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) through the PhD fellowship PD/BD/106053/2015 via Inter-University Doctoral Programme in Ageing and Chronic Diseases – PhDOC.

FEDER funds through the Operational Programme Competitiveness Factors – COMPETE and Nacional Funds through FCT – Foundation for Science and Technology under the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007038; and by the project NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000013, supported by Norte Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE2020), under the PORTUGAL 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).









UNIÃO EUROPEIA Fundo Europeu de Desenvolvimento Regional

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Em primeiro lugar, gostaria de agradecer ao meu orientador Ricardo Silvestre. Se há quem tenha lugar cativo nestes agradecimentos, com toda a certeza és uma dessas pessoas. Agradeço-te por todo o apoio e confiança que me transmitiste desde o primeiro dia. Foi um prazer enorme aprender e trabalhar contigo, e sentir que levo daqui não só conhecimento, mas também companheirismo e amizade. Muito obrigada!

Ao meu orientador Duarte Barral que, mesmo eu não estando no seu laboratório, esteve sempre presente para o que fosse preciso. Muito obrigada pelos conselhos e pelos incentivos ao longo deste percurso.

Agradeço aos membros do MIRD (actuais e antigos), o domínio que me acolheu tão bem, ainda antes do meu doutoramento. Em particular, gostaria de agradecer ao Gil Castro, pelas discussões entusiastas sobre Ciência e, em particular, sobre este trabalho. Ao Fernando Rodrigues e ao Agostinho Carvalho, agradeço pelos conselhos que me deram ao longo deste percurso. À Cristina Cunha, muito obrigada não só pelos conselhos científicos, mas também pelas palavras de motivação – sempre no momento certo! Agradeço à Margarida Saraiva pelo input científico e por estar sempre disponível para ajudar no que for necessário.

Aos meus "lordes", companheiros de (muitos) cafés e de aventuras no lab: Maria João e Ana (VIP team), (Doutora) Carla, Diana (a NERD mais MIRD de sempre), João Fevereiro (consultas gratuitas, senhor doutor!), Miguel "Mad Mike" Teixeira, Miguel Silva, Rita Pinheiro e Rita Pacheco: os meus dias não seriam tão animados sem vocês, obrigada! Ao Bruno Rodrigues, "my partner in crime" no ICVS, agradeço pelos conselhos, pelos momentos divertidos e pela amizade (se está escrito é porque é verdade!). Ao Cláudio Oliveira, que está sempre pronto a dar uma ajudinha quando lhe peço! À Mariana Resende, a minha companheira de entrega de tese, obrigada por todo o apoio – estamos juntas nisto!

To Alexander Mosig, thank you for receiving me so well in your laboratory and for sharing with me all your knowledge. To all the members of the Mosig lab: Michelle and Marko (thanks for all the teaching in the lab and the afternoon beers in the park), Martin, Swen, Tobi, Nora and Melanie. You made me feel welcomed since day one and I will always remember how Jena felt like home thanks to all of you! Vielen dank!

À maravilhosa turma do PhDOC 2014/2015: Anna (my evil soulmate), Ana, Cláudia Antunes, Cláudia Pereira, Carlos, Deolinda, Rita, Susana e Tânia. Desde o primeiro dia de RMT que se sentiu que somos um grupo especial. Muito obrigada pela partilha, por tornarem leves as longas horas de trabalhos, cursos e rotações que tivemos juntos no 1º ano, e por tornarem a distância insignificante!

Quero agradecer também aos meus antigos colegas e amigos que foram importantes para o meu percurso científico: Patrícia Varela (we will always have Dresden), Bernardo Gama (o meu companheiro dos westerns e das francesinhas), Daniel Barbosa (mokambo friend), Catarina Santos, Rita Mota, Ângela Brito, Sérgio Ferreira, Sara Pereira e Paula Tamagnini. Obrigada pelo vosso companheirismo ao longo destes anos!

Quero agradecer aos meus amigos e família por todo o apoio que me sempre me deram. Tiago, Filipa, Paulo, Fábio, Teresa e Miguel: desde as primeiras aulas na faculdade, às nossas roadtrips, por aturarem o meu apetite voraz (ok, eu admito) e tudo o resto, só vos posso dizer que vocês já são mais do que amigos, são família. Muito obrigada! Ao André e à Daniela, pela amizade e por estarem sempre presentes (diariamente!). Um agradecimento especial à Blandina e ao Carlos Alberto, pelo imenso apoio que me deram ao longo desta jornada. Aos meus avós, pelos conselhos que nunca se esquecem.

Por fim, quero agradecer às minhas pessoas. Aos meus pais, que sempre me apoiaram e incentivaram a fazer mais e melhor, mas sobretudo por acreditarem sempre em mim. Ao meu irmão Bruno, que está sempre ao meu lado quando eu mais preciso. Ao Filipe, por todo o carinho e dedicação – nada disto seria a mesma coisa se não fosse partilhado contigo.

Muito obrigada a todos!

#### ABSTRACT

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a complex set of inflammatory disorders from the gastrointestinal tract, comprising Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). Although the precise etiology of this disease remains unclear, the pathogenesis of IBD has been defined as an immune-mediated condition with a strong genetic predisposition, triggered by environmental factors that affect the mucosal barrier and the balance of the gut microbiota. In this work, we aimed to identify relevant microbiota species that may influence the susceptibility or protection against colitis development and how the modulation of dietary nutrients impacts the outcome of disease.

While analyzing dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in genetically similar C57BL/6 mice housed in two different animal facilities, we serendipitously observed a group of animals with a remarkable protection to disease development. The two groups of mice display distinct microbiota and metabolic profiles, clustering separately in multivariate data analysis. This can be at the genesis of the resistant phenotype, since fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from resistant to susceptible mice was able to reverse colitis susceptibility. We identified Akkermansia muciniphila and Parabacteroides distasonis as metagenomic top hits, being enriched in resistant mice, and in susceptible mice after receiving FMT from the resistant group. Resistant mice also evidenced significantly increased levels of IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22, as well as increased expression of claudin- and mucin-encoding genes in homeostatic conditions when compared to the susceptible group, suggesting that the protective phenotype is associated with an intestinal epithelial barrier more prone to sustaining an inflammatory insult. Indeed, by analyzing the effect of these bacterial candidates on colonic epithelial cells using a biochip-based human gut model, an increased expression of E-cadherin was found when cells were incubated with A. muciniphila, recapitulating the findings observed in vivo. We are currently dissecting in the gut-on-a-chip model how these candidates modulate epithelial barrier integrity to increase protection against an inflammatory event, to further validate these results in an *in vivo* susceptible model of colitis.

In parallel, we were focused in evaluating how dietary supplementation can contribute to the protection against the development of IBD or, at least, for a better resolution of the disease. It is known that the metabolic environment in the gut is altered during pathology. Therefore, we analyzed the colon metabolic profile of mice during colitis development, in order to identify possible altered nutrients that might be used as promising prophylactic or therapeutic

iх

approaches. We observed that mice treated with DSS display a twofold decrease in threonine levels in the intestine. Knowing this, threonine supplementation was evaluated as possible therapy by treating mice on the beginning of colitis development or when the inflammation was already established. We observed that threonine has a detrimental effect when administered during colitis onset, with mice evidencing a delayed remission of the disease when compared to control group or mice treated with threonine only during inflammation. This detrimental effect is associated with a reduction in the number of goblet cells per crypt and also in decreased amounts of IL-22 in the gut.

Overall, the findings presented in this thesis contribute to a better understanding of the different factors that can modulate protection and/or susceptibility to IBD development, providing novel insights to possible strategies of tackling IBD.

#### RESUMO

A doença inflamatória intestinal (DII) é um conjunto de distúrbios inflamatórios do trato gastrointestinal que engloba a doença de Crohn e a colite ulcerosa. Embora a etiologia desta doença ainda não seja clara, a patogénese da DII é uma condição mediada por respostas imunes, com uma forte predisposição genética, desencadeada por fatores ambientais que afetam a barreira da mucosa e o equilíbrio do microbiota intestinal. Este trabalho tem como objetivos a identificação de espécies do microbiota que possam influenciar a suscetibilidade ou proteção contra o desenvolvimento de colite e de que forma é que a modulação de nutrientes presentes na dieta afeta o decurso da doença.

Ao analisar o perfil de colite induzida por dextrano sulfato de sódio (DSS) em murganhos C57BL/6 geneticamente semelhantes e alojados em diferentes biotérios, observamos por acaso que um dos grupos de animais apresentava uma elevada proteção contra o desenvolvimento da doença. Os dois grupos de murganhos apresentam perfis metabólicos de microbiota distintos, agrupando-se isoladamente na análise de dados multivariada. Estes perfis podem estar na base do fenótipo de proteção, visto que o transplante de microbiota fecal (FMT) de animais resistentes para suscetíveis foi capaz de reverter a suscetibilidade à colite. Através de uma análise de metagenómica, identificamos que as espécies Akkermansia muciniphila e Parabacteroides distasonis encontram-se significativamente enriquecidas em murganhos resistentes ou em animais suscetíveis após FMT proveniente de murganhos resistentes. Estes animais também apresentaram níveis significativamente elevados de IL-10, IL-17 e IL-22, bem como um aumento na expressão de genes que codificam as proteínas claudinas e mucinas, em condições de homeostasia quando comparados ao grupo suscetível, o que sugere que o fenótipo protetor está associado à existência de uma barreira epitelial intestinal mais propensa a tolerar um insulto inflamatório. Aliás, através da análise das bactérias candidatas em células epiteliais do cólon usando um modelo de intestino humano em formato biochip, foi detetada uma maior expressão de E-caderina nas células incubadas com A. muciniphila, recapitulando as observações feitas in vivo. Neste momento estamos a explorar no modelo "gut-on-a-chip" de que forma esses candidatos modulam a integridade da barreira epitelial para aumentar a proteção contra um evento inflamatório, para validar posteriormente esses resultados num modelo *in vivo* de suscetibilidade à colite.

Em paralelo avaliamos de que forma a suplementação na dieta contribui para a proteção contra o desenvolvimento de DII ou, pelo menos, para uma melhor resolução da doença. O ambiente metabólico no intestino é alterado durante a patologia. Como tal, analisamos o perfil metabólico do cólon de murganhos durante o desenvolvimento de colite, com vista a identificar possíveis nutrientes alterados que possam ser utilizados em estratégias de profilaxia ou terapia. Murganhos tratados com DSS exibiram uma diminuição de duas vezes nos níveis de treonina no intestino. Como tal, a suplementação com treonina foi avaliada como possível terapia, sendo administrado este nutriente a murganhos no início do desenvolvimento de colite ou quando a inflamação já estava estabelecida. Descobrimos que a treonina tem um efeito prejudicial quando administrada durante o início da colite, com os animais a evidenciar uma recuperação mais lenta da doença quando comparados com o grupo controlo ou com murganhos que receberam treonina apenas durante a inflamação. Simultaneamente a este efeito prejudicial, encontrou-se uma redução no número de células caliciformes por cripta intestinal e níveis mais baixos de IL-22 no intestino.

Em conclusão, os resultados apresentados nesta tese contribuem para uma melhor compreensão dos diferentes fatores que podem modular a proteção e/ou suscetibilidade ao desenvolvimento de DII, dando novas perspetivas sobre as possíveis estratégias para combater esta doença.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acknowledgments	vii
Abstract	ix
Resumo	xi
Table of contents	xiii
List of figures	XV
List of tables	xv
List of abbreviations	xvi

CHAPTER I – General Introduction	1
1. Inflammatory bowel disease	3
1.1. Prevalence and incidence of IBD	3
1.2. Etiology of IBD	5
1.3. Symptoms and diagnosis	6
1.4. Current treatments and novel therapies for IBD patients	7
2. The microbiome and mucosal immunity	10
2.1. The intestinal environment	10
2.2. Intestinal epithelial barrier-mediated homeostasis	12
2.3. Recognition of microbes by the host	14
2.4. Regulation of mucosal homeostasis by immune cells	16
2.4.1. Innate immunity	17
2.4.1.1. Myeloid cells	17
2.4.1.2. Innate lymphoid cells	19
2.4.2. Adaptive immunity	21
2.4.2.1. T cells	21
2.4.2.2. B cells	21
2.5. The crosstalk between gut microbiota, mucosal immunity and the epithelial barrier.	23
2.6. Genetic associations in IBD	25
3. Experimental models of IBD	26
3.1. Animal models of the disease	26
3.1.1. Chemical models	26
3.1.1.1. Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis	26

3.1.1.2. Trinitrobenzene Sulfonic Acid (TNBS)-induced colitis	27
3.1.2. Adoptive transfer colitis	27
3.1.3. Genetic models	28
3.1.3.1. IL-10-deficient mice	28
3.1.3.2. NOD2-deficient mice	28
3.1.3.3. MUC2-deficient mice	28
3.2. Alternative models: gut-on-a-chip platforms	29
4. Context and aims of the thesis	31
5. References	32

CHAPTER	II	_	Akkermansia	and	Parabacteroides	species	enrichment	among	the	colonic
microbiota	as	soc	iates with prot	ection	against colitis					57

CHAPTER III – L-Threonine supplementation during colitis onset delays disease recovery...... 101

CHAPTER IV – General Discussion	115
1. Microbiota-mediated regulation of intestinal homeostasis	
2. Probiotics and prebiotics as adjuvants for IBD	124
3. Future perspectives in IBD	127
4. References	129

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I.1. Worldwide prevalence of Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) between 1990
and 2016
Figure I.2. Worldwide incidence of Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) between 1990 and
2016
Figure I.3. Gut microbiome dynamics throughout human development11
Figure II.1. Mice from different animal facilities display distinct susceptibility to colitis development 72
Figure II.2. Resistant mice have increased expression of genes involved in epithelial barrier function
Figure II.3. Resistant mice present decreased frequency of myeloid and B cell populations in
homeostatic conditions
Figure II.4. Susceptible and resistant mice have a distinct cytokine profile and dynamic of Th17/ILC3
cells in the gut during homeostasis
Figure II.5. The resistant phenotype lost in co-housing experiments points for a recessive nature of
protective microbiome
Figure II.6. Fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from resistant to susceptible mice is sufficient to confer
protection against colitis induction
Figure II.7. Fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from resistant to susceptible mice is able to avoid
relapse in chronic colitis
Figure II.8. Metagenomic characterization of resistant and susceptible mice revealed a distinct
microbiota composition
Figure II.9. Akkermansia muciniphila and Parabacteroides distasonis are significantly associated with
a protective phenotype against colitis
Figure II.10. Resistant mice displayed a specific metabolic profile
Figure II.11. The gut-on-a-chip model as a powerful tool to study the role of bacterial microbiota
candidates in intestinal homeostasis and disease91

## LIST OF TABLES

Table II.1. Disease activity index (DAI) scores	63
Table II.2. Parameters for histological analysis of colitis severity	64
Table II.3. List of primers used for PCR	65

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5-ASAs	5-Aminosalicylates
AB	Alcian blue
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AOM	Azoxymethane
APC	Allophycocyanin
ATG16L1	Autophagy-related protein 16-1
BCA	Bicinchoninic Acid
BDL	Below Detection Level
BHI	Brain Heart Infusion
BIR	Baculovirus Inhibitor of apoptosis protein Repeat
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
BV	Brilliant Violet
CARD	Caspase Activation and Recruitment Domain
CCR2	C-C chemokine receptor type 2
CD	Crohn's Disease
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CDH	Cadherin
cDNA	complementary Deoxyribonucleic acid
CFU	Colony-Forming Units
CLDN	Claudin
СоА	Coenzyme A
CX3CR1	CX3C chemokine Receptor 1
DAI	Disease Activity Index
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DC	Dendritic Cell
DII	Doença Inflamatória Intestinal
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSS	Dextran Sulfate Sodium

ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FDR	False Discovery Rate
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
Flt3L	FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand
FMT	Fecal Microbiota Transplant
FOXP3	Forkhead box P3
FSC	Forward Scatter
GATA3	GATA-binding protein 3
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
GPR43	G-Protein coupled Receptor 43
GWAS	Genome-Wide Association Studies
HBSS	Hank's Balanced Salt Solution
HCEC	Human Colonic Epithelial Cells
HEPES	2-[4-(2-hydroxyethyl)piperazin-1-yl]ethanesulfonic acid
HIF	Hypoxia-Inducible Factor
HUVECs	Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
IFN	Interferon
lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
ILC	Innate Lymphoid Cells
IRF3	Interferon-Regulatory Factor 3
IRGM	Immunity-related GTPase family M protein
kDa	kilodalton
KLF4	Krüppel-like Factor 4
ko	knockout
LPL	Lamina Propria Leukocyte
LRR	Leucine-Rich Repeat
LTi	Lymphoid Tissue-inducer

МАРК	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase
M-CSF	Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
МНС	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MLCK	Myosin Light Chain Kinase
MMPs	Matrix MetalloProteinases
moMØ	monocyte-derived Macrophages
MUC	Mucin
MyD88	Myeloid Differentiation primary response 88
NACHT	NAIP, CIITA, HET-E and TP1
NAIP	Baculoviral IAP repeat-containing protein 1
ND	Not Detected
NF-кB	Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NK	Natural Killer
NLRP	NOD-like Receptor family Pyrin domain
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
NOD	Nucleotide Oligomerization Domain
NS	Not Significant
OCLD	Occludin
OD	Optical Density
ΟΤυ	Operational Taxonomical Unit
PAS	Periodic Acid-Schiff
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline
PCoA	Principal Coordinate Analysis
PE	Phycoerythrin
PE-Cy7	Phycoerythrin-Cyanine 7
PerCP-Cy5.5	Peridinin Chlorophyll Protein Complex-Cyanine 5.5
PET	Polyethylene terephthalate
PLS-DA	Partial least squares Discriminant Analysis
PMA	Phorbol Myristate Acetate
PRRs	Pattern Recognition Receptors
PYD	Pyrin Domain
qRT-PCR	quantitative Real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction

RAG1	Recombination Activating Gene 1
RELMβ	Resistin-like Molecule Beta
RICK	Receptor-interacting serine/threonine Kinase
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROR	Retinoic acid-related Orphan Receptor
Rpm	revolutions per minute
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
rRNA	ribosomal Ribonucleic acid
SCFA	Short-Chain Fatty Acid
SCID	Severe Combined Immunodeficiency
SIMCA	Soft Independent Modelling of Class Analogies
SPF	Specific-Pathogen-Free
SSC	Side Scatter
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
Tbet	T-box transcription factor
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor beta
Th	T helper
TIR	Toll/Interleukin-1 Receptor
TLRs	Toll-like Receptors
TNBS	Trinitrobenzene Sulfonic Acid
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha
Treg	regulatory T
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing Interferon- $eta$
Ubq	Ubiquitin
UC	Ulcerative Colitis
<b>ZO</b>	Zonula Occludens

CHAPTER I

# **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### **1. INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE**

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a complex set of chronic relapsing inflammatory disorders that affect the gastrointestinal tract. It comprises two main clinical forms: ulcerative colitis (UC), in which the mucosal inflammation is circumscribed to the colon; and Crohn's disease (CD), in which transmural inflammation may occur throughout the gastrointestinal tract. IBD usually emerges in the second and third decade of life, with a significant percentage of the patients progressing to a relapsing chronic disease [1]. Although the precise etiology of this disease remains unclear, both forms of IBD seem to result from an inappropriate inflammatory response triggered by intestinal microbes in genetically susceptible individuals [1-3]. IBD has an extensive impact in patients' quality of life due to the early onset, the subsequent morbidity due to the fluctuations of the disease and the absence of an efficient therapy.

#### **1.1. Prevalence and incidence of IBD**

Traditionally considered a disease of western countries, the epidemiology of IBD has been changing around the world during the last decades. With the rise of newly industrialized countries in Asia, Africa and South America, IBD became a global disease, affecting mainly young adults and being associated to the adoption of a more westernized lifestyle [4].

The prevalence of IBD finds its higher values in developed areas such as North America, Europe (especially northern and western countries), Australia and New Zealand, with almost 200 to 300 cases per 100 000 people for CD, and 300 to 500 cases per 100 000 for UC (Figure I.1) [4]. In these countries, IBD is related to higher rates of morbidity and mortality, as well as a significant economic burden for health care systems. An estimated 2.5 to 3 million individuals are affected with IBD in Europe, having a direct cost of 4.6 to 5.6 billion euros per year [5].

While in developing countries the prevalence of IBD is significantly lower when compared to developed ones, the incidence of the disease, i.e. the rate of new or newly diagnosed cases, has rapidly risen in the last three decades, which anticipates a global increase in the number of IBD patients (Figure I.2; [4]). Several studies have pointed out alterations in the geographical distribution of UC, with an increase in the number of reported cases in Southeast Asia and Latin America [6, 7].



Figure I.1. Worldwide prevalence of Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) between 1990 and 2016. Data from Ng *et al.* [4].

Despite having a common ground, UC and CD present a distinct distribution among men and women. While data regarding gender prevalence of UC are not fully conclusive, with some studies stating that UC is more prevalent in men, while others mentioning no major differences in both genders, it is estimated that CD occurs more frequently in females [6, 8]. The different access to health care and the presence of risk factors, genetic or environmental, may explain in some extent the divergent incidence of IBD among different populations [9]. Epidemiological studies focused on south Asian immigrants in the United Kingdom have shown that this population display a similar incidence rate of UC than the local one, when in their countries of origin the disease prevalence in considerably lower, thus supporting the argument that environmental factors can be paramount for the development of the disease [10]. Hence, the exacerbated inflammation that is on the basis of IBD is defined by a combination of genetic and environmental factors that subsequently impact the immune response.



Figure I.2. Worldwide incidence of Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) between 1990 and 2016. Data from Ng *et al.* [4].

#### 1.2. Etiology of IBD

The diversity of clinical presentations and response to treatments reinforces the idea that IBD is not a single disease, but a spectrum of inflammatory disorders from the gastrointestinal tract whose etiology is not well defined. Several genetic associations have already been described within CD and UC, namely in genetic regions containing nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 2 (*NOD2*) and autophagy genes such as autophagy-related protein 16-1 (*ATG16L1*) (that has been associated with CD but not, so far, to UC), pointing towards a common genetic basis in

both disorders; notwithstanding, the development of IBD is mostly driven by immune mechanisms [2, 11, 12]. In addition, environmental factors such as diet and lifestyle can be involved in the proneness to intestinal inflammatory diseases. For instance, smoking habits affects inversely these two disorders, since smokers are at increased risk for CD, as well as more severe manifestations of the pathology, whereas in UC this behavior is associated to protection [2, 6]. The dissimilarity between UC and CD, together with the divergent efficacy of treatment between patients (it is known that up to one-third of the CD patients undergoing anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) treatments do not respond properly to therapy [13]), evidences the need of targeted and personalized therapies in order to maximize the benefits for the patients. Overall, this spectrum of disorders needs to be deeply characterized, aiming for the development of new therapeutic adjuncts to effectively tackle IBD.

#### 1.3. Symptoms and diagnosis

The symptoms associated to IBD are variable according to the severity of the disease, as well as the localization of the inflammation. Systemic symptoms, such as weight loss and fever, are often found in CD patients and also in severe cases of UC [14, 15]. Although in CD any portion of the gastrointestinal tract can be affected, the presence of inflammation in the ileum is more frequent. This disorder can be patchy and segmental with transmural inflammation, contrary to what is observed in UC [1]. CD can be classified according to the extensiveness of the disease in five categories. Ileocolitis is the most prevalent form of CD and affects the terminal part of the small intestine (ileum) and the colon, whose symptoms are mainly diarrhea and cramping, along with significant weight loss; ileitis, in which only the ileum is affected and has similar manifestations as ileocolitis; jejunoileitis is characterized by inflammation in upper half of the small intestine, leading to intense abdominal pain, fistula formation and diarrhea; gastroduodenal CD affects both the stomach and the beginning of the small intestine (duodenum) and leads to loss of appetite, nausea, vomiting and weight loss; and Crohn's (granulomatous) colitis, in which only the colon is affected, presenting a UC-like clinical phenotype which includes diarrhea, rectal bleeding and can frequently lead to the formation of fistulas and ulcers in the anus [16, 17].

The most common symptom in UC patients in the presence of blood in the stool, which is reported to occur in more than 95% of the cases of active disease [14]. The presence of superficial and diffuse lesions is very common, with deep ulceration only observed in severe pathology [1, 6, 18]. The colon and the rectum are affected by the inflammation, which can

progress in a continuous retrograde way along the colon. Based on the affected area of the colon, UC can be classified in four distinct subcategories: ulcerative proctitis, in which inflammation in limited to the rectum – and for this reason it tends to be a milder form of UC; proctosigmoiditis, in which both the rectum and the sigmoid colon (lower segment of colon above the rectum) and it is characterized by bloody diarrhea, tenesmus and moderate pain; left-sided colitis, that encompasses inflammation from the rectum to the splenic flexure, and in which is often the occurrence of diarrhea, severe pain on the left side of the abdomen, bleeding and weight loss; and pan-ulcerative colitis, which affects the entire colon and common manifestations include diarrhea, bleeding, severe abdominal pain, extensive weight loss and cramps [19, 20]. Moreover, one-third of UC patients develop extraintestinal manifestations of colitis, such as arthritis, primary sclerosing cholangitis, uveitis and psoriasis [21, 22].

#### **1.4.** Current treatments and novel therapies for IBD patients

Although there is no medical cure for IBD, several therapies have been proven to effectively contribute for the control of the disease in most of the cases, helping the induction and maintenance of remission and subsequently improving the patients' quality of life. Aminosalicylates, corticosteroids and immunomodulatory agents are frequently prescribed to IBD patients as first-line of treatment, with the anti-TNF- $\alpha$  therapy often used as a frequent choice for IBD management [23-26].

5-Aminosalicylates (5-ASAs), such as mesalazine and sulfasalazine, are commonly used in therapy for patients with UC, but have shown to be ineffective to resolve the clinical symptoms and tissue inflammation in CD [27]. The efficacy of these compounds in UC pathology is associated with a reduction of prostaglandin synthesis via inhibition of cyclooxygenase, blockade of neutrophil chemotaxis, suppression of proinflammatory cytokines and impairment of nuclear factor-κB activation (NF-κB) in immune cells [28]. 5-ASAs are able to induce and maintain UC remission and also to decrease the risk of developing colitis-associated cancer in UC patients [29].

Corticosteroids, such as budesonide and prednisone, have also a broad application in the induction of remission in patients with UC or CD, despite the lack of efficiency in maintaining the disease in this state [16, 18]. Other immunosuppressive drugs, such as azathioprine, methotrexate and 6-mercaptopurine, are included as IBD therapy [30-32]. Nevertheless, these therapeutic adjuncts are usually combined with other therapies, such as anti-TNF- $\alpha$ .

Anti-TNF- $\alpha$  therapy was approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in CD in 1998 and for UC in 2005 [23, 25]. The emergence of this type of therapy was mainly due to the fact that a significant number of IBD patients were intolerant or did not respond properly to the classic agents previously discussed. Infliximab, adalimumab, and certolizumab pegol, as well as other biosimilars, are some of the anti-TNF agents used in the clinic to induce and maintain remission of the disease in both CD and UC patients [16]. Some of the anti-TNF agents, such as infliximab, are administered in combination with immunosuppressive agents, given that clinical trials demonstrated their capacity to promote clinical remission when compared to monotherapy in both CD and UC [31, 33]. The intravenously administration of infliximab is also used for several other inflammatory conditions such as psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis [34, 35]. TNF- $\alpha$  is produced by a myriad of immune and non-immune cells in the gut, such as macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), T lymphocytes and fibroblasts [36], and it has pleiotropic effects in the intestine, such as regulation of T cell apoptosis, activation of macrophages to the production of proinflammatory cytokines and regulation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) by fibroblasts in the resolution of tissue damage [37, 38]. Thus, by inhibiting the binding of TNF- $\alpha$  to its receptor, it is possible to overturn intestinal inflammation through several pathways.

Patients who develop complications, such as abscesses or malignancy, or do not respond properly to treatment, need to undergo surgery in order to oppose the disease. Moreover, responsiveness to medical therapy, fulminant colitis, perforation of the colon, massive bleeding, dysplasia-associated lesions and cancer are other events that can lead to surgical intervention, which normally consists in the removal of the affected area [18]. It is estimated that 5 to 20% of the patients with UC face colectomy [39-41]. Although it can be effective in some UC cases, it is not curative for CD patients. Nevertheless, complications can derive from the process, such as small intestine obstruction, fistulas and persistent pain, which strikingly impacts quality of life and leads to severe morbidity [42, 43].

The fact that there are still patients who do not respond to the currently available therapeutic approaches, or in whom the side effects derived from the therapy do not enable the treatment to continue, emphasizes the need of developing new drugs and personalized strategies for IBD management. Vedolizumab is one of the most recent options available in the market as alternative drug to treat IBD. Approved for treatment of both moderate-to-severe cases of CD and UC in May 2014 (both by the US FDA and the European Commission), vedolizumab is a  $\alpha 4\beta$ 7-

integrin-specific antibody that has shown efficacy in inducing and maintaining remission in CD and UC [27, 44]. It acts by selectively block intestinal lymphocyte trafficking, without impacting the traffic to the central nervous system, thus suppressing inflammation [45]. Other drugs targeting proinflammatory cytokines were tested, such as anti-interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  (fontolizumab) and anti-interleukin (IL)-17A (secukinumab), without substantial efficacy in disease resolution [27, 46]. Ustekinumab, a monoclonal antibody to the p40 subunit of IL-12 and IL-23, was recently approved as therapy for CD in Europe and the USA [47].

The manipulation of intestinal microbiota by probiotic administration has also been explored as possible therapy to IBD. Studies focused on the effects of colonization with the nonpathogenic Gram-negative bacteria *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917 have demonstrated that this strain is able to impact intestinal barrier function and leads to the production of anti-inflammatory molecules. This strain stimulates  $\beta$ -defensin production by intestinal epithelial cells and enhances tight junction formation by the upregulation of zonula occludens proteins [48, 49]. Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) has also been pointed out as a possible strategy to combat IBD and even other pathologies associated with intestinal dysbiosis. Several studies have shown the efficacy of this method in the treatment of *Clostridium difficile* infection, suggesting a potential use of FMT to promote the remission of UC in patients [50-54]. More recently, it was described the first case series of immune-checkpoint inhibitors-associated colitis that were successfully treated by FMT from healthy donors [55]. Nevertheless, a deeper comprehension regarding the different factors that contribute to the development of the disease and the identification of specific biomarkers that facilitate a differential diagnosis is essential to develop more adequate and personalized therapies to tackle IBD.

#### 2. THE MICROBIOME AND MUCOSAL IMMUNITY

#### 2.1. The intestinal environment

The human intestine is a complex ecosystem that harbors a diverse and vastly evolved microbial community composed by several distinct species. It is estimated that the gut contains approximately 100 trillion microbial organisms, such as fungi, archaea, virus and mostly bacteria, which are collectively known as the gut microbiota. These symbiotic microbial species have coevolved with the host, establishing mutualistic relationships and influencing the evolutionary fitness of the host through their genome and proteome and as well as by the production of metabolites, constituting altogether the intestinal microbiome [56-58].

The composition and diversity of the gut microbiota within the host varies throughout life, with several bacterial species occupying specific niches or being related with a particular growth phase of the individual (Figure I.3) [59]. The first event shaping the composition of the gut microbiota occurs during birth, with the transmission of several species from the mother to the neonate. Indeed, several studies have shown that the pioneer microbial heritage from the mother to the neonate depends on if it is a vaginal or a caesarian-section delivery [60-62]. Even though the species acquired from the first contact are dissimilar, the microbial composition converges over the first years of life, which demonstrates that the gut microbiota evolves throughout life to a state of homeostasis in which the resident species are massively adapted for survival in such competitive environment [63].

The gut microbiota is mainly composed by species of the Bacteroidetes phylum during childhood, but in adult life there is a shift between the Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes species, with the latter being the most represented phylum [59]. In adults, approximately 99.9% of the cultivatable bacterial populations are obligate anaerobes, with the genera *Bacteroides, Clostridium, Lactobacillus, Fusobacterium, Bifidobacterium,* among others, being highly abundant. The number and diversity of species also increases from the small intestine to the colon [58]. These microbial populations play beneficial roles in maintaining the regular physiology and homeostasis of the host, for example, by the defense against opportunistic pathogens, the supply of essential nutrients, the digestion of otherwise indigestible compounds such as plant polysaccharides, and by their role in the development and regulation of the immune system [58, 64, 65].



Figure I.3. Gut microbiome dynamics throughout human development. Maternal microbiota is inherited by the newborn. Several factors, such as nutrition and genetics, influence the development of a healthy intestine and alterations in the early life can predispose for disease development in the future. Gut microbiota composition shifts from more abundance of Bacteroidetes to increased Firmicutes species throughout life. The gut microbiota modulates the host physiology and impairments in its composition may lead to several pathologies such as IBD, cancer and obesity. From Nicholson *et al.* [59].

Host genetics and environmental factors, such as nutritional habits, lifestyle, the occurrence of diseases and antibiotic use, are able to impact the composition of microbial communities throughout life, by influencing the diversity and functioning of the gut microbiota and impacting human health [66-68]. In fact, dysbiosis, i.e., the imbalance within the microbial communities, is associated with the development of several diseases, namely IBD [69], cancer [70], diabetes [71], allergy [72] and obesity [73]. Hence, the understanding on how intestinal bacteria can shape the host immune system is decisive in order to elucidate the etiology of inflammatory diseases and subsequently tailor strategies for prevention and treatment.

The pathogenesis of IBD has been defined as an immune-mediated condition with a strong genetic predisposition, generated by environmental factors affecting the mucosal barrier and the balance of the gut microbiota. Once the intestinal epithelial and mucosal barriers are compromised, bacteria from the luminal side are able to reach the lamina propria, breaking the tolerance of immune cells to intestinal microbes and exerting an activation of the immune cells by the direct contact with the bacterial products. This ultimately can lead to the elimination of the infiltrating bacteria, or to an inappropriate immune response that can culminate in tissue damage, which will maintain the activation of immune cells and lead to the development of IBD [36].

#### 2.2. Intestinal epithelial barrier-mediated homeostasis

The epithelial barrier of the intestine represents the largest interface between the internal organs and the environment. This barrier allows the free exchange of water, electrolytes and nutrients between the intestinal lumen and the underlying tissues while simultaneously enclosing the microbial populations and antigens present in the lumen milieu [74, 75]. The proper integration of the diverse internal and external stimuli by the epithelial barrier is essential to preserve intestinal homeostasis.

The central component of the intestinal epithelial barrier is the epithelial cell layer, which corresponds to the luminal surface of the small intestine and colon. This barrier is composed by a single layer of columnar intestinal epithelial cells responsible for the maintenance of a healthy intestinal environment. The epithelial barrier needs to accurately allow a selective permeability by transepithelial/transcellular and paracellular pathways. The first route is mainly associated with the transport of solutes through the epithelial cells and controlled by selective transporters for electrolytes, short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), sugars and amino acids. On the other hand, paracellular permeability is involved in the transport through the epithelial intercellular space and is coordinated by intercellular complexes localized in the apical-lateral membrane junction [75, 76].

A proper barrier function is mostly dependent on the regulation of the paracellular transport. This is mediated by a series of intercellular junctions, such as tight and adherens junctions as well as desmosomes [77]. While adherens junctions and desmosomes are primarily involved the adhesive forces necessary for cell-cell communication via cadherin interaction, tight junctions are the main players for paracellular permeability [74]. The tight junction network displays both size and charge selectivity routes of paracellular efflux named pore and leak pathways. The former is a high-capacity, size-selective and charge-selective route that is mostly determined by the expression of claudins, which are transmembrane tight junction proteins that

12

are able to form pores to regulate ion selectivity. Oppositely, the leak pathway is a low-capacity route with more limited selectivity that is mainly regulated by zonula occludens (ZO)-1, occludin and myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) [78].

Claudins are 20- to 27-kD integral membrane proteins containing four hydrophobic transmembrane domains, two extracellular loops, and N- and C-terminal cytoplasmic domains, and they display specific tissue and cellular expression patterns [75]. Occludin is a tetraspanning integral membrane protein with two extracellular loops, a short cytoplasmic N-terminus and a long cytoplasmic C-terminus [79, 80]. These proteins are expressed mostly at tight junctions in epithelial and endothelial cells, but also in other cell types such as neurons and DCs, and they participate in the regulation of paracellular permeability [81, 82]. These proteins play a key role in the regulation of epithelial cell motility and several studies have described impaired expression of claudin-3, -5 and -8 and occludin in patients with CD [83], as well as down-regulation of claudin-1 and -4 and increased expression of claudin-2 in UC patients [84].

Upon epithelial injury, tight junctions are degraded and the transport occurs by the unrestricted pathway, which is high-capacity and non-selective, allowing bacteria and microbial antigens cross the barrier and subsequently leading to an inflammatory event [85]. This pathway was demonstrated to be predominant in dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice and also in patients with necrotizing enterocolitis [86]. The relevance of the intestinal epithelial barrier for IBD predisposition is supported by the observation of abnormal intestinal permeability and, as previously mentioned, alterations in the expression of tight junction proteins in IBD patients. In fact, intestinal permeability was addressed as a prognosis marker due to its increase during CD remission [87-89].

Additionally to columnar epithelial cells, the intestinal barrier is also composed by the presence of specialized cells along the crypt villi. Goblet cells are an essential partner in gut homeostasis, since they are responsible for the production and secretion of mucin glycoproteins that constitutes the mucus layer, which prevents the direct contact of luminal microorganisms with the epithelial layer [3, 90]. Goblet cells are more abundant in the colon when compared to the small intestine, which is also proportional with the higher number of bacteria present in the colon. The mucus layer is constituted by inner and outer fractions of mucin 2, an *O*glycosylated protein [91]. The inner fraction is attached to epithelial cells and free from intestinal bacteria. The outer and loose mucus fraction harbors a large amount of microorganisms that can perform the proteolytic processing of polysaccharides of mucin as energy source. Thus, the absence of

dietary fibers, that are the main energy source of gut bacteria, may lead to an increased expansion of mucin-degrading species and increased processing and/or degradation of the mucus layer [91, 92]. Reports have shown that Resistin-like molecule-beta (RELM $\beta$ ), a specific protein of goblet cells, is induced upon bacterial colonization and that its transcription impairment decrease the severity of experimental DSS-induced colitis [93]. Moreover, experiments performed in MUC2-deficient mice, which lack the gene encoding for mucin 2 were shown to develop spontaneous colitis [94]. Consistent with these findings are also other observations that demonstrate that intestinal mucus is paramount for the suppression of colitis [95].

Paneth cells are also important components of the epithelial barrier due to the secretion of antimicrobial peptides [2]. These cells are mainly found in the small intestine being absent in the colon. The reduced amount of goblet cells in the small intestine when compared to the colon highlights the extremely important role of Paneth cells for the segregation of intestinal bacteria and epithelial cells. Antimicrobial peptides released by these cells are small, amino acid-rich cationic proteins that interact with the negatively charged microbial cell membrane and leads to membrane disruption. They can be classified into  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ - and  $\theta$ -defensins, in which  $\alpha$ -defensins are the most relevant to fight pathogenic bacteria [96]. Several studies have described that a decrease in  $\alpha$ -defensins produced by Paneth cells may be detrimental to intestinal balance and may contribute to the pathogenesis of terminal ileal CD in patients with mutations in the *NOD2* gene [97, 98]. Therefore, these findings support the central role of intestinal epithelial barrier in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis and that slight imbalances in its regulation may lead to the onset of intestinal inflammation.

#### 2.3. Recognition of microbes by the host

Intestinal epithelial cells act as a physical and chemical barrier between the lamina propria, which is highly inhabited by immune cells, and the lumen, where commensal microbes reside. When this barrier is compromised, immune cells encounter a plethora of microorganisms that become exposed [74]. This poses an enormous challenge to the immune system since it needs to be able to properly respond to pathogens without mounting an inflammatory response that may be detrimental to commensal populations and may lead to the development of spontaneous inflammation.
Intestinal epithelial cells express in their surface receptors for diverse chemokines and pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and NOD proteins. PPRs can be expressed by immune and non-immune cells in the intestinal mucosa, such as macrophages, DCs and epithelial cells [99]. TLRs are the first to detect the presence of pathogens, driving cellular responses through the secretion of several signaling molecules, such as MyD88 (pathway shared by all TLRs with the exception of TLR3) and TIR domain-containing adapter protein inducing IFN- $\beta$  (TRIF). This leads subsequently to the activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling, the transcription of NF- $\kappa$ B and also interferon-regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) and upregulation of genes encoding for proinflammatory cytokines [99, 100].

Several TLRs have a prominent role during pathogen infection. For instance, the activation of TLR2 and TLR4 is fundamental for the elimination of the pathogen during *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* serovar Typhimurium [101]. It was demonstrated that mice lacking TLR2, TLR4 or both receptors display increased bacterial burden in the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes upon infection when compared to wild-type mice [101, 102]. TLR2-deficient mice also evidenced alterations in barrier function and severe colitis when infected with *Citrobacter rodentium* or *Campylobacter jejuni* [103, 104]. Moreover, TLR2-mediated recognition of curli fibrils in the gut seems to contribute to protection, since the recognition of *Salmonella* spp. curli fibrils triggers inflammatory response and promotes epithelial barrier function, which demonstrates the relevance of TLR signaling both during pathogen infection and in the maintenance of mucosal integrity [105].

How it is possible for the immune system to discriminate between commensals and pathogens it still not clear, even more knowing that TLR ligands are present on both commensal and pathogenic microbes. This may be partly explained by the fact that cytosolic PRRs are not directly in contact with commensal bacteria and also because, in intact epithelium conditions, some cell membrane-bound PRRs are mostly expressed on the basolateral side of polarized intestinal epithelial cells and not on the apical side that is exposed to luminal antigens. In case of disruption of the epithelial barrier, by inflammation or pathogenic infection, it is allowed the binding to the basolateral TLRs and the initiation of the inflammatory response [106].

NOD-like receptors are divided in three main categories, based on their amino-terminal domain: the CARD-containing nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain proteins or NOD proteins, such as NOD1 and NOD2; the NACHT-, LRR- and PYD-domain-containing proteins, such

15

as NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain (NLRP) 3 and NLRP6; and BIR-containing proteins (or NAIPs) [107]. In the intestine, Paneth cells express NOD2 and epithelial cells express both NOD1 and NOD2. These receptors identify fragments of peptidoglycans, such as muramyl dipeptide, present in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, that is recognized by NOD2 [108, 109]. After ligand recognition, NOD1 and NOD2 interact with the receptor-interacting serine/threonine kinase (RICK), which in turn will lead to the activation of NF-κB [110].

These receptors have shown so far an important role during infection. For instance, NOD2 is known to take part on the immune response against *C. rodentium* in mice. In fact, it was shown that mice lacking NOD2 evidenced 10- to 100-fold more *C. rodentium* in the feces in comparison to wild-type upon infection [111]. NOD1 and NOD2 are also relevant to control infection with *Salmonella* spp. and *Shigella* spp., by interacting with RICK and activating MAPK and NF-κB pathways, and therefore triggering the inflammatory response [112, 113].

NLRP4 receptor also aids to restore intestinal homeostasis by contributing to the elimination of enteric pathogens and by protecting the host from intestinal carcinogenesis, since it is able to identify, among the epithelial layer, cells that have undergone harmful damage [114, 115]. NRLP6 is modulated by the levels of polyamines and amino acids that are present in the gut and it regulates host-microbe interactions by the production of inflammasome-mediated IL-18 and the downstream expression of antimicrobial peptides and also the secretion of mucus by goblet cells [116, 117]. Indeed, the absence of NLRP6 has a striking impact on the gut microbiota composition and function and in the increase susceptibility to enteric infections, which supports the idea that NRLP6 plays a key role in the regulation of microbiome in the gut [118, 119].

# 2.4. Regulation of mucosal homeostasis by immune cells

The intestinal lamina propria and epithelium harbor the largest population of immune cells in the entire body. The lamina propria is populated by several immune cells such as T cells, B cells, macrophages and DCs. These cell populations are players in a complex net of immune mechanisms that aim to maintain intestinal homeostasis, being prepared to respond to any harmful stimuli that may arise in the intestinal environment [120].

## 2.4.1. Innate immunity

# 2.4.1.1. Myeloid cells

Mononuclear phagocytes are innate immune cells involved in the uptake and presentation of antigens in the gut. Within this subset, intestinal macrophages are the most abundant population in the body and also the largest population of leukocytes in the intestine, which confers them the role of first line of defense to maintain intestinal homeostasis [121]. Most adult tissue macrophages are originated during embryonic development and not from circulating monocytes. However, several studies have established that body's barrier tissues, such as skin, lungs and intestine are continuously replenished by blood-derived monocytes that differentiate *in situ*. Circulating monocytes comprise multiple subsets, defined by their phenotype, morphology and transcriptional profiles, and can be distinguished by the expression of CD14 and CD16 in humans and Ly6C, C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2) and CX3C chemokine receptor 1 (CX3CR1) in mice [122]. Full monocyte maturation as well as the acquisition of a characteristic functional signature by gut mucosa macrophages is essential for the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis [123]. The majority of intestinal macrophages are located in the colon, which is directly associated with the amount of bacteria present in the gut [124].

Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes constitutively enter the intestinal mucosa and differentiate via a CX3CR1 intermediate stage into mature CX3CR1<sup>hi</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells that are localized in the vicinity of the epithelium. Here, they constitutively produce IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine that is crucial for the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis and for innate and adaptive response against intracellular pathogens. IL-10 is important not only to balance inflammation by blocking proinflammatory responses derived from TLR stimulation [125, 126], but also because this cytokine promotes the survival and function of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T (Treg) cells in the gut [127]. Intestinal macrophages also help to maintain the integrity of the gut epithelial barrier, having several other essential functions, including phagocytosis and degradation of microorganisms and dead tissue cells and the production of mediators that promote epithelial cell renewal [120, 128].

The monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation seems to be impaired when Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes respond to microenvironmental factors and commensal microbiota, becoming proinflammatory and therefore having a key role in the pathogenesis of IBD. Multiple factors may contribute to the functional and phenotypical characteristics acquired by monocytes during their differentiation process in the gut [121, 123]. The strongest evidences come from experimental animal models,

which have shown that mice with impaired IL-10 signaling or a monocyte/macrophage-specific deletion of IL-10 receptor present a disruption of the monocyte differentiation pattern observed in the steady state of wild-type mice, leading to spontaneous development of severe colitis [129, 130]. Similar disturbances were detected in the monocyte-to-macrophage populations of human gut mucosa during UC and CD [131], whose risk increases with impaired IL-10 production or polymorphisms in the *IL10* locus [132]. Therefore, the absence of IL-10 signaling is, in part, responsible for an inappropriate monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation, resulting in the impairment of mucosal homeostasis and development of inflammatory diseases.

Small intestine and colonic macrophages express major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and CX3CR1, and no major functional differences have been described for both macrophage groups. Hence, it seems that similar features must control the development and functions along the intestine [126, 133, 134]. Notably, intestinal macrophages are sedentary and do not migrate to the mesenteric lymph nodes, thus unlikely influencing the priming of naïve T cells. Nevertheless, they are able to interact with these cells, leading to secondary expansion of the newly arrived, primed T cells in the gut mucosa and subsequently contributing to the mounted immune response [128].

Distinguished from intestinal macrophages by the lack of CD64 and F4/80 expression, other prominent mononuclear phagocyte population in the intestine consists in DCs. DCs are the most effective antigen-presenting cells and a major link between innate and adaptive immune response. These cells present antigens to and activate T cells, decisively impacting the type of immune response [135]. Intestinal DCs derive from a FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3L)dependent precursor and develop into several distinct subsets, based on the expression of CD11b and CD103 (also known as integrin  $\alpha$ E): CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> DCs, CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs and CD103<sup>-</sup> DCs [136]. CD103-expressing DCs are particularly important in the maintenance of gut homeostasis since they are needed for the imprinting of gut homing phenotypic alterations on antigen-specific T cells and for the induction of tolerogenic immune responses in the intestine [137]. The role of CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs in the intestine is controversial, because they have a relevant role in Th17 cell differentiation and induction of immune responses, but also are associated with immune regulatory activities [138]. CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs are present in different amounts alongside the gut and in association with the presence of Th17 cells, which may indicate a putative role of this DC subset in the regulation of Th17 cell homeostasis [139]. This is supported by reports that described a reduction in Th17 cells after selective depletion of CD103 $^+$ CD11b $^+$ 

DCs in mice [140]. On the other hand, it is also known that CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs aid in the generation of Treg cells from naïve T cells, with CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> and CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> subsets apparently displaying a redundant role in the maintenance of Treg numbers [135, 141]. In turn, CD103- cell subset, although representing a minor DC population, can promote Th1 or Th17 cell responses and are described to contribute to enhanced colitis in mice [142, 143].

Although the exact mechanism by which intestinal DCs keep homeostasis in the gut are still unclear, growing evidence has demonstrated that DCs can interact with the gut flora and modulate itself in terms of immune regulatory function. For example, the secreted mucin 2 by goblet cells has the ability to imprint DCs with a more anti-inflammatory profile [144]. Moreover, classical DCs are described as a source of IL-23 required for type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3) activation, which are important producers of IL-22 and also by inhibiting commensal bacteria-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation [145].

#### 2.4.1.2. Innate lymphoid cells

Innate lymphoid cells (ILC) are a group of heterogeneous immune cells that are shown to be deeply involved in intestinal immune regulation and homeostasis [135]. ILC belong to the lymphoid lineage and are classified in three different populations according to their transcription factor expression and the production of signature cytokines: group 1, which include natural killer (NK) cells and type 1 ILC (ILC1) express T-box transcription factor Tbet and are IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  producers; group 2 consists in ILC2, that express GATA3 and produce mainly IL-5 and IL-13-, and group 3, that comprises Lymphoid Tissue-inducer (LTi), which are important during fetal development as they are an essential for secondary lymphoid organ formation [146], and ILC3, expressing retinoic acid-related orphan receptor (ROR)  $\gamma$ t and secrete IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-22 [147-149].

Due to the similarities in transcription factor expression and cytokine profile between ILC and CD4<sup>+</sup> Th1, Th2 and Th17, it has been suggested that ILC subsets may correspond to an innate counterpart of T cell populations [150]. Indeed, the arise of studies focused on ILC ontogeny has revealed that according with their developmental courses and function, a system with five subsets of ILC – NK cells, ILC1, ILC2, ILC3 and LTi cells – would be more accurate and therefore should be implemented [148].

Despite all ILC being involved in gut homeostasis, ILC3 embody a relevant role since they are highly responsive to extracellular microbial stimulation, such as bacteria and fungi [148]. This

ILC subset is the most abundant in mucosal tissues, representing the majority of ILC in the ileum and in the colon [151, 152]. The major function of ILC3 in the gut is to maintain epithelial barrier integrity in such a challenging environment [153]. ILC3 sense IL-23 and IL-1eta in the gut and subsequently produce the effector cytokines IL-17, IL-22 and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF). They can also produce these cytokines after sensing microbiota through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor [154]. IL-22 presents a pivotal role in homeostatic control in the gut and is produced by Th17, Th22 and ILC3 cells. The latter are the main source of IL-22 in the intestine, placing themselves as crucial players in the protection and recovery of DSSinduced colitis and the related epithelial injury, since it is known that IL-22 is essential to maintain homeostasis by directly promoting epithelial cell protection, for instance, through the expression of antimicrobial peptides [155, 156]. ILC3-derived IL-22 can also control translocation of bacteria to the lamina propria. In fact, mice lacking ILC3 or IL-22 display impairments in the epithelial barrier and are unable to restrain commensal bacterial in the lumen. IL-22 secreted by ILC3 can be protective in mice against systemic colonization of pathogenic bacteria following *Clostridium difficile* infection and infection-induced injury of the epithelium [157]. ILC3 can also act as antigen-presenting cells due to the expression of MHCII. In fact, the deletion of MHCII in RORyt<sup>+</sup> ILC3 induces commensal bacteria-dependent intestinal inflammation, which suggests that ILC3 mediate intestinal CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses to commensal bacteria in a MHCII-dependent manner [158].

Research in IBD has pointed alterations in adaptive T cell responses as the main focus for the understanding of the immunopathology. Nonetheless, current findings have shown that ILC are capable to produce the same effector cytokines as CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, which indicates that despite being important players in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis, these cell populations may also contribute to intestinal inflammation. Several associations were found between ILC dysfunction and IBD cases, mostly in CD. For instance, increased amounts of ILC2 have been detected in intestinal samples from CD patients, while the same was not observed in UC cases [159]. ILC3 can also contribute to intestinal inflammation through the production of GM-CSF, which promotes the recruitment of myeloid cells [160]. Anyway, a decreased frequency of ILC3 during commensal dysbiosis and, subsequently, lower amounts of IL-22 has been associated with the development of Th17-dependent colitis, which reinforces not only the importance of ILC3 in keeping gut homeostasis, but also the role of commensal microbes in suppressing pathogenic Th17 responses to commensal antigens [154].

## 2.4.2. Adaptive immunity

## 2.4.2.1. T cells

Intestinal T cells are present in a ratio of approximately 2/1 of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells/CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that derive from conventional T cells primed in secondary lymphoid organs [120]. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells of the lamina propria have a miscellaneous repertoire, from IL2<sup>+</sup>, IFN- $\gamma^+$  and IL-17<sup>+</sup> populations. IL-10producing Treg cells, that express FOXP3, are also found in the gut. Along with Treg cells, the other subgroups of Th cells – Th1, Th2 and Th17 that, as it was previously described, share the same transcription factors of ILC1, ILC2 and ILC3, respectively – secrete specific cytokines and the regulation of these populations needs to be fine-tuned to maintain homeostasis [161-163]. The effector groups are essential to proper gut defense, such as pathogen infection or undue entry of luminal microbiota, but overactivation of these populations may generate intestinal inflammation and may be on the basis of IBD [164]. Th17 cells secrete IL-17, IL-22 and IFN- $\gamma$ cytokines that when uncontrolled may lead to the development of an inflammatory response, due to the recruitment of neutrophils and upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , and eventually to the onset of colitis [165]. Therefore, IL-10-producing Treg cells control the proliferation of Th17 cells through RORyt inhibition by FOXP3. Besides, Treg cells can also inhibit the proliferation and function of Th1 and Th2 subsets through the secretion of IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ , which places them as major regulators of the inflammatory state of the intestinal mucosa [166].

Several reports state that CD and UC differ in terms of the adaptive immune response that is mounted during disease. Although CD and UC slightly differ in the cytokine profile, as CD seems to be mediated by IL-12, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , while in UC there is also the contribution of IL-13, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) studies have confirmed that IL-23-driven Th17 responses have a key role in both UC and CD, with polymorphic variants associated to Th17 cell function being described in patients having one or other pathology [84, 167, 168].

# 2.4.2.2. B cells

B cells are mostly recognized in the inflammatory process by their ability to produce antibodies, despite being also able to release cytokines and act as secondary antigen-presenting cells [135]. The role of B cells in IBD is not as vastly explored as in the case of T cells, but they have also

been shown to contribute for the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. B cells are able to produce immunoglobulin (Ig) A antibodies, which are capable to promote protection without eliciting an inflammatory response [169]. IgA is the main Ig isotype in the mucosal sites and thus act as the first immunological barrier in the body [170].

There are two subcategories of IgA in humans, IgA1 and IgA2, which vary in their distribution in the body. IgA1 is more predominant in the serum, while IgA2 have a more relevant role in mucosal secretions. Both IgA1 and IgA2 can also be presented as secretory IgA, a polymeric form which is known to provide protection of mucosal membranes by the neutralization of viruses or toxins and by its antibacterial activity [171]. The production of IgA is mostly dependent on the presence of the microbiota. Most plasma cells in duodenum and jejunum produce IgA1, while the prevalence of IgA2-producing cells increased from the small intestine to the colon [172]. IgA2 seems to be more adapted to bacteria-enriched environments and therefore is more abundant in the colon, since it was demonstrated that bacterial overgrowth in the small intestine can shift the IgA1 dominance to higher amounts of IgA2 [120].

The presence of circulating antimicrobial antibodies, such as anti-flagellin antibodies, where found in IBD patients but not in healthy controls, pinpointing that B cell reactivity occurs during disease [173]. For instance, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies were found in sera from UC patients and fewer were also detected in CD patients [174]. Although not much is known about these antibodies and their impact in the disease, it has been shown that the number and higher titres of antibacterial antibodies is directly associated to a more severe clinical course, supporting that microbial antigens take part in the pathogenesis of IBD [175].

Overall, the development of IBD is associated with an imbalance of proinflammatory and immunosuppressive cells in the gut [135]. When microbial translocation occurs, immune cells are recruited, such as neutrophils, in order to perform microbial clearance. In parallel, macrophages, DCs and ILC act by recognizing antigens and producing cytokines to balance inflammation. Indeed, effector T cell functions can be suppressed by IL-10 produced by innate immune cells and also from Treg cells [127, 166]. The differentiation of Treg cells can actually be promoted by CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs [135, 141]. ILC, particularly ILC3, can act as antigen-presenting cells in a MHCII-dependent manner and restore epithelial barrier stability through the secretion of IL-22 [155, 156]. A strict balance between the vast immune repertoire present in the lamina propria, the epithelial barrier and the microbiota is thus needed to maintain intestinal

22

homeostasis and the understanding of the dynamic between effector and regulatory counterparts of the immune system is crucial to design better strategies for the management of IBD.

# 2.5. The crosstalk between gut microbiota, mucosal immunity and the epithelial barrier

The numerous microbes that inhabit the intestinal have co-evolved and established a complex symbiotic relationship with the host, in which the latter provides a stable environment enriched in nutrients perfectly adapted to act as microbial niche. On the other hand, the gut microbiota contributes by the digestion of complex dietary macronutrients, defense against pathogens, maintenance of the immune system and production of vitamins, metabolites and other nutrients that are otherwise unreachable to the host [176].

Intestinal microbes can impact human health by the production of beneficial metabolites that contribute to homeostasis and protection against disease. Dietary fibers and some proteins are metabolized in the cecum and colon by the microbiota. The major products derived from microbial fermentation are SCFAs, precisely acetate, propionate and butyrate [177]. Lactate is also a major organic acid resultant from fermentation of non-digestible carbohydrates [178], and it can also be subsequently metabolized to acetate, propionate and butyrate by several bacteria [179, 180].

It was observed that IBD patients evidence a decrease in SFCAs in the feces, such as acetate, lactate, butyrate and propionate, when compared to healthy controls, which supports the idea that SFCAs are crucial players in preventing the pathogenesis of IBD [181]. Recent advances in metagenomics have given the chance to characterize the bacteria responsible for SCFA production. Although acetate synthesis seems to be ubiquitously distributed among bacterial groups, the pathways for propionate, butyrate and lactate production seem highly conserved [182]. For instance, propionate appears to be produced by a rather few bacteria. Among those, *Akkermansia muciniphila*, a mucin-degrading bacterium, was identified as a major propionate and acetate producer [177, 183, 184]. A small number of microorganisms, such as *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Eubacterium rectale, Eubacterium hallii* and *Ruminococcus bromii,* seem to contribute for the largest amount of butyrate that is produced [185].

The biosynthesis of the major SCFAs can vary according to the bacteria that are involved in the process. Acetate can be produced mostly from pyruvate by bacteria either via acetyl-CoA or via the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway, in which acetate is synthesized by two separate branches [186]. Propionate is produced from succinate conversion to methylmalonyl-CoA through the succinate pathway, or also from acrylate with lactate as a precursor by the acrylate pathway [187], or even from the propanediol pathway, in which deoxyhexose sugars serve as substrates [188]. Finally, butyrate can be produced by the condensation of two molecules of acetyl-CoA followed by reduction to butyryl-CoA, which can be converted to butyrate via the classical pathway [189]. Butyrate can also be synthesized by intestinal bacteria using lactate and acetate [177].

Several studies have shown how microbial populations and their derived metabolites can impact the intestinal environment. A recent study has demonstrated the crosstalk between SCFAs synthesized by microbiota and increased intestinal barrier function through the stabilization of epithelial hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) [190]. Moreover, butyrate is one of the main metabolic substrates for epithelial energy homeostasis [191]. Studies investigating dysbiosis in IBD have found a positive association between decreased bacterial diversity, specifically lower abundance of butyrate-producing organisms such as *Faecalibacterium* and *Roseburia* genera, and the decreased amounts of butyrate present during inflammation [192]. A study focused on the composition of the ileal mucosa-associated microbiota has reported that a reduction on *F. prausnitzii* was associated with an increased risk of postoperative recurrence of ileal CD; it was stated that *F. prausnitzii* displayed an anti-inflammatory effect by the production of butyrate that was able to block NF- $\kappa$ B activation [193]. Others have described that butyrate regulates intestinal macrophage function by the inhibition of histone deacetylases and subsequent alteration of the expression of genes involved in cell proliferation and differentiation [194].

Acetate and propionate can also contribute to immune balance in the gut, since they can act as ligands to G-protein coupled receptor 43 (GPR43), which is expressed by Treg cells and therefore promote their expansion and immunosuppressive features such as IL-10 production, subsequently controlling proinflammatory responses [195]. Others have shown the beneficial role of propionate for intestinal homeostasis by the upregulation of the transcription factor Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4), which is associated with goblet cell differentiation and mucus formation and thus is important for intestinal epithelial homeostasis [196, 197].

#### 2.6. Genetic associations in IBD

Genetic alterations are an important part of the puzzle when it comes to the understanding the mechanisms behind IBD pathology. Diverse GWAS have identified more than 200 alleles that are associated with IBD, 37 of which are specific for CD [198]. Nevertheless, there are already described several loci associated only with CD or UC, or with both disorders [2].

Alterations in *NOD2* gene are very well characterized, mostly in CD patients. This gene, as previously described, plays a key role in the detection of bacterial peptidoglycans and in the activation of cell signaling cascades. Therefore, *NOD2* is essential for bacterial recognition and to keep the balance between immune responses and commensal bacteria [199]. It is suggested that polymorphisms in *NOD2* may impair bacterial clearance and increase inflammation. The participation of *NOD2* in diverse events such as induction of autophagy and modulation of adaptive immune response complicates the understanding of which specific mechanism derived from *NOD2* function is involved in IBD [199-201]. GWAS have also pointed towards variations in *ATG16L1*, a component of autophagy complex, in CD, suggesting a functional integration of autophagy regulates several immune activities, namely innate and adaptive immune responses and processing of microorganisms, alterations in this gene may in part explain the onset of CD [202, 203]. Additionally, *IL10* is another gene whose impairment may lead to the development of UC. GWAS have shown that UC patients evidence polymorphisms in this gene, and concomitant results were found in mice lacking *IL10*, which spontaneously develop colitis [131, 132].

Alterations in other genes seem to be involved in the pathogenesis of IBD, such as in *MUC2*, *IL23R*, *STAT3*, *IRGM*, *SLC11A1*, among others [16, 204]. Nevertheless, genetic associations seem to account for only 20% of the genetic variance in susceptibility to IBD [2], failing to explain the divergent phenotypes that are found among patients. Thus, genetics are one of the partners in the dynamic of IBD pathology, composed also by immunity and microbiome.

## **3. EXPERIMENTAL MODELS OF IBD**

#### **3.1.** Animal models of the disease

The advances in the understanding of IBD pathology have been vastly aided by the numerous animal models to study the disease. Although these models do not capture the entire complexity of the human pathology, they share several similarities that allow the retrieval of valid information regarding the mechanisms underlying the disease [205-207].

It is already well established that several factors intricately contribute to the development of IBD. There is a myriad of animal models for IBD research, mostly murine, that allow the study of these features, contributing for the current knowledge about mucosal immunity in IBD. Presently, there are chemically-induced models of IBD that accurately mimic the human pathology, as well as mice models with specific genetic or immunologic defects that can be at the genesis of the inflammatory process in IBD. The possibility of manipulate the intestinal microbiome in murine models have also helped to study the impact of specific microorganisms on intestinal inflammation.

## **3.1.1. Chemical models**

#### 3.1.1.1. Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis

One of the most common models of IBD is the dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis. This model is used to mimic human UC and is based in the disruption of the intestinal epithelial barrier and subsequent entry of luminal bacteria or bacterial antigens to the lamina propria. DSS has a toxic effect to colonic epithelium, damaging epithelial cells and resulting in inflammatory immune response and impairment of barrier function [206]. Other authors have stated that the mode of action of DSS in colitis induction pass by the interaction with medium-chain fatty acids that reside in the lumen, forming nano-vesicles that fuse within the membrane and reach the cytoplasm, triggering intestinal inflammatory signaling pathways [208]. DSS colitis is considerably similar to human colitis and it is characterized by the formation of ulcers and erosion, loss of the crypts and infiltration of granulocytes.

Depending on the concentration (usually ranges between 1 to 5%) and the time of exposure, mice treated in the drinking water with DSS can develop acute colitis, chronic colitis or even colitis-induced dysplastic lesions [209]. This model of colitis can be established in the

absence of adaptive immunity, such as in Rag1-deficient mice and in severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) mice, showing that the cytokines produced by innate cells are sufficient to induce inflammation. Thus, this is a valid research tool to unveil the mechanisms involving innate immunity and IBD, such as the importance of macrophages in the production of proinflammatory cytokines and cytokines that regulate epithelial barrier function, and the impact of neutrophils in intestinal tissue damage [210, 211]. Moreover, since the basis of DSS-induced colitis is the disruption of the epithelial barrier, this model places itself as a prominent model to unravel the dynamics underlying the maintenance and establishment of integrity during or after intestinal injury.

## 3.1.1.2. Trinitrobenzene Sulfonic Acid (TNBS)-induced colitis

This chemical model of IBD is based on the intrarectal administration of TNBS and it induces discrete foci of necrosis and inflammation that will trigger immune responses to self-antigens and thereby activates a mucosal immune response able to promote colitis in susceptible mouse strains [207]. The transmural colitis is mainly driven by Th1-mediated immune response, with inflammatory infiltration of the lamina propria by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, macrophages and neutrophils. TNBS-induced colitis shares similarities with CD, being therefore used as model to study the immune response in this disease, as well as potential therapeutic adjuncts [206].

#### 3.1.2. Adoptive transfer colitis

The T cell transfer model to study chronic colitis has been essential to unveil the immune mechanisms that are behind the induction of the disease and also in the regulation of intestinal inflammation. The adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD45RB<sup>high</sup> T cells (naïve T cells) from healthy wild-type mice to recipient mice lacking both T and B cells leads to the development of a severe generalized colitis, accompanied with small intestine inflammation at five to eight weeks following T cell transfer. This procedure leads to transmural inflammation, epithelial cell hyperplasia, epithelial cell erosion and leukocyte infiltration, and weight loss and loose stool whose degree varies according to the mouse strain [212, 213].

Since both colon and small intestine develop inflammation upon T cell transfer, it makes this a model close to CD. This model is also very relevant to study the impact of Treg cells in the suppression the onset of intestinal inflammation, allowing the study the early events associated with the development of the disease and its subsequent evolution [214].

#### 3.1.3. Genetic models

A plethora of genetically engineered animals is available to study IBD. Several of them were identified to spontaneously develop colitis/ileitis, playing a key role in the study of the basic mechanisms of IBD development and also possible therapeutic interventions.

## 3.1.3.1. IL-10-deficient mice

IL-10 knockout (ko) mice are genetically manipulated for the absence of *IL10* gene and are known to spontaneously develop colitis after approximately 12 weeks of age. The microbiota composition also impacts the susceptibility of IL-10 ko mice to develop the disease, since the presence of *Helicobacter* species seem to be detrimental for the animals. These mice develop chronic transmural enterocolitis, mucosal hyperplasia and a severe inflammatory response [215]. It is reported that this colitis model seems to be mediated mainly by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and dependent on the proinflammatory effect of IL-17, IL-6 and IL-23 [207].

## 3.1.3.2. NOD2-deficient mice

Mice deficient in *NOD2* gene are also commonly used in the study of IBD pathophysiology. Defects in *NOD2* gene were already described in IBD patients and therefore animal models shaping these alterations are a great advantage to study possible pathways involved in IBD [216, 217]. NOD2-deficient mice are known to be more susceptible to colitis (although they do not develop spontaneously the disease) either induced by DSS or TNBS, evidencing also an increased risk for azoxymethane (AOM)/DSS-induced colorectal cancer [218, 219]. Besides, NOD2-ko mice are also used in a model of infection with *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium that creates a CD-like symptoms, such as intestinal fibrosis, which allows the study of the genetic factors involved in intestinal fibrosis and the impact of *NOD2* in the susceptibility on CD [220].

# 3.1.3.3. MUC2-deficient mice

Having a model that specifically targets the intestinal epithelium and mucus layer is also a groundbreaking tool to deeper understand the dynamics of IBD. MUC2-deficient mice are animals that do not express *MUC2*, the gene encoding for mucin 2. This mucin is localized in the apical granules of the goblet cells and is the major responsible for mucus production in the

intestine [94]. These mice are more susceptible to DSS-induced colitis and may also develop spontaneous colitis during life [94, 221]. The histological architecture of the gut in MUC2-ko mice is altered and it is believed that it is the lack of a proper physical barrier that enables commensal bacteria to reach the lamina propria and induce inflammation [94, 221, 222]. This is a valuable model to study IBD since it provides a new insight regarding the impact of impairment of the intestinal epithelial barrier in the onset of IBD.

## 3.2. Alternative models: gut-on-a-chip platforms

The use of *in vitro* models can be useful to screen putative candidate factors or dissect possible mechanisms underlying certain pathologies. Nevertheless, the currently available *in vitro* models lack on physiological relevance. The conceptualization of *in vitro* organ-on-a-chip systems aimed to overcome the limitations found in conventional *in vitro* models by mimicking the basic functioning of *in vivo* tissue environment [223, 224]. The combination of *in vivo* models with these new technologically evolved *in vitro* systems provides a groundbreaking research strategy for an integrative analysis, covering the phenotype observed *in vivo* as well as the cellular mechanisms unveiled *in vitro*.

Specifically focused on the intestine, several research groups have developed gut-on-a-chip systems that replicate the three-dimensional physiological properties and functions of the intestine, such as mucus production and villi formation [225]. These microfluidic devices are usually composed by small chambers connected by microchannels that support fluid flow. With the help of a peristaltic pump, it is possible to perfused the system with culture medium at desired flow rates, allowing to recapitulate the fluid flow and shear stress of cell surface that are found in the human intestinal lumen. The majority of the intestine chips has a porous extracellular (ECM)-coated polycarbonate membrane separating the two compartments of the chip, in which immortalized human intestinal epithelial cells (Caco-2 or HT-29 cell lines) are seeded. The monolayer that is formed is normally used to assess several parameters regarding epithelial barrier stability, such as tight junction barrier function and the absorption of compounds, as drugs or nutrients [225, 226].

The interaction of epithelial cells and microbiota counterparts were also taken into account in the development of this technology. Recently, it was described a system that separates a luminal microbial compartment from the epithelium by a nanoporous membrane, aiming to aid the survival of a host-microbiome environment comprising both epithelial cells and anaerobic gut

29

bacteria, by a constant perfusion of culture medium [227]. Notwithstanding, the absence of mechanical deformations simulating peristaltic movements may be detrimental for microbial growth [228]. Moreover, the physical separation promoted by the membrane to these two compartments, as well as the fact that these co-cultures are only able to survive for approximately 24 hours, limits its application for long-term characterization of host-microbial interactions.

Gut-on-a-chip models are much more reliable to characterize phenotypically and functionally the human intestine than conventional *in vitro* cultures, although there are still some gaps that need to be explored. For instance, the inclusion of nervous system cells may be the next step since it is known that enteric nervous system has a role in the regulation of intestinal secretion and gut motility [229]. Therefore, and despite being in a very inceptive stage, these systems provide increased robustness over conventional *in vitro* cultures and with further advances may be an innovative tool to explore intestinal dynamics and validation of personalized medical approaches.

## 4. CONTEXT AND AIMS OF THE THESIS

IBD is a chronic debilitating disease with an increasing incidence around the world. One of the major setbacks in the clinics regarding IBD treatment is the multifactorial profile of this pathology, which dampens the efficacy of currently available therapies. Therefore, it is paramount to fully understand the mechanisms that are involved in IBD and which factors can be modulated to promote protection. Despite the etiology of IBD is not entirely determined, it is known that dynamic interaction between the gut microbiota, the immune system and the intestinal epithelial barrier is pivotal for the maintenance of a healthy intestine and that disruption of this balanced ecosystem can lead to the development of IBD.

**Aim 1:** To identify the colonic microbiota and metabolic signatures associated with a healthy intestinal environment.

**Aim 2:** To define the colonic epithelial barrier components and the immune landscape targeted by specific microbiota populations responsible for promoting protection against colitis.

**Aim 3:** To characterize the metabolic profile in the intestine during colitis development and identify altered nutrients that can be targeted for dietary supplementation to potentially contribute to disease resolution.

# **5. REFERENCES**

- 1. Xavier, R.J. and D.K. Podolsky, *Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease.* Nature, 2007. 448(7152): p. 427-34.
- Abraham, C. and J.H. Cho, *Inflammatory bowel disease*. N Engl J Med, 2009. 361(21): p. 2066-78.
- 3. Maloy, K.J. and F. Powrie, *Intestinal homeostasis and its breakdown in inflammatory bowel disease.* Nature, 2011. 474(7351): p. 298-306.
- Ng, S.C., H.Y. Shi, N. Hamidi, F.E. Underwood, W. Tang, E.I. Benchimol, R. Panaccione, S. Ghosh, J.C.Y. Wu, F.K.L. Chan, J.J.Y. Sung, and G.G. Kaplan, *Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies.* Lancet, 2018. 390(10114): p. 2769-2778.
- 5. Burisch, J., T. Jess, M. Martinato, and P.L. Lakatos, *The burden of inflammatory bowel disease in Europe.* J Crohns Colitis, 2013. 7(4): p. 322-37.
- 6. Cosnes, J., C. Gower-Rousseau, P. Seksik, and A. Cortot, *Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases.* Gastroenterology, 2011. 140(6): p. 1785-94.
- 7. Loftus, E.V., Jr., *Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: Incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences.* Gastroenterology, 2004. 126(6): p. 1504-17.
- 8. Brant, S.R. and G.C. Nguyen, *Is there a gender difference in the prevalence of Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis?* Inflamm Bowel Dis, 2008. 14 Suppl 2: p. S2-3.
- 9. Kaplan, G.G., *The global burden of IBD: from 2015 to 2025.* Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2015. 12(12): p. 720-7.
- Probert, C.S., V. Jayanthi, A.O. Hughes, J.R. Thompson, A.C. Wicks, and J.F. Mayberry, *Prevalence and family risk of ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: an epidemiological study among Europeans and south Asians in Leicestershire.* Gut, 1993. 34(11): p. 1547-51.
- Basson, A., A. Trotter, A. Rodriguez-Palacios, and F. Cominelli, *Mucosal Interactions between Genetics, Diet, and Microbiome in Inflammatory Bowel Disease.* Front Immunol, 2016. 7: p. 290.
- 12. Shih, D.Q., S.R. Targan, and D. McGovern, *Recent advances in IBD pathogenesis: genetics and immunobiology.* Curr Gastroenterol Rep, 2008. 10(6): p. 568-75.

- 13. Peyrin-Biroulet, L., P. Desreumaux, W.J. Sandborn, and J.F. Colombel, *Crohn's disease: beyond antagonists of tumour necrosis factor.* Lancet, 2008. 372(9632): p. 67-81.
- 14. Dignass, A., R. Eliakim, F. Magro, C. Maaser, Y. Chowers, K. Geboes, G. Mantzaris, W. Reinisch, J.F. Colombel, S. Vermeire, S. Travis, J.O. Lindsay, and G. Van Assche, *Second European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis part 1: definitions and diagnosis.* J Crohns Colitis, 2012. 6(10): p. 965-90.
- Van Assche, G., A. Dignass, J. Panes, L. Beaugerie, J. Karagiannis, M. Allez, T. Ochsenkuhn, T. Orchard, G. Rogler, E. Louis, L. Kupcinskas, G. Mantzaris, S. Travis, and E. Stange, *The second European evidence-based Consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: Definitions and diagnosis.* J Crohns Colitis, 2010. 4(1): p. 7-27.
- Torres, J., S. Mehandru, J.F. Colombel, and L. Peyrin-Biroulet, *Crohn's disease*. Lancet, 2017. 389(10080): p. 1741-1755.
- Khoshkish, S., K. Arefi, M. Charmehali, H. Vahedi, and R. Malekzadeh, *Risk factors for postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease.* Middle East J Dig Dis, 2012. 4(4): p. 199-205.
- 18. Danese, S. and C. Fiocchi, *Ulcerative colitis.* N Engl J Med, 2011. 365(18): p. 1713-25.
- Kornbluth, A. and D.B. Sachar, Ulcerative colitis practice guidelines in adults (update): American College of Gastroenterology, Practice Parameters Committee. Am J Gastroenterol, 2004. 99(7): p. 1371-85.
- Hanauer, S.B., D.H. Present, and D.T. Rubin, *Emerging issues in ulcerative colitis and ulcerative proctitis: individualizing treatment to maximize outcomes.* Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y), 2009. 5(6 Suppl): p. 4-16.
- Adams, S.M. and P.H. Bornemann, *Ulcerative colitis.* Am Fam Physician, 2013. 87(10): p. 699-705.
- 22. Vavricka, S.R., L. Brun, P. Ballabeni, V. Pittet, B.M. Prinz Vavricka, J. Zeitz, G. Rogler, and A.M. Schoepfer, *Frequency and risk factors for extraintestinal manifestations in the Swiss inflammatory bowel disease cohort.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2011. 106(1): p. 110-9.
- 23. Cohen, B.L. and D.B. Sachar, *Update on anti-tumor necrosis factor agents and other new drugs for inflammatory bowel disease.* Bmj, 2017. 357: p. j2505.

- Fernandes, C., M. Allocca, S. Danese, and G. Fiorino, *Progress with anti-tumor necrosis factor therapeutics for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease.* Immunotherapy, 2015. 7(2): p. 175-90.
- Cote-Daigneault, J., M. Bouin, R. Lahaie, J.F. Colombel, and P. Poitras, *Biologics in inflammatory bowel disease: what are the data?* United European Gastroenterol J, 2015.
   3(5): p. 419-28.
- Kim, E.R. and D.K. Chang, *Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: the risk, pathogenesis, prevention and diagnosis.* World J Gastroenterol, 2014. 20(29): p. 9872-81.
- 27. Neurath, M.F., *Current and emerging therapeutic targets for IBD.* Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2017. 14(5): p. 269-278.
- Allgayer, H., *Review article: mechanisms of action of mesalazine in preventing colorectal carcinoma in inflammatory bowel disease.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 2003. 18 Suppl 2: p. 10-4.
- 29. Velayos, F.S., J.P. Terdiman, and J.M. Walsh, *Effect of 5-aminosalicylate use on colorectal cancer and dysplasia risk: a systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2005. 100(6): p. 1345-53.
- Atreya, I., A. Diall, R. Dvorsky, R. Atreya, C. Henninger, M. Grun, U. Hofmann, E. Schaeffeler, R. Lopez-Posadas, I. Daehn, S. Zenker, M. Dobronti, C. Neufert, U. Billmeier, S. Zundler, G. Fritz, M. Schwab, and M.F. Neurath, *Designer Thiopurine-analogues for Optimised Immunosuppression in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases.* J Crohns Colitis, 2016. 10(10): p. 1132-43.
- Colombel, J.F., W.J. Sandborn, W. Reinisch, G.J. Mantzaris, A. Kornbluth, D. Rachmilewitz, S. Lichtiger, G. D'Haens, R.H. Diamond, D.L. Broussard, K.L. Tang, C.J. van der Woude, and P. Rutgeerts, *Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease.* N Engl J Med, 2010. 362(15): p. 1383-95.
- McDonald, J.W., Y. Wang, D.J. Tsoulis, J.K. MacDonald, and B.G. Feagan, *Methotrexate for induction of remission in refractory Crohn's disease.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2014(8): p. Cd003459.
- 33. Panaccione, R., S. Ghosh, S. Middleton, J.R. Marquez, B.B. Scott, L. Flint, H.J. van Hoogstraten, A.C. Chen, H. Zheng, S. Danese, and P. Rutgeerts, *Combination therapy*

*with infliximab and azathioprine is superior to monotherapy with either agent in ulcerative colitis.* Gastroenterology, 2014. 146(2): p. 392-400.e3.

- 34. Alten, R. and F. van den Bosch, *Dose optimization of infliximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis.* Int J Rheum Dis, 2014. 17(1): p. 5-18.
- 35. Papoutsaki, M., F. Osorio, P. Morais, T. Torres, S. Magina, S. Chimenti, and A. Costanzo, *Infliximab in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis.* BioDrugs, 2013. 27 Suppl 1: p. 13-23.
- Neurath, M.F., *Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2014. 14(5):
   p. 329-42.
- Juuti-Uusitalo, K., L.J. Klunder, K.A. Sjollema, K. Mackovicova, R. Ohgaki, D. Hoekstra, J. Dekker, and S.C. van Ijzendoorn, *Differential effects of TNF (TNFSF2) and IFN-gamma on intestinal epithelial cell morphogenesis and barrier function in three-dimensional culture.* PLoS One, 2011. 6(8): p. e22967.
- 38. Meijer, M.J., M.A. Mieremet-Ooms, W. van Duijn, A.M. van der Zon, R. Hanemaaijer, J.H. Verheijen, R.A. van Hogezand, C.B. Lamers, and H.W. Verspaget, *Effect of the anti-tumor necrosis factor-alpha antibody infliximab on the ex vivo mucosal matrix metalloproteinase-proteolytic phenotype in inflammatory bowel disease.* Inflamm Bowel Dis, 2007. 13(2): p. 200-10.
- Aratari, A., C. Papi, V. Clemente, A. Moretti, R. Luchetti, M. Koch, L. Capurso, and R. Caprilli, *Colectomy rate in acute severe ulcerative colitis in the infliximab era.* Dig Liver Dis, 2008. 40(10): p. 821-6.
- Hoie, O., F.L. Wolters, L. Riis, T. Bernklev, G. Aamodt, J. Clofent, E. Tsianos, M. Beltrami, S. Odes, P. Munkholm, M. Vatn, R.W. Stockbrugger, and B. Moum, *Low colectomy rates in ulcerative colitis in an unselected European cohort followed for 10 years.* Gastroenterology, 2007. 132(2): p. 507-15.
- 41. Parragi, L., N. Fournier, J. Zeitz, M. Scharl, T. Greuter, P. Schreiner, B. Misselwitz, E. Safroneeva, A.M. Schoepfer, S.R. Vavricka, G. Rogler, and L. Biedermann, *Colectomy Rates in Ulcerative Colitis are Low and Decreasing: 10-year Follow-up Data From the Swiss IBD Cohort Study.* J Crohns Colitis, 2018. 12(7): p. 811-818.
- 42. de Groof, E.J., J.H.M. van der Meer, P.J. Tanis, J.R. de Bruyn, O. van Ruler, G. D'Haens, G.R. van den Brink, W.A. Bemelman, M.E. Wildenberg, and C.J. Buskens, *Persistent mesorectal inflammatory activity is associated with complications after proctectomy in Crohn's Disease.* J Crohns Colitis, 2018.

- Okada, S., K. Hata, S. Emoto, K. Murono, M. Kaneko, K. Sasaki, K. Otani, T. Nishikawa, T. Tanaka, K. Kawai, and H. Nozawa, *Elevated risk of stoma outlet obstruction following colorectal surgery in patients undergoing ileal pouch-anal anastomosis: a retrospective cohort study.* Surg Today, 2018.
- 44. Singh, H., N. Grewal, E. Arora, H. Kumar, and A.K. Kakkar, *Vedolizumab: A novel antiintegrin drug for treatment of inflammatory bowel disease.* J Nat Sci Biol Med, 2016. 7(1): p. 4-9.
- Feagan, B.G., P. Rutgeerts, B.E. Sands, S. Hanauer, J.F. Colombel, W.J. Sandborn, G. Van Assche, J. Axler, H.J. Kim, S. Danese, I. Fox, C. Milch, S. Sankoh, T. Wyant, J. Xu, and A. Parikh, *Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis.* N Engl J Med, 2013. 369(8): p. 699-710.
- Hueber, W., B.E. Sands, S. Lewitzky, M. Vandemeulebroecke, W. Reinisch, P.D. Higgins, J. Wehkamp, B.G. Feagan, M.D. Yao, M. Karczewski, J. Karczewski, N. Pezous, S. Bek, G. Bruin, B. Mellgard, C. Berger, M. Londei, A.P. Bertolino, G. Tougas, and S.P. Travis, *Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial.* Gut, 2012. 61(12): p. 1693-700.
- Feagan, B.G., W.J. Sandborn, C. Gasink, D. Jacobstein, Y. Lang, J.R. Friedman, M.A. Blank, J. Johanns, L.L. Gao, Y. Miao, O.J. Adedokun, B.E. Sands, S.B. Hanauer, S. Vermeire, S. Targan, S. Ghosh, W.J. de Villiers, J.F. Colombel, Z. Tulassay, U. Seidler, B.A. Salzberg, P. Desreumaux, S.D. Lee, E.V. Loftus, Jr., L.A. Dieleman, S. Katz, and P. Rutgeerts, *Ustekinumab as Induction and Maintenance Therapy for Crohn's Disease.* N Engl J Med, 2016. 375(20): p. 1946-1960.
- 48. Dylag, K., M. Hubalewska-Mazgaj, M. Surmiak, J. Szmyd, and T. Brzozowski, *Probiotics in the mechanism of protection against gut inflammation and therapy of gastrointestinal disorders.* Curr Pharm Des, 2014. 20(7): p. 1149-55.
- Scaldaferri, F., V. Gerardi, F. Mangiola, L.R. Lopetuso, M. Pizzoferrato, V. Petito, A. Papa, J. Stojanovic, A. Poscia, G. Cammarota, and A. Gasbarrini, *Role and mechanisms of action of Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 in the maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis patients: An update.* World J Gastroenterol, 2016. 22(24): p. 5505-11.
- 50. Bartnicka, A., P. Szachta, and M. Galecka, *Faecal microbiota transplant prospects and safety.* Pomeranian J Life Sci, 2015. 61(3): p. 282-6.

- 51. Quraishi, M.N., T. Critchlow, N. Bhala, N. Sharma, and T. Iqbal, *Faecal transplantation for IBD management-pitfalls and promises.* Br Med Bull, 2017. 124(1): p. 181-190.
- 52. Smits, L.P., K.E. Bouter, W.M. de Vos, T.J. Borody, and M. Nieuwdorp, *Therapeutic potential of fecal microbiota transplantation.* Gastroenterology, 2013. 145(5): p. 946-53.
- 53. Weingarden, A.R. and B.P. Vaughn, *Intestinal microbiota, fecal microbiota transplantation, and inflammatory bowel disease.* Gut Microbes, 2017. 8(3): p. 238-252.
- 54. Gianotti, R.J. and A.C. Moss, *Fecal Microbiota Transplantation: From Clostridium difficile to Inflammatory Bowel Disease.* Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y), 2017. 13(4): p. 209-213.
- 55. Wang, Y., D.H. Wiesnoski, B.A. Helmink, V. Gopalakrishnan, K. Choi, H.L. DuPont, Z.D. Jiang, H. Abu-Sbeih, C.A. Sanchez, C.C. Chang, E.R. Parra, A. Francisco-Cruz, G.S. Raju, J.R. Stroehlein, M.T. Campbell, J. Gao, S.K. Subudhi, D.M. Maru, J.M. Blando, A.J. Lazar, J.P. Allison, P. Sharma, M.T. Tetzlaff, J.A. Wargo, and R.R. Jenq, *Fecal microbiota transplantation for refractory immune checkpoint inhibitor-associated colitis.* Nat Med, 2018. 24(12): p. 1804-1808.
- 56. Hill, D.A. and D. Artis, *Intestinal bacteria and the regulation of immune cell homeostasis.*Annu Rev Immunol, 2010. 28: p. 623-67.
- 57. Martin, F.P., S. Collino, S. Rezzi, and S. Kochhar, *Metabolomic applications to decipher gut microbial metabolic influence in health and disease.* Front Physiol, 2012. 3: p. 113.
- Xu, J. and J.I. Gordon, *Honor thy symbionts.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. 100(18):
   p. 10452-9.
- 59. Nicholson, J.K., E. Holmes, J. Kinross, R. Burcelin, G. Gibson, W. Jia, and S. Pettersson, *Host-gut microbiota metabolic interactions.* Science, 2012. 336(6086): p. 1262-7.
- 60. Biasucci, G., M. Rubini, S. Riboni, L. Morelli, E. Bessi, and C. Retetangos, *Mode of delivery affects the bacterial community in the newborn gut.* Early Hum Dev, 2010. 86 Suppl 1: p. 13-5.
- Dominguez-Bello, M.G., E.K. Costello, M. Contreras, M. Magris, G. Hidalgo, N. Fierer, and R. Knight, *Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. 107(26): p. 11971-5.
- 62. Dominguez-Bello, M.G., K.M. De Jesus-Laboy, N. Shen, L.M. Cox, A. Amir, A. Gonzalez, N.A. Bokulich, S.J. Song, M. Hoashi, J.I. Rivera-Vinas, K. Mendez, R. Knight, and J.C.

Clemente, *Partial restoration of the microbiota of cesarean-born infants via vaginal microbial transfer.* Nat Med, 2016. 22(3): p. 250-3.

- 63. Peterson, C.T., V. Sharma, L. Elmen, and S.N. Peterson, *Immune homeostasis, dysbiosis and therapeutic modulation of the gut microbiota.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2015. 179(3): p. 363-77.
- Hooper, L.V. and J.I. Gordon, *Commensal host-bacterial relationships in the gut.* Science, 2001. 292(5519): p. 1115-8.
- 65. Hooper, L.V., T. Midtvedt, and J.I. Gordon, *How host-microbial interactions shape the nutrient environment of the mammalian intestine.* Annu Rev Nutr, 2002. 22: p. 283-307.
- 66. Conlon, M.A. and A.R. Bird, *The impact of diet and lifestyle on gut microbiota and human health.* Nutrients, 2014. 7(1): p. 17-44.
- 67. Francino, M.P., *Antibiotics and the Human Gut Microbiome: Dysbioses and Accumulation of Resistances.* Front Microbiol, 2015. 6: p. 1543.
- 68. Marchesi, J.R., D.H. Adams, F. Fava, G.D. Hermes, G.M. Hirschfield, G. Hold, M.N. Quraishi, J. Kinross, H. Smidt, K.M. Tuohy, L.V. Thomas, E.G. Zoetendal, and A. Hart, *The gut microbiota and host health: a new clinical frontier.* Gut, 2016. 65(2): p. 330-9.
- Manichanh, C., L. Rigottier-Gois, E. Bonnaud, K. Gloux, E. Pelletier, L. Frangeul, R. Nalin,
   C. Jarrin, P. Chardon, P. Marteau, J. Roca, and J. Dore, *Reduced diversity of faecal microbiota in Crohn's disease revealed by a metagenomic approach.* Gut, 2006. 55(2):
   p. 205-11.
- 70. Moore, W.E. and L.H. Moore, *Intestinal floras of populations that have a high risk of colon cancer.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 1995. 61(9): p. 3202-7.
- 71. Bollyky, P.L., J.B. Bice, I.R. Sweet, B.A. Falk, J.A. Gebe, A.E. Clark, V.H. Gersuk, A. Aderem, T.R. Hawn, and G.T. Nepom, *The toll-like receptor signaling molecule Myd88 contributes to pancreatic beta-cell homeostasis in response to injury.* PLoS One, 2009. 4(4): p. e5063.
- 72. Penders, J., C. Thijs, P.A. van den Brandt, I. Kummeling, B. Snijders, F. Stelma, H. Adams, R. van Ree, and E.E. Stobberingh, *Gut microbiota composition and development of atopic manifestations in infancy: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study.* Gut, 2007. 56(5): p. 661-7.

- Ley, R.E., F. Backhed, P. Turnbaugh, C.A. Lozupone, R.D. Knight, and J.I. Gordon, *Obesity alters gut microbial ecology.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. 102(31): p. 11070-5.
- 74. Odenwald, M.A. and J.R. Turner, *The intestinal epithelial barrier: a therapeutic target?* Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2017. 14(1): p. 9-21.
- 75. Groschwitz, K.R. and S.P. Hogan, *Intestinal barrier function: molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2009. 124(1): p. 3-20; quiz 21-2.
- 76. Van Itallie, C.M. and J.M. Anderson, *Claudins and epithelial paracellular transport.* Annu Rev Physiol, 2006. 68: p. 403-29.
- 77. Turner, J.R., *Intestinal mucosal barrier function in health and disease.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. 9(11): p. 799-809.
- 78. Shen, L., C.R. Weber, D.R. Raleigh, D. Yu, and J.R. Turner, *Tight junction pore and leak pathways: a dynamic duo.* Annu Rev Physiol, 2011. 73: p. 283-309.
- 79. Harhaj, N.S. and D.A. Antonetti, *Regulation of tight junctions and loss of barrier function in pathophysiology.* Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2004. 36(7): p. 1206-37.
- 80. Hartsock, A. and W.J. Nelson, *Adherens and tight junctions: structure, function and connections to the actin cytoskeleton.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2008. 1778(3): p. 660-9.
- McCarthy, K.M., I.B. Skare, M.C. Stankewich, M. Furuse, S. Tsukita, R.A. Rogers, R.D. Lynch, and E.E. Schneeberger, *Occludin is a functional component of the tight junction.* J Cell Sci, 1996. 109 (Pt 9): p. 2287-98.
- Rescigno, M., M. Urbano, B. Valzasina, M. Francolini, G. Rotta, R. Bonasio, F. Granucci, J.P. Kraehenbuhl, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, *Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria.* Nat Immunol, 2001. 2(4): p. 361-7.
- Zeissig, S., N. Burgel, D. Gunzel, J. Richter, J. Mankertz, U. Wahnschaffe, A.J. Kroesen,
  M. Zeitz, M. Fromm, and J.D. Schulzke, *Changes in expression and distribution of claudin 2, 5 and 8 lead to discontinuous tight junctions and barrier dysfunction in active Crohn's disease.* Gut, 2007. 56(1): p. 61-72.
- 84. Heller, F., P. Florian, C. Bojarski, J. Richter, M. Christ, B. Hillenbrand, J. Mankertz, A.H. Gitter, N. Burgel, M. Fromm, M. Zeitz, I. Fuss, W. Strober, and J.D. Schulzke, *Interleukin-13 is the key effector Th2 cytokine in ulcerative colitis that affects epithelial tight junctions, apoptosis, and cell restitution.* Gastroenterology, 2005. 129(2): p. 550-64.

- Nalle, S.C. and J.R. Turner, *Intestinal barrier loss as a critical pathogenic link between inflammatory bowel disease and graft-versus-host disease*. Mucosal Immunol, 2015.
   8(4): p. 720-30.
- 86. Su, L., S.C. Nalle, L. Shen, E.S. Turner, G. Singh, L.A. Breskin, E.A. Khramtsova, G. Khramtsova, P.Y. Tsai, Y.X. Fu, C. Abraham, and J.R. Turner, *TNFR2 activates MLCK-dependent tight junction dysregulation to cause apoptosis-mediated barrier loss and experimental colitis.* Gastroenterology, 2013. 145(2): p. 407-15.
- 87. Arnott, I.D., K. Kingstone, and S. Ghosh, *Abnormal intestinal permeability predicts relapse in inactive Crohn disease.* Scand J Gastroenterol, 2000. 35(11): p. 1163-9.
- D'Inca, R., V. Di Leo, G. Corrao, D. Martines, A. D'Odorico, C. Mestriner, C. Venturi, G. Longo, and G.C. Sturniolo, *Intestinal permeability test as a predictor of clinical course in Crohn's disease.* Am J Gastroenterol, 1999. 94(10): p. 2956-60.
- 89. Wyatt, J., H. Vogelsang, W. Hubl, T. Waldhoer, and H. Lochs, *Intestinal permeability and the prediction of relapse in Crohn's disease.* Lancet, 1993. 341(8858): p. 1437-9.
- 90. Pelaseyed, T., J.H. Bergstrom, J.K. Gustafsson, A. Ermund, G.M. Birchenough, A. Schutte, S. van der Post, F. Svensson, A.M. Rodriguez-Pineiro, E.E. Nystrom, C. Wising, M.E. Johansson, and G.C. Hansson, *The mucus and mucins of the goblet cells and enterocytes provide the first defense line of the gastrointestinal tract and interact with the immune system.* Immunol Rev, 2014. 260(1): p. 8-20.
- Johansson, M.E., M. Phillipson, J. Petersson, A. Velcich, L. Holm, and G.C. Hansson, *The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon is devoid of bacteria.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. 105(39): p. 15064-9.
- 92. Desai, M.S., A.M. Seekatz, N.M. Koropatkin, N. Kamada, C.A. Hickey, M. Wolter, N.A. Pudlo, S. Kitamoto, N. Terrapon, A. Muller, V.B. Young, B. Henrissat, P. Wilmes, T.S. Stappenbeck, G. Nunez, and E.C. Martens, *A Dietary Fiber-Deprived Gut Microbiota Degrades the Colonic Mucus Barrier and Enhances Pathogen Susceptibility.* Cell, 2016. 167(5): p. 1339-1353.e21.
- 93. McVay, L.D., S.A. Keilbaugh, T.M. Wong, S. Kierstein, M.E. Shin, M. Lehrke, M.I. Lefterova, D.E. Shifflett, S.L. Barnes, F. Cominelli, S.M. Cohn, G. Hecht, M.A. Lazar, A. Haczku, and G.D. Wu, *Absence of bacterially induced RELMbeta reduces injury in the dextran sodium sulfate model of colitis.* J Clin Invest, 2006. 116(11): p. 2914-23.

- 94. Van der Sluis, M., B.A. De Koning, A.C. De Bruijn, A. Velcich, J.P. Meijerink, J.B. Van Goudoever, H.A. Buller, J. Dekker, I. Van Seuningen, I.B. Renes, and A.W. Einerhand, *Muc2-deficient mice spontaneously develop colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection.* Gastroenterology, 2006. 131(1): p. 117-29.
- 95. An, G., B. Wei, B. Xia, J.M. McDaniel, T. Ju, R.D. Cummings, J. Braun, and L. Xia, Increased susceptibility to colitis and colorectal tumors in mice lacking core 3-derived Oglycans. J Exp Med, 2007. 204(6): p. 1417-29.
- Wilson, C.L., A.J. Ouellette, D.P. Satchell, T. Ayabe, Y.S. Lopez-Boado, J.L. Stratman, S.J. Hultgren, L.M. Matrisian, and W.C. Parks, *Regulation of intestinal alpha-defensin activation by the metalloproteinase matrilysin in innate host defense.* Science, 1999. 286(5437): p. 113-7.
- 97. Wehkamp, J., J. Harder, M. Weichenthal, M. Schwab, E. Schaffeler, M. Schlee, K.R. Herrlinger, A. Stallmach, F. Noack, P. Fritz, J.M. Schroder, C.L. Bevins, K. Fellermann, and E.F. Stange, *NOD2 (CARD15) mutations in Crohn's disease are associated with diminished mucosal alpha-defensin expression.* Gut, 2004. 53(11): p. 1658-64.
- Wehkamp, J., N.H. Salzman, E. Porter, S. Nuding, M. Weichenthal, R.E. Petras, B. Shen,
   E. Schaeffeler, M. Schwab, R. Linzmeier, R.W. Feathers, H. Chu, H. Lima, Jr., K.
   Fellermann, T. Ganz, E.F. Stange, and C.L. Bevins, *Reduced Paneth cell alpha-defensins in ileal Crohn's disease.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. 102(50): p. 18129-34.
- 99. Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi, *Pathogen recognition and innate immunity.* Cell, 2006. 124(4): p. 783-801.
- 100. O'Neill, L.A., D. Golenbock, and A.G. Bowie, *The history of Toll-like receptors redefining innate immunity.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2013. 13(6): p. 453-60.
- 101. Sivick, K.E., N. Arpaia, G.L. Reiner, B.L. Lee, B.R. Russell, and G.M. Barton, *Toll-like receptor-deficient mice reveal how innate immune signaling influences Salmonella virulence strategies.* Cell Host Microbe, 2014. 15(2): p. 203-13.
- 102. Weiss, D.S., B. Raupach, K. Takeda, S. Akira, and A. Zychlinsky, *Toll-like receptors are temporally involved in host defense.* J Immunol, 2004. 172(7): p. 4463-9.
- 103. Gibson, D.L., C. Ma, C.M. Rosenberger, K.S. Bergstrom, Y. Valdez, J.T. Huang, M.A. Khan, and B.A. Vallance, *Toll-like receptor 2 plays a critical role in maintaining mucosal integrity during Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis.* Cell Microbiol, 2008. 10(2): p. 388-403.

- 104. Stahl, M., J. Ries, J. Vermeulen, H. Yang, H.P. Sham, S.M. Crowley, Y. Badayeva, S.E. Turvey, E.C. Gaynor, X. Li, and B.A. Vallance, *A novel mouse model of Campylobacter jejuni gastroenteritis reveals key pro-inflammatory and tissue protective roles for Toll-like receptor signaling during infection.* PLoS Pathog, 2014. 10(7): p. e1004264.
- 105. Nishimori, J.H., T.N. Newman, G.O. Oppong, G.J. Rapsinski, J.H. Yen, S.G. Biesecker, R.P. Wilson, B.P. Butler, M.G. Winter, R.M. Tsolis, D. Ganea, and C. Tukel, *Microbial amyloids induce interleukin 17A (IL-17A) and IL-22 responses via Toll-like receptor 2 activation in the intestinal mucosa.* Infect Immun, 2012. 80(12): p. 4398-408.
- 106. Gewirtz, A.T., T.A. Navas, S. Lyons, P.J. Godowski, and J.L. Madara, *Cutting edge: bacterial flagellin activates basolaterally expressed TLR5 to induce epithelial proinflammatory gene expression.* J Immunol, 2001. 167(4): p. 1882-5.
- 107. Kanneganti, T.D., M. Lamkanfi, and G. Nunez, *Intracellular NOD-like receptors in host defense and disease.* Immunity, 2007. 27(4): p. 549-59.
- 108. Girardin, S.E., I.G. Boneca, J. Viala, M. Chamaillard, A. Labigne, G. Thomas, D.J. Philpott, and P.J. Sansonetti, *Nod2 is a general sensor of peptidoglycan through muramyl dipeptide (MDP) detection.* J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(11): p. 8869-72.
- Philpott, D.J., M.T. Sorbara, S.J. Robertson, K. Croitoru, and S.E. Girardin, *NOD proteins:* regulators of inflammation in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol, 2014. 14(1): p. 9-23.
- Ogura, Y., N. Inohara, A. Benito, F.F. Chen, S. Yamaoka, and G. Nunez, *Nod2, a Nod1/Apaf-1 family member that is restricted to monocytes and activates NF-kappaB.* J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(7): p. 4812-8.
- 111. Kim, Y.G., N. Kamada, M.H. Shaw, N. Warner, G.Y. Chen, L. Franchi, and G. Nunez, *The Nod2 sensor promotes intestinal pathogen eradication via the chemokine CCL2dependent recruitment of inflammatory monocytes.* Immunity, 2011. 34(5): p. 769-80.
- 112. Geddes, K., S. Rubino, C. Streutker, J.H. Cho, J.G. Magalhaes, L. Le Bourhis, T. Selvanantham, S.E. Girardin, and D.J. Philpott, *Nod1 and Nod2 regulation of inflammation in the Salmonella colitis model.* Infect Immun, 2010. 78(12): p. 5107-15.
- Kasper, C.A., I. Sorg, C. Schmutz, T. Tschon, H. Wischnewski, M.L. Kim, and C. Arrieumerlou, *Cell-cell propagation of NF-kappaB transcription factor and MAP kinase activation amplifies innate immunity against bacterial infection.* Immunity, 2010. 33(5): p. 804-16.

- 114. Hu, B., E. Elinav, S. Huber, C.J. Booth, T. Strowig, C. Jin, S.C. Eisenbarth, and R.A. Flavell, *Inflammation-induced tumorigenesis in the colon is regulated by caspase-1 and NLRC4.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. 107(50): p. 21635-40.
- Nordlander, S., J. Pott, and K.J. Maloy, *NLRC4 expression in intestinal epithelial cells mediates protection against an enteric pathogen.* Mucosal Immunol, 2014. 7(4): p. 775-85.
- 116. Levy, M., C.A. Thaiss, D. Zeevi, L. Dohnalova, G. Zilberman-Schapira, J.A. Mahdi, E. David, A. Savidor, T. Korem, Y. Herzig, M. Pevsner-Fischer, H. Shapiro, A. Christ, A. Harmelin, Z. Halpern, E. Latz, R.A. Flavell, I. Amit, E. Segal, and E. Elinav, *Microbiota-Modulated Metabolites Shape the Intestinal Microenvironment by Regulating NLRP6 Inflammasome Signaling.* Cell, 2015. 163(6): p. 1428-43.
- 117. Wlodarska, M., C.A. Thaiss, R. Nowarski, J. Henao-Mejia, J.P. Zhang, E.M. Brown, G. Frankel, M. Levy, M.N. Katz, W.M. Philbrick, E. Elinav, B.B. Finlay, and R.A. Flavell, *NLRP6 inflammasome orchestrates the colonic host-microbial interface by regulating goblet cell mucus secretion.* Cell, 2014. 156(5): p. 1045-59.
- 118. Elinav, E., T. Strowig, A.L. Kau, J. Henao-Mejia, C.A. Thaiss, C.J. Booth, D.R. Peaper, J. Bertin, S.C. Eisenbarth, J.I. Gordon, and R.A. Flavell, *NLRP6 inflammasome regulates colonic microbial ecology and risk for colitis.* Cell, 2011. 145(5): p. 745-57.
- 119. Normand, S., A. Delanoye-Crespin, A. Bressenot, L. Huot, T. Grandjean, L. Peyrin-Biroulet, Y. Lemoine, D. Hot, and M. Chamaillard, *Nod-like receptor pyrin domaincontaining protein 6 (NLRP6) controls epithelial self-renewal and colorectal carcinogenesis upon injury.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011. 108(23): p. 9601-6.
- 120. Mowat, A.M. and W.W. Agace, *Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2014. 14(10): p. 667-85.
- 121. Bain, C.C. and A.M. Mowat, *Macrophages in intestinal homeostasis and inflammation.* Immunol Rev, 2014. 260(1): p. 102-17.
- 122. Patel, A.A., Y. Zhang, J.N. Fullerton, L. Boelen, A. Rongvaux, A.A. Maini, V. Bigley, R.A. Flavell, D.W. Gilroy, B. Asquith, D. Macallan, and S. Yona, *The fate and lifespan of human monocyte subsets in steady state and systemic inflammation.* J Exp Med, 2017. 214(7): p. 1913-1923.
- 123. Bain, C.C., C.L. Scott, H. Uronen-Hansson, S. Gudjonsson, O. Jansson, O. Grip, M. Guilliams, B. Malissen, W.W. Agace, and A.M. Mowat, *Resident and pro-inflammatory*

*macrophages in the colon represent alternative context-dependent fates of the same Ly6Chi monocyte precursors.* Mucosal Immunol, 2013. 6(3): p. 498-510.

- 124. Grainger, J.R., J.E. Konkel, T. Zangerle-Murray, and T.N. Shaw, *Macrophages in gastrointestinal homeostasis and inflammation.* Pflugers Arch, 2017. 469(3-4): p. 527-539.
- 125. Takeda, K., B.E. Clausen, T. Kaisho, T. Tsujimura, N. Terada, I. Forster, and S. Akira, Enhanced Th1 activity and development of chronic enterocolitis in mice devoid of Stat3 in macrophages and neutrophils. Immunity, 1999. 10(1): p. 39-49.
- 126. Ueda, Y., H. Kayama, S.G. Jeon, T. Kusu, Y. Isaka, H. Rakugi, M. Yamamoto, and K. Takeda, *Commensal microbiota induce LPS hyporesponsiveness in colonic macrophages via the production of IL-10.* Int Immunol, 2010. 22(12): p. 953-62.
- 127. Murai, M., O. Turovskaya, G. Kim, R. Madan, C.L. Karp, H. Cheroutre, and M. Kronenberg, *Interleukin 10 acts on regulatory T cells to maintain expression of the transcription factor Foxp3 and suppressive function in mice with colitis.* Nat Immunol, 2009. 10(11): p. 1178-84.
- 128. Cerovic, V., C.C. Bain, A.M. Mowat, and S.W. Milling, *Intestinal macrophages and dendritic cells: what's the difference?* Trends Immunol, 2014. 35(6): p. 270-7.
- 129. Shouval, D.S., A. Biswas, J.A. Goettel, K. McCann, E. Conaway, N.S. Redhu, I.D. Mascanfroni, Z. Al Adham, S. Lavoie, M. Ibourk, D.D. Nguyen, J.N. Samsom, J.C. Escher, R. Somech, B. Weiss, R. Beier, L.S. Conklin, C.L. Ebens, F.G. Santos, A.R. Ferreira, M. Sherlock, A.K. Bhan, W. Muller, J.R. Mora, F.J. Quintana, C. Klein, A.M. Muise, B.H. Horwitz, and S.B. Snapper, *Interleukin-10 receptor signaling in innate immune cells regulates mucosal immune tolerance and anti-inflammatory macrophage function.* Immunity, 2014. 40(5): p. 706-19.
- Zigmond, E., B. Bernshtein, G. Friedlander, C.R. Walker, S. Yona, K.W. Kim, O. Brenner, R. Krauthgamer, C. Varol, W. Muller, and S. Jung, *Macrophage-restricted interleukin-10 receptor deficiency, but not IL-10 deficiency, causes severe spontaneous colitis.* Immunity, 2014. 40(5): p. 720-33.
- 131. Yang, J., L. Zhang, C. Yu, X.F. Yang, and H. Wang, *Monocyte and macrophage differentiation: circulation inflammatory monocyte as biomarker for inflammatory diseases.* Biomark Res, 2014. 2(1): p. 1.

- 132. Marlow, G.J., D. van Gent, and L.R. Ferguson, *Why interleukin-10 supplementation does not work in Crohn's disease patients.* World J Gastroenterol, 2013. 19(25): p. 3931-41.
- 133. Bain, C.C., A. Bravo-Blas, C.L. Scott, E.G. Perdiguero, F. Geissmann, S. Henri, B. Malissen, L.C. Osborne, D. Artis, and A.M. Mowat, *Constant replenishment from circulating monocytes maintains the macrophage pool in the intestine of adult mice.* Nat Immunol, 2014. 15(10): p. 929-937.
- 134. Smith, P.D., L.E. Smythies, R. Shen, T. Greenwell-Wild, M. Gliozzi, and S.M. Wahl, Intestinal macrophages and response to microbial encroachment. Mucosal Immunol, 2011. 4(1): p. 31-42.
- 135. Sun, M., C. He, Y. Cong, and Z. Liu, *Regulatory immune cells in regulation of intestinal inflammatory response to microbiota.* Mucosal Immunol, 2015. 8(5): p. 969-978.
- 136. Bogunovic, M., F. Ginhoux, J. Helft, L. Shang, D. Hashimoto, M. Greter, K. Liu, C. Jakubzick, M.A. Ingersoll, M. Leboeuf, E.R. Stanley, M. Nussenzweig, S.A. Lira, G.J. Randolph, and M. Merad, *Origin of the lamina propria dendritic cell network.* Immunity, 2009. 31(3): p. 513-25.
- 137. Ruane, D.T. and E.C. Lavelle, *The role of CD103(+) dendritic cells in the intestinal mucosal immune system.* Front Immunol, 2011. 2: p. 25.
- 138. Bernatchez, E., A. Langlois, J. Brassard, N. Flamand, D. Marsolais, and M.R. Blanchet, *Hypersensitivity pneumonitis onset and severity is regulated by CD103 dendritic cell expression.* PLoS One, 2017. 12(6): p. e0179678.
- 139. Denning, T.L., B.A. Norris, O. Medina-Contreras, S. Manicassamy, D. Geem, R. Madan, C.L. Karp, and B. Pulendran, *Functional specializations of intestinal dendritic cell and macrophage subsets that control Th17 and regulatory T cell responses are dependent on the T cell/APC ratio, source of mouse strain, and regional localization.* J Immunol, 2011. 187(2): p. 733-47.
- 140. Schlitzer, A., N. McGovern, P. Teo, T. Zelante, K. Atarashi, D. Low, A.W. Ho, P. See, A. Shin, P.S. Wasan, G. Hoeffel, B. Malleret, A. Heiseke, S. Chew, L. Jardine, H.A. Purvis, C.M. Hilkens, J. Tam, M. Poidinger, E.R. Stanley, A.B. Krug, L. Renia, B. Sivasankar, L.G. Ng, M. Collin, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, K. Honda, M. Haniffa, and F. Ginhoux, *IRF4 transcription factor-dependent CD11b+ dendritic cells in human and mouse control mucosal IL-17 cytokine responses.* Immunity, 2013. 38(5): p. 970-83.

- 141. Welty, N.E., C. Staley, N. Ghilardi, M.J. Sadowsky, B.Z. Igyarto, and D.H. Kaplan, Intestinal lamina propria dendritic cells maintain T cell homeostasis but do not affect commensalism. J Exp Med, 2013. 210(10): p. 2011-24.
- 142. Cerovic, V., S.A. Houston, C.L. Scott, A. Aumeunier, U. Yrlid, A.M. Mowat, and S.W.
   Milling, *Intestinal CD103(-) dendritic cells migrate in lymph and prime effector T cells.* Mucosal Immunol, 2013. 6(1): p. 104-13.
- Scott, C.L., C.C. Bain, P.B. Wright, D. Sichien, K. Kotarsky, E.K. Persson, K. Luda, M. Guilliams, B.N. Lambrecht, W.W. Agace, S.W. Milling, and A.M. Mowat, *CCR2(+)CD103(- ) intestinal dendritic cells develop from DC-committed precursors and induce interleukin- 17 production by T cells.* Mucosal Immunol, 2015. 8(2): p. 327-39.
- 144. Shan, M., M. Gentile, J.R. Yeiser, A.C. Walland, V.U. Bornstein, K. Chen, B. He, L. Cassis, A. Bigas, M. Cols, L. Comerma, B. Huang, J.M. Blander, H. Xiong, L. Mayer, C. Berin, L.H. Augenlicht, A. Velcich, and A. Cerutti, *Mucus enhances gut homeostasis and oral tolerance by delivering immunoregulatory signals.* Science, 2013. 342(6157): p. 447-53.
- 145. Satpathy, A.T., C.G. Briseno, J.S. Lee, D. Ng, N.A. Manieri, W. Kc, X. Wu, S.R. Thomas, W.L. Lee, M. Turkoz, K.G. McDonald, M.M. Meredith, C. Song, C.J. Guidos, R.D. Newberry, W. Ouyang, T.L. Murphy, T.S. Stappenbeck, J.L. Gommerman, M.C. Nussenzweig, M. Colonna, R. Kopan, and K.M. Murphy, *Notch2-dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attaching-and-effacing bacterial pathogens.* Nat Immunol, 2013. 14(9): p. 937-48.
- 146. Randall, T.D., D.M. Carragher, and J. Rangel-Moreno, *Development of secondary lymphoid organs.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2008. 26: p. 627-50.
- 147. Tait Wojno, E.D. and D. Artis, *Innate lymphoid cells: balancing immunity, inflammation, and tissue repair in the intestine.* Cell Host Microbe, 2012. 12(4): p. 445-57.
- Vivier, E., D. Artis, M. Colonna, A. Diefenbach, J.P. Di Santo, G. Eberl, S. Koyasu, R.M. Locksley, A.N.J. McKenzie, R.E. Mebius, F. Powrie, and H. Spits, *Innate Lymphoid Cells:* 10 Years On. Cell, 2018. 174(5): p. 1054-1066.
- 149. Walker, J.A., J.L. Barlow, and A.N. McKenzie, *Innate lymphoid cells-how did we miss them?* Nat Rev Immunol, 2013. 13(2): p. 75-87.
- 150. Eberl, G., M. Colonna, J.P. Di Santo, and A.N. McKenzie, *Innate lymphoid cells. Innate lymphoid cells: a new paradigm in immunology.* Science, 2015. 348(6237): p. aaa6566.

- 151. Forkel, M. and J. Mjosberg, *Dysregulation of Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells in the Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease.* Curr Allergy Asthma Rep, 2016. 16(10): p. 73.
- 152. Kramer, B., F. Goeser, P. Lutz, A. Glassner, C. Boesecke, C. Schwarze-Zander, D. Kaczmarek, H.D. Nischalke, V. Branchi, S. Manekeller, R. Huneburg, T. van Bremen, T. Weismuller, C.P. Strassburg, J.K. Rockstroh, U. Spengler, and J. Nattermann, *Compartment-specific distribution of human intestinal innate lymphoid cells is altered in HIV patients under effective therapy.* PLoS Pathog, 2017. 13(5): p. e1006373.
- 153. Neill, D.R. and R.J. Flynn, *Origins and evolution of innate lymphoid cells: Wardens of barrier immunity.* Parasite Immunol, 2018. 40(2).
- 154. Qiu, J., J.J. Heller, X. Guo, Z.M. Chen, K. Fish, Y.X. Fu, and L. Zhou, *The aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates gut immunity through modulation of innate lymphoid cells.* Immunity, 2012. 36(1): p. 92-104.
- 155. Sawa, S., M. Lochner, N. Satoh-Takayama, S. Dulauroy, M. Berard, M. Kleinschek, D. Cua, J.P. Di Santo, and G. Eberl, *RORgammat+ innate lymphoid cells regulate intestinal homeostasis by integrating negative signals from the symbiotic microbiota.* Nat Immunol, 2011. 12(4): p. 320-6.
- 156. Wolk, K., S. Kunz, E. Witte, M. Friedrich, K. Asadullah, and R. Sabat, *IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues.* Immunity, 2004. 21(2): p. 241-54.
- 157. Geremia, A. and C.V. Arancibia-Carcamo, *Innate Lymphoid Cells in Intestinal Inflammation.* Front Immunol, 2017. 8: p. 1296.
- 158. Hepworth, M.R., L.A. Monticelli, T.C. Fung, C.G. Ziegler, S. Grunberg, R. Sinha, A.R. Mantegazza, H.L. Ma, A. Crawford, J.M. Angelosanto, E.J. Wherry, P.A. Koni, F.D. Bushman, C.O. Elson, G. Eberl, D. Artis, and G.F. Sonnenberg, *Innate lymphoid cells regulate CD4+ T-cell responses to intestinal commensal bacteria.* Nature, 2013. 498(7452): p. 113-7.
- Lim, A.I., S. Menegatti, J. Bustamante, L. Le Bourhis, M. Allez, L. Rogge, J.L. Casanova,
  H. Yssel, and J.P. Di Santo, *IL-12 drives functional plasticity of human group 2 innate lymphoid cells.* J Exp Med, 2016. 213(4): p. 569-83.
- Pearson, C., E.E. Thornton, B. McKenzie, A.L. Schaupp, N. Huskens, T. Griseri, N. West,
   S. Tung, B.P. Seddon, H.H. Uhlig, and F. Powrie, *ILC3 GM-CSF production and mobilisation orchestrate acute intestinal inflammation.* Elife, 2016. 5: p. e10066.

- 161. Ivanov, II, B.S. McKenzie, L. Zhou, C.E. Tadokoro, A. Lepelley, J.J. Lafaille, D.J. Cua, and D.R. Littman, *The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells.* Cell, 2006. 126(6): p. 1121-33.
- 162. Sathaliyawala, T., M. Kubota, N. Yudanin, D. Turner, P. Camp, J.J. Thome, K.L. Bickham, H. Lerner, M. Goldstein, M. Sykes, T. Kato, and D.L. Farber, *Distribution and compartmentalization of human circulating and tissue-resident memory T cell subsets.* Immunity, 2013. 38(1): p. 187-97.
- Veenbergen, S. and J.N. Samsom, *Maintenance of small intestinal and colonic tolerance by IL-10-producing regulatory T cell subsets.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2012. 24(3): p. 269-76.
- 164. O'Connor, W., Jr., L.A. Zenewicz, and R.A. Flavell, *The dual nature of T(H)17 cells: shifting the focus to function.* Nat Immunol, 2010. 11(6): p. 471-6.
- Siakavellas, S.I. and G. Bamias, *Role of the IL-23/IL-17 axis in Crohn's disease.* Discov Med, 2012. 14(77): p. 253-62.
- Hadis, U., B. Wahl, O. Schulz, M. Hardtke-Wolenski, A. Schippers, N. Wagner, W. Muller,
  T. Sparwasser, R. Forster, and O. Pabst, *Intestinal tolerance requires gut homing and expansion of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in the lamina propria.* Immunity, 2011. 34(2): p. 237-46.
- Barrett, J.C., S. Hansoul, D.L. Nicolae, J.H. Cho, R.H. Duerr, J.D. Rioux, S.R. Brant, M.S. Silverberg, K.D. Taylor, M.M. Barmada, A. Bitton, T. Dassopoulos, L.W. Datta, T. Green, A.M. Griffiths, E.O. Kistner, M.T. Murtha, M.D. Regueiro, J.I. Rotter, L.P. Schumm, A.H. Steinhart, S.R. Targan, R.J. Xavier, C. Libioulle, C. Sandor, M. Lathrop, J. Belaiche, O. Dewit, I. Gut, S. Heath, D. Laukens, M. Mni, P. Rutgeerts, A. Van Gossum, D. Zelenika, D. Franchimont, J.P. Hugot, M. de Vos, S. Vermeire, E. Louis, L.R. Cardon, C.A. Anderson, H. Drummond, E. Nimmo, T. Ahmad, N.J. Prescott, C.M. Onnie, S.A. Fisher, J. Marchini, J. Ghori, S. Bumpstead, R. Gwilliam, M. Tremelling, P. Deloukas, J. Mansfield, D. Jewell, J. Satsangi, C.G. Mathew, M. Parkes, M. Georges, and M.J. Daly, *Genome-wide association defines more than 30 distinct susceptibility loci for Crohn's disease.* Nat Genet, 2008. 40(8): p. 955-62.
- 168. Muzes, G., B. Molnar, Z. Tulassay, and F. Sipos, *Changes of the cytokine profile in inflammatory bowel diseases.* World J Gastroenterol, 2012. 18(41): p. 5848-61.

- 169. Macpherson, A.J., K.D. McCoy, F.E. Johansen, and P. Brandtzaeg, *The immune geography of IgA induction and function.* Mucosal Immunol, 2008. 1(1): p. 11-22.
- Woof, J.M. and J. Mestecky, *Mucosal immunoglobulins.* Immunol Rev, 2005. 206: p. 64-82.
- 171. Pakkanen, S.H., J.M. Kantele, Z. Moldoveanu, S. Hedges, M. Hakkinen, J. Mestecky, and A. Kantele, *Expression of homing receptors on IgA1 and IgA2 plasmablasts in blood reflects differential distribution of IgA1 and IgA2 in various body fluids.* Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2010. 17(3): p. 393-401.
- 172. Lin, M., L. Du, P. Brandtzaeg, and Q. Pan-Hammarstrom, *IgA subclass switch recombination in human mucosal and systemic immune compartments.* Mucosal Immunol, 2014. 7(3): p. 511-20.
- Lodes, M.J., Y. Cong, C.O. Elson, R. Mohamath, C.J. Landers, S.R. Targan, M. Fort, and R.M. Hershberg, *Bacterial flagellin is a dominant antigen in Crohn disease.* J Clin Invest, 2004. 113(9): p. 1296-306.
- 174. Duerr, R.H., S.R. Targan, C.J. Landers, N.F. LaRusso, K.L. Lindsay, R.H. Wiesner, and F. Shanahan, *Neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies: a link between primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis.* Gastroenterology, 1991. 100(5 Pt 1): p. 1385-91.
- 175. Mow, W.S., E.A. Vasiliauskas, Y.C. Lin, P.R. Fleshner, K.A. Papadakis, K.D. Taylor, C.J. Landers, M.T. Abreu-Martin, J.I. Rotter, H. Yang, and S.R. Targan, Association of antibody responses to microbial antigens and complications of small bowel Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology, 2004. 126(2): p. 414-24.
- 176. Hooper, L.V., D.R. Littman, and A.J. Macpherson, *Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system.* Science, 2012. 336(6086): p. 1268-73.
- Koh, A., F. De Vadder, P. Kovatcheva-Datchary, and F. Backhed, *From Dietary Fiber to Host Physiology: Short-Chain Fatty Acids as Key Bacterial Metabolites.* Cell, 2016. 165(6): p. 1332-1345.
- Macfarlane, S. and G.T. Macfarlane, *Regulation of short-chain fatty acid production*. Proc Nutr Soc, 2003. 62(1): p. 67-72.
- Belenguer, A., S.H. Duncan, A.G. Calder, G. Holtrop, P. Louis, G.E. Lobley, and H.J. Flint, *Two routes of metabolic cross-feeding between Bifidobacterium adolescentis and butyrate-producing anaerobes from the human gut.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 2006. 72(5): p. 3593-9.

- 180. Bourriaud, C., R.J. Robins, L. Martin, F. Kozlowski, E. Tenailleau, C. Cherbut, and C. Michel, *Lactate is mainly fermented to butyrate by human intestinal microfloras but inter-individual variation is evident.* J Appl Microbiol, 2005. 99(1): p. 201-12.
- 181. Huda-Faujan, N., A.S. Abdulamir, A.B. Fatimah, O.M. Anas, M. Shuhaimi, A.M. Yazid, and Y.Y. Loong, *The impact of the level of the intestinal short chain Fatty acids in inflammatory bowel disease patients versus healthy subjects.* Open Biochem J, 2010. 4: p. 53-8.
- 182. Morrison, D.J. and T. Preston, *Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism.* Gut Microbes, 2016. 7(3): p. 189-200.
- 183. Derrien, M., E.E. Vaughan, C.M. Plugge, and W.M. de Vos, *Akkermansia muciniphila gen. nov., sp. nov., a human intestinal mucin-degrading bacterium.* Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 2004. 54(Pt 5): p. 1469-76.
- 184. Ouwerkerk, J.P., K.C.H. van der Ark, M. Davids, N.J. Claassens, T.R. Finestra, W.M. de Vos, and C. Belzer, *Adaptation of Akkermansia muciniphila to the Oxic-Anoxic Interface of the Mucus Layer*. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2016. 82(23): p. 6983-6993.
- 185. Louis, P., P. Young, G. Holtrop, and H.J. Flint, *Diversity of human colonic butyrate-producing bacteria revealed by analysis of the butyryl-CoA:acetate CoA-transferase gene.* Environ Microbiol, 2010. 12(2): p. 304-14.
- Ragsdale, S.W. and E. Pierce, *Acetogenesis and the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway of CO(2) fixation.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2008. 1784(12): p. 1873-98.
- 187. Hetzel, M., M. Brock, T. Selmer, A.J. Pierik, B.T. Golding, and W. Buckel, Acryloyl-CoA reductase from Clostridium propionicum. An enzyme complex of propionyl-CoA dehydrogenase and electron-transferring flavoprotein. Eur J Biochem, 2003. 270(5): p. 902-10.
- 188. Scott, K.P., J.C. Martin, G. Campbell, C.D. Mayer, and H.J. Flint, *Whole-genome transcription profiling reveals genes up-regulated by growth on fucose in the human gut bacterium "Roseburia inulinivorans".* J Bacteriol, 2006. 188(12): p. 4340-9.
- 189. Louis, P., S.H. Duncan, S.I. McCrae, J. Millar, M.S. Jackson, and H.J. Flint, *Restricted distribution of the butyrate kinase pathway among butyrate-producing bacteria from the human colon.* J Bacteriol, 2004. 186(7): p. 2099-106.
- Kelly, C.J., L. Zheng, E.L. Campbell, B. Saeedi, C.C. Scholz, A.J. Bayless, K.E. Wilson,
   L.E. Glover, D.J. Kominsky, A. Magnuson, T.L. Weir, S.F. Ehrentraut, C. Pickel, K.A.
Kuhn, J.M. Lanis, V. Nguyen, C.T. Taylor, and S.P. Colgan, *Crosstalk between Microbiota-Derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Intestinal Epithelial HIF Augments Tissue Barrier Function.* Cell Host Microbe, 2015. 17(5): p. 662-71.

- 191. Donohoe, D.R., N. Garge, X. Zhang, W. Sun, T.M. O'Connell, M.K. Bunger, and S.J. Bultman, *The microbiome and butyrate regulate energy metabolism and autophagy in the mammalian colon.* Cell Metab, 2011. 13(5): p. 517-26.
- 192. Machiels, K., M. Joossens, J. Sabino, V. De Preter, I. Arijs, V. Eeckhaut, V. Ballet, K. Claes, F. Van Immerseel, K. Verbeke, M. Ferrante, J. Verhaegen, P. Rutgeerts, and S. Vermeire, *A decrease of the butyrate-producing species Roseburia hominis and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii defines dysbiosis in patients with ulcerative colitis.* Gut, 2014. 63(8): p. 1275-83.
- Sokol, H., B. Pigneur, L. Watterlot, O. Lakhdari, L.G. Bermudez-Humaran, J.J. Gratadoux, S. Blugeon, C. Bridonneau, J.P. Furet, G. Corthier, C. Grangette, N. Vasquez, P. Pochart, G. Trugnan, G. Thomas, H.M. Blottiere, J. Dore, P. Marteau, P. Seksik, and P. Langella, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. 105(43): p. 16731-6.
- 194. Chang, P.V., L. Hao, S. Offermanns, and R. Medzhitov, *The microbial metabolite butyrate regulates intestinal macrophage function via histone deacetylase inhibition.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. 111(6): p. 2247-52.
- Bollrath, J. and F. Powrie, *Immunology. Feed your Tregs more fiber.* Science, 2013. 341(6145): p. 463-4.
- 196. Katz, J.P., N. Perreault, B.G. Goldstein, C.S. Lee, P.A. Labosky, V.W. Yang, and K.H. Kaestner, *The zinc-finger transcription factor Klf4 is required for terminal differentiation of goblet cells in the colon.* Development, 2002. 129(11): p. 2619-28.
- 197. Zhang, L.S. and S.S. Davies, *Microbial metabolism of dietary components to bioactive metabolites: opportunities for new therapeutic interventions.* Genome Med, 2016. 8(1):
   p. 46.
- Liu, J.Z., S. van Sommeren, H. Huang, S.C. Ng, R. Alberts, A. Takahashi, S. Ripke, J.C. Lee, L. Jostins, T. Shah, S. Abedian, J.H. Cheon, J. Cho, N.E. Dayani, L. Franke, Y. Fuyuno, A. Hart, R.C. Juyal, G. Juyal, W.H. Kim, A.P. Morris, H. Poustchi, W.G. Newman, V. Midha, T.R. Orchard, H. Vahedi, A. Sood, J.Y. Sung, R. Malekzadeh, H.J. Westra, K.

Yamazaki, S.K. Yang, J.C. Barrett, B.Z. Alizadeh, M. Parkes, T. Bk, M.J. Daly, M. Kubo, C.A. Anderson, and R.K. Weersma, *Association analyses identify 38 susceptibility loci for inflammatory bowel disease and highlight shared genetic risk across populations.* Nat Genet, 2015. 47(9): p. 979-986.

- 199. Shaw, M.H., N. Kamada, N. Warner, Y.G. Kim, and G. Nunez, *The ever-expanding function of NOD2: autophagy, viral recognition, and T cell activation.* Trends Immunol, 2011. 32(2): p. 73-9.
- 200. de Souza, H.S. and C. Fiocchi, *Immunopathogenesis of IBD: current state of the art.* Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2016. 13(1): p. 13-27.
- Ogura, Y., D.K. Bonen, N. Inohara, D.L. Nicolae, F.F. Chen, R. Ramos, H. Britton, T. Moran, R. Karaliuskas, R.H. Duerr, J.P. Achkar, S.R. Brant, T.M. Bayless, B.S. Kirschner, S.B. Hanauer, G. Nunez, and J.H. Cho, *A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease.* Nature, 2001. 411(6837): p. 603-6.
- 202. Hampe, J., A. Franke, P. Rosenstiel, A. Till, M. Teuber, K. Huse, M. Albrecht, G. Mayr, F.M. De La Vega, J. Briggs, S. Gunther, N.J. Prescott, C.M. Onnie, R. Hasler, B. Sipos, U.R. Folsch, T. Lengauer, M. Platzer, C.G. Mathew, M. Krawczak, and S. Schreiber, *A* genome-wide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. Nat Genet, 2007. 39(2): p. 207-11.
- 203. Hoefkens, E., K. Nys, J.M. John, K. Van Steen, I. Arijs, J. Van der Goten, G. Van Assche,
  P. Agostinis, P. Rutgeerts, S. Vermeire, and I. Cleynen, *Genetic association and functional role of Crohn disease risk alleles involved in microbial sensing, autophagy, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress.* Autophagy, 2013. 9(12): p. 2046-55.
- Brown, E.M., M. Sadarangani, and B.B. Finlay, *The role of the immune system in governing host-microbe interactions in the intestine.* Nat Immunol, 2013. 14(7): p. 660-7.
- 205. Chassaing, B., J.D. Aitken, M. Malleshappa, and M. Vijay-Kumar, *Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice.* Curr Protoc Immunol, 2014. 104: p. Unit 15.25.
- 206. Kiesler, P., I.J. Fuss, and W. Strober, *Experimental Models of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases.* Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2015. 1(2): p. 154-170.
- 207. Mizoguchi, A., *Animal models of inflammatory bowel disease.* Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci, 2012. 105: p. 263-320.

- 208. Laroui, H., S.A. Ingersoll, H.C. Liu, M.T. Baker, S. Ayyadurai, M.A. Charania, F. Laroui, Y. Yan, S.V. Sitaraman, and D. Merlin, *Dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) induces colitis in mice by forming nano-lipocomplexes with medium-chain-length fatty acids in the colon.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(3): p. e32084.
- 209. Eichele, D.D. and K.K. Kharbanda, *Dextran sodium sulfate colitis murine model: An indispensable tool for advancing our understanding of inflammatory bowel diseases pathogenesis.* World J Gastroenterol, 2017. 23(33): p. 6016-6029.
- 210. Krieglstein, C.F., W.H. Cerwinka, A.G. Sprague, F.S. Laroux, M.B. Grisham, V.E. Koteliansky, N. Senninger, D.N. Granger, and A.R. de Fougerolles, *Collagen-binding integrin alpha1beta1 regulates intestinal inflammation in experimental colitis.* J Clin Invest, 2002. 110(12): p. 1773-82.
- Manicassamy, S. and I. Manoharan, *Mouse models of acute and chronic colitis.* Methods Mol Biol, 2014. 1194: p. 437-48.
- 212. Powrie, F., *T cells in inflammatory bowel disease: protective and pathogenic roles.* Immunity, 1995. 3(2): p. 171-4.
- 213. Powrie, F., M.W. Leach, S. Mauze, S. Menon, L.B. Caddle, and R.L. Coffman, *Inhibition* of *Th1 responses prevents inflammatory bowel disease in scid mice reconstituted with CD45RBhi CD4+ T cells.* Immunity, 1994. 1(7): p. 553-62.
- 214. Ostanin, D.V., K.P. Pavlick, S. Bharwani, D. D'Souza, K.L. Furr, C.M. Brown, and M.B. Grisham, *T cell-induced inflammation of the small and large intestine in immunodeficient mice.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2006. 290(1): p. G109-19.
- 215. Kennedy, R.J., M. Hoper, K. Deodhar, P.J. Erwin, S.J. Kirk, and K.R. Gardiner, *Interleukin 10-deficient colitis: new similarities to human inflammatory bowel disease.* Br J Surg, 2000. 87(10): p. 1346-51.
- 216. Kim, Y.G., M.H. Shaw, N. Warner, J.H. Park, F. Chen, Y. Ogura, and G. Nunez, *Cutting edge: Crohn's disease-associated Nod2 mutation limits production of proinflammatory cytokines to protect the host from Enterococcus faecalis-induced lethality.* J Immunol, 2011. 187(6): p. 2849-52.
- 217. Netea, M.G., G. Ferwerda, D.J. de Jong, C. Werts, I.G. Boneca, M. Jehanno, J.W. Van Der Meer, D. Mengin-Lecreulx, P.J. Sansonetti, D.J. Philpott, S. Dharancy, and S.E. Girardin, *The frameshift mutation in Nod2 results in unresponsiveness not only to Nod2-*

*but also Nod1-activating peptidoglycan agonists.* J Biol Chem, 2005. 280(43): p. 35859-67.

- Barreau, F., U. Meinzer, F. Chareyre, D. Berrebi, M. Niwa-Kawakita, M. Dussaillant, B. Foligne, V. Ollendorff, M. Heyman, S. Bonacorsi, T. Lesuffleur, G. Sterkers, M. Giovannini, and J.P. Hugot, *CARD15/NOD2 is required for Peyer's patches homeostasis in mice.* PLoS One, 2007. 2(6): p. e523.
- Couturier-Maillard, A., T. Secher, A. Rehman, S. Normand, A. De Arcangelis, R. Haesler, L. Huot, T. Grandjean, A. Bressenot, A. Delanoye-Crespin, O. Gaillot, S. Schreiber, Y. Lemoine, B. Ryffel, D. Hot, G. Nunez, G. Chen, P. Rosenstiel, and M. Chamaillard, *NOD2-mediated dysbiosis predisposes mice to transmissible colitis and colorectal cancer.* J Clin Invest, 2013. 123(2): p. 700-11.
- 220. McCormick, B.A., *Using Salmonella enterica serotype typhimurium to model intestinal fibrosis.* Gastroenterology, 2008. 134(3): p. 872-5.
- Wenzel, U.A., M.K. Magnusson, A. Rydstrom, C. Jonstrand, J. Hengst, M.E. Johansson,
   A. Velcich, L. Ohman, H. Strid, H. Sjovall, G.C. Hansson, and M.J. Wick, *Spontaneous colitis in Muc2-deficient mice reflects clinical and cellular features of active ulcerative colitis.* PLoS One, 2014. 9(6): p. e100217.
- 222. Antoni, L., S. Nuding, J. Wehkamp, and E.F. Stange, *Intestinal barrier in inflammatory bowel disease.* World J Gastroenterol, 2014. 20(5): p. 1165-79.
- Mosig, A.S., *Organ-on-chip models: new opportunities for biomedical research.* Future Sci OA, 2017. 3(2): p. Fso130.
- 224. Shim, K.Y., D. Lee, J. Han, N.T. Nguyen, S. Park, and J.H. Sung, *Microfluidic gut-on-a-chip with three-dimensional villi structure.* Biomed Microdevices, 2017. 19(2): p. 37.
- Bein, A., W. Shin, S. Jalili-Firoozinezhad, M.H. Park, A. Sontheimer-Phelps, A. Tovaglieri,
  A. Chalkiadaki, H.J. Kim, and D.E. Ingber, *Microfluidic Organ-on-a-Chip Models of Human Intestine.* Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2018. 5(4): p. 659-668.
- 226. Imura, Y., Y. Asano, K. Sato, and E. Yoshimura, *A microfluidic system to evaluate intestinal absorption.* Anal Sci, 2009. 25(12): p. 1403-7.
- 227. Shah, P., J.V. Fritz, E. Glaab, M.S. Desai, K. Greenhalgh, A. Frachet, M. Niegowska, M. Estes, C. Jager, C. Seguin-Devaux, F. Zenhausern, and P. Wilmes, *A microfluidics-based in vitro model of the gastrointestinal human-microbe interface.* Nat Commun, 2016. 7: p. 11535.

- 228. Kim, H.J., H. Li, J.J. Collins, and D.E. Ingber, *Contributions of microbiome and mechanical deformation to intestinal bacterial overgrowth and inflammation in a human gut-on-a-chip.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016. 113(1): p. E7-15.
- 229. Grundy, D. and M. Schemann, *Enteric nervous system.* Curr Opin Gastroenterol, 2005. 21(2): p. 176-82.

Chapter I | General Introduction

**CHAPTER II** 

### AKKERMANSIA AND PARABACTEROIDES SPECIES ENRICHMENT AMONG THE COLONIC MICROBIOTA ASSOCIATES WITH PROTECTION AGAINST COLITIS

# *Akkermansia* and *Parabacteroides* species enrichment among the colonic microbiota associates with protection against colitis

#### **IN BRIEF**

Colonic enrichment in *Akkermansia muciniphila* and *Parabacteroides distasonis* in the intestine is associated with protection against ulcerative colitis development. The protective effect is related with a beneficial effect on gut epithelial barrier that becomes more prepared to sustain an inflammatory insult.

#### HIGHLIGHTS

- Genetically similar mice from different animal facilities evidenced a striking opposite phenotype upon chemically induced colitis, with a group of mice displaying a remarkable protection against disease development.
- The protective phenotype is associated with an overexpression of genes encoding for proteins associated with intestinal epithelial barrier function, such as claudins and mucins as well as higher levels of IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22.
- Resistant mice also display increased number of goblet cells per crypt under homeostatic conditions when compared to susceptible mice, reinforcing the presence of a healthier epithelial barrier.
- The resistance phenotype is transmissible by fecal microbiota transplant of stool contents from resistant to susceptible mice.
- A combination of metagenomic and metabolomic analyses allowed to identify microbial organisms and metabolic products associated with the protective phenotype.
- Among the species found to be statistically enriched in resistant mice, *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* were found to be the most significantly increased in mice displaying a natural or fecal microbiota transplant-induced resistant phenotype.

#### ABSTRACT

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a group of inflammatory conditions of the gastrointestinal tract. Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are the principal forms of the disease. The etiology of IBD remains elusive, but it is known that this pathology arises from the interaction of environmental and genetic factors that trigger inadequate immune responses and inflammation in the intestine, which in turn affect the balance in gut microbiota and the intestinal epithelial barrier. While chemically inducing colitis in mice from two distinct animal facilities, we unexpectedly observed that one group showed remarkable resistant to disease development. A combination of metagenomic and metabolomic analyses demonstrated that the two groups of mice have distinct microbiota and metabolic signatures. We identified Akkermansia muciniphila and Parabacteroides distasonis as significantly increased in the microbiota of resistant mice. Indeed, these bacteria can be at the genesis of the protective phenotype, since by fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from resistant to susceptible mice, the latter become not only protected against colitis, but also enriched in these bacteria. Resistant mice have increased levels of IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22 and also higher expression of claudin- and mucin-encoding genes in homeostatic conditions as compared to susceptible mice. Simultaneously, by testing the bacterial candidates in colonic epithelial cells using a gut-on-a-chip platform, we found increased expression of E-cadherin when cells were incubated with A. muciniphila, which is in accordance with the previous *in vivo* findings. These results suggest that protection may be mediated by an intestinal epithelial barrier more prone to sustain an inflammatory insult. We are currently exploring the mechanisms by which these bacteria impact intestinal epithelial cells to induce protection against inflammation, using the gut-on-a-chip platform to then validate these findings in an *in vivo* susceptible model of colitis. These findings may pave the way towards the identification of novel players to promote a healthy intestinal environment, as well as promising therapeutic targets for IBD treatment.

#### INTRODUCTION

The mammalian gastrointestinal tract hosts a vast community of microbes, namely bacteria, fungi and viruses. These microorganisms have coevolved and established mutualistic relationships with the host, contributing for the complex ecosystem that is found in the intestine [1, 2]. This nutrient-rich microbial niche provided by the host is in turn compensated by the microbial contribution through the generation of vitamins, metabolites and other nutrients that are not accessible for the host unless via microbial metabolism [3]. A myriad of pathogen recognition receptors, such as Toll-like and NOD-like receptors, mediate the interaction between the cells present in the intestinal epithelial barrier and the microbiota by sensing and responding to the microbiota, which contributes to the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis through the secretion of factors such as antimicrobial peptides and mucus [4-6]. Also, the presence of an intestinal epithelial barrier avoids an excessive contact between microbial populations and the immune system [7]. A fine-tuned equilibrium between the microbiota, immune system and barrier function is therefore essential for a proper intestinal function and to maintain homeostasis. Nevertheless, disruptions in one or more of these counterparts may lead to functional imbalances and subsequently trigger intestinal pathologies, such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) [8].

IBD is a multifaceted inflammatory disorder with a considerable high disease burden in the world [9]. Comprising both Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), IBD has been challenging the medical intervention approaches due to the lack of information regarding the events leading to its inherent pathology and subsequently hampering the development of efficient therapies [10-12]. Although the etiology of IBD is still elusive, impairments in the intricate interaction between the gut microbiota composition and immune recognition, often enhanced by genetic susceptibility factors, have been pinpointed as the main cause for the occurrence of this disease [10, 13].

While analyzing dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in genetically similar C57BL/6 mice derived from two distinct animal facilities, we serendipitously observed a group of animals with a remarkable resistance to disease development. This protective phenotype was associated with an increased expression of claudin- and mucin-encoding genes in homeostatic conditions, as well as higher IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22 secretion. Moreover, we found that resistant and susceptible mice displayed a distinct metabolic profile, with 12 of the 37 identified

61

metabolites being significantly increased in resistant mice. Since a vast majority of the metabolites present in the gut are derived from bacterial metabolism, we analyzed the microbiota composition of these two groups of mice by metagenomics. We found that susceptible and resistant mice have a distinctive microbiota composition and, particularly, we identified Akkermansia muciniphila and Parabacteroides distasonis as significantly enriched in resistant mice. These bacteria can be at the genesis of the protective phenotype, since fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from resistant to susceptible mice was able to reverse colitis susceptibility. The putative protective effect of these bacterial candidates will be evaluated in an in vivo model of colitis that is currently ongoing. Moreover, the mechanism by which these bacteria can modulate intestinal function, namely epithelial barrier integrity, will be assessed in an optimized in vitro guton-a-chip platform. Using this intestinal environment mimicking device, we obtained preliminary results suggesting the beneficial effect of A. muciniphila on epithelial barrier, with increased expression of E-cadherin by epithelial cells. Hence, the findings collected in this work have shown that A. muciniphila and P. distasonis can act as beneficial players in promoting protection against ulcerative colitis, presumably by enhancing intestinal epithelial barrier and better sustaining an inflammatory insult. By pinpointing the mechanisms underlying the protective action of these bacteria, this work may give new insights towards a better understanding of IBD immunopathology.

#### **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### Animals

C57BL/6 mice used in this study were derived from two different animal facilities. While one group were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (France), the other group was previously originated from the same commercial enterprise, but was housed and bred at ICVS Animal Facilities, under specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions, for more than 15 generations. All animals used for FMT or colonization with specific bacteria were housed in biosafety level 2 facilities. Mice were euthanized by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation with efforts to minimize suffering. All experimental procedures were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. The animal studies were approved by the Ethical Council for Life and Health Sciences at the University of Minho (SECVS 003/2018), using FELASA guidelines and recommendations for laboratory animal experimentation.

#### **Colitis induction**

Mice with 7 to 9 weeks old were administered with dextran sulfate sodium (DSS; 3% (w/v), molecular weight approximately 40000 Da; TdB Consultancy) in the drinking water *ad libitum* for 7 days. Clinical signs of colitis were monitored daily and measured by the disease activity index (DAI). DAI comprises weight loss, stool consistency and bleeding assessment and it is obtained by the sum of the scores of each parameter (Table 2.1). Mice were euthanized in the end of each experiment or earlier, if the symptoms of clinical disease reached one of these endpoints: more than 20% weight loss (relatively to the initial weight), diarrhea or gross bleeding. For chronic colitis model, 2% DSS was given in the drinking water for 5 days in two subsequent phases with an interval of 3 weeks.

Score	Weight loss	Stool consistency	Bleeding
0	No loss	Normal	No blood
1	1-5%	Mild-soft	Brown color
2	6-10%	Very soft	Reddish color
3	11-20%	Diarrhea	Bloody stool
4	> 20%		Gross bleeding

Table II.1. Disease activity index (DAI) scores.

The final score is obtained by the sum of each parameter.

#### **Histological evaluation**

Samples from colons were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and 5 µm paraffin-embedded sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Inflammation was assessed in a blinded fashion by a pathologist, using a semi quantitatively-graded system as previously described (Table 2.2; [14]). Staining with Alcian Blue/Periodic Acid-Schiff (AB/PAS) of colon section was performed to evaluate polysaccharide structures. Goblet cell number was assessed for each experimental condition in a blinded fashion. Only intact crypts, cut longitudinally from crypt opening to bottom, were quantified. Images were captured using an Olympus BX61 microscope and recorded with a digital camera (DP70) using Cell^P software. Image analysis was performed using Fiji (ImageJ) software.

Score	Epithelial hyperplasia and goblet depletion	Leukocyte infiltration in the Lamina Propria	Affected area	Markers of severe inflammation
0	None	None/rare	None	None
1	Minimal	Increased	1/3	Increased
2	Mild	Confluent	2/3	Confluent
3	Marked	Transmural	All	Transmural

Table II.2. Parameters for histological analysis of colitis severity.

The final score is obtained by the sum of individual scores. Markers of severe inflammation included ulceration and crypt abscesses.

#### FITC-dextran intestinal permeability assay

*In vivo* intestinal permeability was assessed using a fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labelled dextran administration. Food and water were withdrawn for 8 hours. Mice were administered with 44 mg/100 g body weight of FITC-labelled dextran (TdB Consultancy; 4 kDa) by oral gavage. Serum was collected four hours later and fluorescence intensity was measured by spectrophotofluorimetry (excitation: 485 nm; emission: 528 nm). Serum was diluted 1:2 in PBS and concentrations were determined by correlation with a linear standard curve made using diluted FITC-labelled dextran in serum from untreated mice.

#### RNA extraction, cDNA and quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was isolated from colonic samples using TripleXtractor (Grisp) with mechanical disruption of the tissues on ice, followed by convertion into cDNA by reverse transcription with Xpert cDNA synthesis kit (Grisp). qRT-PCR was performed using KAPA SYBR FAST Universal

(Roche) on a Bio-Rad CFX6 Real-Time System C1000 Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad). Specific oligonucleotides for mouse mucin-encoding genes *Muc1*, *Muc2*, *Muc4* and *Muc13*, for claudinencoding genes *Cldn2*, *Cldn3*, *Cldn4*, *Cldn7* and *Cldn8*, for *Cdh1* (E-cadherin) and *Ocld* (occludin) are shown in Table 2.3. Assays were performed using the following protocol: one cycle of 95°C for 3 minutes, followed by 40 cycles of a two-stage temperature profile of 95°C for 3 seconds and 60°C for 30 seconds. Expression levels were normalized to ubiquitin (*Ubq*) and relative expression was determined based on the  $\Delta$ Ct method, as follows: 2<sup>(housekeeping gene mRNA expression)</sup> x 100000 [15].

Primer ID	Forward sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Reverse sequence (5'→ 3')	
Cdh1	CACCTGGAGAGAGGCCATGT	TGGGAAACATGAGCAGCTCT	
Cldn2	GGCTGTTAGGCACATCCAT	TGGCACCAACATAGGAACTC	
Cldn3	AAGCCGAATGGACAAAGAA	CTGGCAAGTAGCTGCAGTG	
Cldn4	CGCTACTCTTGCCATTACG	ACTCAGCACCATGACTTG	
Cldn7	AGGGTCTGCTCTGGTCCTT	GTACGCAGCTTTGCTTTCA	
Cldn8	GCCGGAATCATCTTCTTCAT	CATCCACCAGTGGGTTGTAG	
Muc1	CCCTATGAGGAGGTTTCGGC	AAGGGCATGAACAGCCTACC	
Muc2	TCCTGACCAAGAGCGAACAC	ACAGCACGACAGTCTTCAGG	
Muc4	AGGACCATCGTGCTCTCTCT	AGCATACTTAGGTTCAGAGCCA	
Muc13	CTGGCAGCTACATGAGCACT	GAACTACCCACGGTCACCAA	
Ocld	GCTGTGATGTGTGTTGAGCT	GACGGTCTACCTGGAGGAAC	
Ubq	TGGCTATTAATTATTCGGTCTGCAT	GCAAGTGGCTAGAGTGCAGAGTAA	
Am	CAGCACGTGAAGGTGGGGAC	CCTTGCGGTTGGCTTCAGAT	
Pd	TGCCTATCAGAGGGGGGATAAC	GCAAATATTCCCATGCGGGAT	

Table II.3. List of primers used for PCR.

#### Lamina propria leukocyte (LPL) isolation and flow cytometry analysis

To isolate lamina propria leukocytes (LPL), colons were flushed with Ca- and Mg-free PBS with 25 mM HEPES (Gibco), 50 mM sodium bicarbonate (Sigma-Aldrich) and 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gibco). Then, colons were opened longitudinally and cut into 0.5 to 1 cm pieces. These fragments were incubated in Ca- and Mg-free Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS; Gibco) containing 1.3 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich), 25 mM HEPES, 50 µg/mL penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco) and 2 mM L-Glutamine (Gibco), under 200 rpm agitation at 37°C for 40 minutes. Fragments were then transferred to new flasks and were incubated in RPMI 1640 medium

(Gibco) supplemented with 0.15 mg/mL collagenase D (Roche), 10% FBS, 25 mM HEPES, 50  $\mu$ g/mL penicillin/streptomycin and 2 mM L-Glutamine for 40 minutes under 200 rpm agitation at 37°C, before dissociation of the tissue and filtration through a 70  $\mu$ m cell strainer (BD Biosciences). Cell suspension was centrifuged and the pellet was resuspended in 40% Percoll (GE Healthcare), laid over 80% Percoll and centrifuged at 600g for 20 minutes at 20°C. Cells retained in the interface were collected, washed in RPMI containing 2% FBS and recovered. Cells were enumerated in 4% trypan blue on a hemocytometer.

Surface staining was performed with antibodies specific for mouse CD45 (Brilliant Violet (BV) 510; clone 30-F11), CD90.2 (Thy1.2) (Pacific Blue; clone 53-1.2), CD3 (PE; clone 145-2C11), CD4 (APC-Cy7; clone GK1.5), CD19 (BV650; clone 6D5), CD11c (BV605; clone N418), CD11b (PE-Cy7; clone M1/70), Ly6C (PerCP-Cy5.5; clone HK1.4); Ly6G (BV711; clone 1A8) and MHCII (FITC; clone M5/114.15.2) (Biolegend). All staining was performed for 30 minutes at 4°C. Cells were fixed before acquisition with 1% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 30 minutes. For intracellular staining, cells were stimulated with 50 ng/mL phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and 500 ng/mL ionomycin calcium salt for 3.5 hours, followed by the addition of 10  $\mu$ g/mL brefeldin A for 1.5 hours, at 37°C. All stimuli were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Cells were collected after stimulation and then surface stained with the antibodies described above, followed by intracellular staining for ROR $\gamma$ t (APC; clone B2D) and IL-17A (FITC; clone TC11-18H10.1), using the BD Permwash Kit (BD Biosciences) as per manufacturer's instructions. Cell analysis was performed on a BD LSRII (Becton Dickinson, USA). Data were analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, USA).

#### Cytokine quantification by ELISA

Colonic tissues were weighted and lysed using a homogenizer in ice-cold PBS containing protease inhibitors (Roche). Protein concentrations were quantified using the Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Bio-Rad). The levels of IL-10, IL-17A/F and IL-22 were measured by ELISA using commercially available kits (Biolegend), according to manufacturer's instructions.

#### Metabolomic analysis by Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)

Frozen colons were homogenized and colon metabolites were extracted with a methanol:chloroform protocol for frozen samples. Aqueous fraction from colon samples and sera were analyzed on a Bruker Avance III 800 MHz spectrometer equipped with a 5 mm TXI-Z H

C/N/-D probe with gradients. One dimensional 1H-NMR spectra was obtained using the first transient of noesy-presaturation pulse sequence and with using a CPMG pulse sequence with water presaturation. Two dimensional NMR experiments, including homonuclear (1H-1H) total correlation spectroscopy and heteronuclear (1H-13C) single quantum spectroscopy, were performed to aid spectral assignments. These were further confirmed through database search (Human Metabolome Database) and resorting to ChenomxNMRSuite software. Data were analyzed by different multivariate analysis using SIMCA software. Relevant metabolite differences identified were further tested by univariate analysis of the corresponding spectral intensities using line-deconvolution algorithms.

#### **Microbiota modulation**

*Co-housing.* C57BL/6 mice from two different animal facilities were co-housed at 4 weeks old at the same cage, for a period of 4 weeks. Fecal samples were collected prior and at the end of the co-housing for bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

Antibiotic treatment for microbiota depletion. C57BL/6 mice were given ampicillin (1 mg/mL), streptomycin (1 mg/mL), vancomycin (0.5 mg/mL) and neomycin sulfate (1 mg/mL) in the drinking water for 4 weeks. All antibiotics were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Microbiota depletion was assessed throughout the treatment by aerobic and anaerobic culture of intestinal contents in Columbia agar plates with 5% sheep blood at 37°C. The number of colony-forming units (CFU) was counted and the number of bacteria per mg of feces calculated. As a control for the depletion procedure, fecal pellets from mice prior antibiotic treatment were collected and subjected to the above described protocol.

*Fecal microbiota transplant (FMT).* Fresh fecal contents from resistant mice were directly collected to a sterile 2 mL capped microtube, resuspended in ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; Gibco) and centrifuged (800g for 5 minutes) to remove residual clumps. A 150  $\mu$ L/day of the resuspended material was given by oral gavage to mice from the susceptible group. For the experiments of FMT following antibiotic treatment, the procedure was performed during 3 days, while for the chronic model, where antibiotic treatment was not performed, FMT was performed for 5 days during disease remission (between cycles of DSS treatment). The mice that did not

receive FMT were administered with drinking water by oral gavage during the same period of time, in order to match the stress of the procedure.

#### Metagenomic analysis and bacterial quantification

Genomic DNA from feces was extracted using the QIAamp Fast DNA Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instructions plus an additional membrane disruption step using glass beads. After quantification of genomic DNA by spectrophotometry at 260 nm, 16S rRNA gene was amplified and sequenced using the MiSeq platform from Illumina and analyzed with mothur as previously described [16]. Sequences were aligned to the 16S rRNA gene upon filtering by quality and length, using as a template the SILVA reference alignment program. Operational taxonomical units (OTUs) were identified by the average-neighbour algorithm. Sequences with distance-based similarity of 97% or higher were grouped into the same OTU. Each sequence was classified using the Bayesian classifier algorithm with a bootstrap cutoff of 60%. Two-tailed Wilcoxon non-parametric test was applied to identify significant microbiota taxonomic changes among groups. The false discovery rate (FDR) approach was used to adjust for multiple hypothesis testing. Changes with a p < 0.05 and FDR < 0.2 were considered significant.

Absolute abundance of bacteria was performed by quantification of bacterial copy number in stool DNA samples using specific primers for *Akkermansia muciniphila* (Am) and *Parabacteroides distasonis* (Pd) (Table 3). Values were extrapolated from a standard curve obtained by different copy numbers of a plasmid containing a specific insert belonging to each bacterium. For the plasmid generation, a specific DNA fragment for *A. muciniphila* or *P. distasonis* was inserted in a pJET1.2 plasmid using a CloneJET PCR Cloning Kit (Thermo Scientific). After transfection in *E. coli*, plasmid DNA was obtained and was used as template for the standard curve.

#### **Bacteria growth**

*Akkermansia muciniphila* (DSM-26127) and *Parabacteroides distasonis* (DSM-29491) were purchased from DSMZ (Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen GmbH, Leibniz-Institut, Germany). *A. muciniphila* was grown in brain heart infusion (BHI) medium (Thermo Scientific) supplemented with 0.1% of porcine mucin (Sigma-Aldrich) and *P. distasonis* was grown in Wilkins-Chalgren broth (Thermo Scientific), in a chamber with an anaerobic atmosphere composed by 80% N<sub>2</sub>, 10% O<sub>2</sub> and 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, at 37°C. Columbia agar plates with 5% sheep blood were also used to for solid cultures of both bacteria.

#### Gut-on-a-chip model

*Biochips.* Biochips were made from polystyrol and obtained from Microfluidic ChipShop GmbH (Jena, Germany), and manufactured as described in [17]. Biochip upper and lower chambers have 700  $\mu$ m and 400  $\mu$ m of height, respectively. Afferent and efferent channels have a width of 0.8 mm and 2 mm. The volumes of each chamber are 220  $\mu$ L for the upper chamber and 120  $\mu$ L for the lower, and the cavities are separated by a 12  $\mu$ m polyethylene terephthalate (PET) membrane with a pore diameter of 8  $\mu$ m.

*Cell culture.* Caco-2 cells (epithelial cell line from colorectal adenocarcinoma) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS (Gibco), and 100 U/mL penicillin plus 100  $\mu$ g/mL streptomycin mixture (Thermo Fisher). Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were isolated and cultured as previously described [18, 19]. Primary blood mononuclear cells were isolated from healthy donors by FicoII density gradient centrifugation and seeded in 6-well plates with a density of 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/cm<sup>2</sup> in X-VIVO 15 (Lonza) supplemented with 10% autologous serum, 100 U/mL penicillin plus 100  $\mu$ g/mL streptomycin mixture (Thermo Fisher). GM-CSF and M-CSF were added to induce and enhance macrophage polarization.

*Biochip assembly for bacteria testing.* To mimic the epithelial cell layer, Caco-2 cells were cultured and seeded at a density of  $2.5 \times 10^6$ /mL in the upper cavity of the chip and placed in an incubator at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Briefly, in the day after Caco-2 seeding, the chip was connected to a circuit with peristaltic pumps and medium perfusion was started with a rate of 50 µL/min. After 7 days, Caco-2 cells presented a tridimensional conformation similar to the villi present in the gut. Since we want to test two anaerobic bacteria strains, oxygen concentration inside the incubator was decreased gradually, as follows: day 8 with 10% O<sub>2</sub>, day 9 with 5% O<sub>2</sub>, and day 10 with 1% O<sub>2</sub>. Total absence of oxygen was not assessed in these experiments since previous data showed that Caco-2 cells do not tolerate well the absence of oxygen from longer periods. Then, at day 11, bacteria suspensions (*A. muciniphila, P. distasonis*, or the combination of both) at an

 $OD_{600} = 0.2$  were added on top of the epithelial cells, with a perfusion rate adjusted to 15  $\mu$ L/min. Epithelial cells without the addition of bacteria were tested as control. After 24 hours, cells were fixed and stained for E-cadherin.

*Biochip assembly for bacterial supernatant testing.* HUVECs were seeded at a density of  $2.5 \times 10^6$ /mL in the lower cavity of the chip and placed in an incubator at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After two days, monocyte-derived macrophages were seeded at a density of  $1 \times 10^6$ /mL on top of HUVECs. The seeding of Caco-2 cells and the perfusion was performed as previously described. At day 10, half of the media circulating in the upper chamber (epithelial side) was replaced by bacteria culture supernatants from *A. muciniphila*, *P. distasonis*, or the combination of both. This experiment was performed under normoxic conditions. Supernatants were collected at 24 and 48 hours for cytokine quantification and stored at -80°C.

*Immunofluorescence.* Membranes were extracted from the biochip and cells were fixed with 10% paraformaldehyde for 10 min at room temperature. Subsequently, cells were permeabilized and unspecific binding sites blocked with PBS including 0.1% saponin and 3% goat serum. Staining was done with E-cadherin (Life Technologies) antibody and goat anti-mouse-Cy3 (Invitrogen), with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) counterstaining. Samples were embedded in fluorescent mounting medium (Dako) and imaged with an AxioObserver Z1 fluorescence microscope equipped with an ApoTome-2 (Carl Zeiss AG, Jena, Germany).

#### Statistical analysis

Metabolite differences were evaluated by ANOVA in R statistical software. Partial least squares – discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) models were performed in SIMCA software. For multiple group comparisons t-test or one-way ANOVA test with a Tukey multiple-comparison posttest were performed, while for multiple group comparisons with repeated measures two-way ANOVA test with a Tukey multiple-comparison posttest was applied. Images are representative of at least 3 independent experiments. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

#### RESULTS

#### Mice from different animal facilities display different susceptibility to chemicallyinduced colitis

In mammals, the immune system and metabolic homeostasis are vastly intertwined and impact each other by numerous mechanisms. For instance, during inflammatory responses several biological functions, such as metabolic processes, are adjusted to restore homeostasis [20]. The immune and metabolic systems have co-evolved so they can sense alterations in the environment and thus respond to new conditions in order to maintain host's homeostasis [21].

To unveil how immunometabolic interactions account for IBD development, we chemically induced colitis in wild-type C57BL/6 mice by DSS treatment for seven days. All the parameters associated to disease progression, such as weight loss, stool consistency and the presence of blood in the stool were monitored daily and scored according to the DAI. Surprisingly, we observed that wild-type C57BL/6 mice did not display major clinical signs of disease development even when exposed to higher concentrations of DSS, or prolonged treatment (Figure II.1A-B). Simultaneously, colitis was induced in a similar protocol to wild-type C57BL/6 mice housed in a different animal facility. As expected, these mice developed colitis, presenting an average DAI score of 8 (out of 10) at day 7 post DSS administration (Figure II.1B). Upon examination, susceptible mice had short, thick colons, consistent with significant colon pathology (Figure II.1C). Histologic analysis of the colons, comprising ulceration, structural alterations (crypt shortening or ablation) and the presence of inflammatory infiltrates, also showed a severe histopathology in the susceptible mice when compared to those without severe disease progression (Figure II.1D-E). Interestingly, the total number of goblet cells is also dissimilar between susceptible and resistant mice already at homeostatic conditions. Consistently, a massive abrogation of goblet cells and the mucus layer was observed only on susceptible mice upon DSS-induced colitis (Figure II.1F-G). Hence, despite being genetically identical and subjected to same experimental protocol, mice from different animal facilities evidenced a different response upon colitis induction, with one group developing colitis (susceptible group), whereas in the other group there was an absence of disease progression (for a matter of simplicity, this group of mice will be referred as resistant throughout this thesis).



**Figure II.1. Mice from different animal facilities display distinct susceptibility to colitis development.** (**A**) C57BL/6 mice from two different animal houses were administered with dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) 3% in the drinking water and were monitored daily. (**B**) Disease progression was assessed by scoring the disease activity index (DAI) throughout the experiment. (**C**) Representative colons were imaged and colon length was measured at day 7, after excision. (**D**) Histological analysis of hematoxylin & eosin staining of mice prior and after colitis induction. (**E**) Colitis scores were obtained by the histological evaluation of colon samples at day 7. (**F**) Alcian blue/periodic acid-Schiff staining of the colonic tissues for goblet cells and mucus analysis. (**G**) Quantification of goblet cell numbers per crypt. For susceptible mice at day 7, no intact crypts were found; ND – not detected. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=8/10 per group. Data is presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \**p* < 0.05; \*\**p* < 0.01; \*\*\**p* < 0.001; \*\*\*\**p* < 0.0001.

## Resistant mice display an upregulation of genes associated with epithelial barrier function

Since the two groups of mice have the same genetic background but a divergent phenotype upon colitis induction, we hypothesized that alterations in the stability and function of the intestinal epithelial barrier could be associated with the observed phenotype. Impairments in the intestinal epithelial barrier, such as exacerbated intestinal permeability, are known to be a hallmark in IBD and are found in IBD patients [22]. Yet, no significant differences were found in the intestinal permeability among the two groups of mice in homeostatic conditions (i.e., prior colitis induction) that could be associated with the distinct outcome of disease development (Figure II.2A).

Besides impairments in intestinal permeability, alterations in the expression of tight junctions and adherens junction proteins were described in IBD patients, reinforcing the relevance of the integrity of the intestinal epithelial barrier in this pathology [23]. Although no major differences were found in the intestinal permeability among the two groups of mice, the transcriptional levels of mucin-encoding genes (Muc1, Muc2 and Muc13) as well as the claudin and E-cadherin genes (Cldn2, Cldn3, Cldn4, Cldn7 and Cdh1) were significantly upregulated in resistant mice when compared to the susceptible group (Figure II.2B-C). Of note, no significant differences were found in the expression of Muc4, Cldn8 and Ocln, which encode for mucin-4, claudin-8 and occludin, respectively (Figure II.2C). The expression of proteins encoded by these genes is undoubtedly intertwined with epithelial barrier stability, which is known to be paramount in controlling intestinal inflammatory conditions. Mucins, particularly mucin-2, are important proteins involved in the synthesis and maintenance of the mucus layer. Indeed, impairments in the mucus layer are associated with severe colitis and therefore it can promote the development of colitis [24]. Similarly, alterations in the levels of claudins and cadherins, responsible to maintain paracellular permeability and tight junction integrity and function, are described to be found in patients with intestinal inflammatory conditions. Particularly, impaired expression of claudin-3, -5 and -8 and occludin were described in patients with Crohn's disease [23], as well as down-regulation of claudin-1 and -4 and increased expression of claudin-2 in ulcerative colitis patients [25]. However, these data obtained on homeostatic conditions suggests a hyperactivation of epithelial barrier associated proteins, which may prepare the epithelial barrier to sustain an inflammatory insult. As such, upon colitis induction the susceptible group presented increased levels of dextran in the serum when compared to resistant mice (Figure II.2D) mirroring the differences in colitis score (Figure II.1B) and corroborating our previous hypothesis that resistant mice may present a more prepared epithelial barrier to hold inflammation.



**Figure II.2. Resistant mice have increased expression of genes involved in epithelial barrier function.** (A) Intestinal permeability in homeostasis was measured after administration of FITC-Dextran by oral gavage and quantified in the serum after four hours of administration. (B-C) Expression of *Muc1, Muc2, Muc4, Muc13* (B), *Cldn2, Cldn3, Cldn4, Cldn7, Cldn8, Cdh1* and *Ocld* (C) was analyzed by qPCR in homeostatic conditions. (D) Permeability was assessed after colitis induction (day 7 of DSS administration) by the quantification of dextran in the serum by NMR. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=8/10 per group. Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001. ns – not significant.

## Protective phenotype is associated with increased frequency of type 3 innate lymphoid cells and cytokine production

To determine whether the protective phenotype observed in resistant mice was influenced by a different pattern of immune cells in the gut prior colitis induction, the distinct immune cell populations were evaluated by flow cytometry (Figure II.3A). Most adult tissue macrophages are originated during embryonic development and not from circulating monocytes [26]. Yet, it is established that body's barrier tissues, such as skin, lungs and intestine, are continuously replenished by blood Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes [27]. Full monocyte maturation, as well as the acquisition of a characteristic functional signature by gut mucosa macrophages, is essential for

the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. However, this process is impaired during inflammatory events, when infiltrating Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes respond to microenvironmental factors and commensal microbiota, becoming pro-inflammatory. This is particularly relevant since the disruption of the differentiation pattern of monocytes in this tissue plays a critical role in IBD [28]. We found that resistant mice have decreased frequency of myeloid cells, namely neutrophils, Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes and Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHCII<sup>+</sup> monocytes (Figure II.3B). The frequency of macrophages in the gut was similar between the two groups of mice. B cells similarly have an increased frequency in susceptible mice when compared to resistant phenotype (Figure II.3B).



Figure II.3. Resistant mice present decreased frequency of myeloid and B cell populations in homeostatic conditions. (A) Representative plots showing the gating strategy used for the identification of myeloid cell populations and B cells within lamina propria leukocytes. Cells were selected by forward scatter (FSC)

and side scatter (SSC) profile (i) and excluding doublets (ii). Hematopoietic cells were defined by positive expression of CD45 (iii). B cells were obtained by gating cells expressing CD19 (iv; a). Within myeloid cells (positive for CD11b; v), neutrophils (vi; b), Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes (vii; c), Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHCII<sup>+</sup> monocytes (vii; d) and macrophages (vii; e) were assessed. **(B)** Frequencies of B cells and myeloid populations present in the gut of susceptible or resistant mice, under homeostatic conditions. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=5/8 per group. Data is presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*p < 0.05. ns – not significant.

To further characterize the immune environment in the gut of both susceptible and resistant mice prior colitis induction, the cytokine profile was evaluated. Significant differences were found for IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22 production, which are increased in resistant mice (Figure II.4A). IL-10 is known to play a key role in intestinal homeostasis [29] and thus is concordant with the protective phenotype that was identified for these mice. IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that is associated with several autoimmune and inflammatory pathologies and IL-22 is a cytokine belonging to IL-10 family of cytokines that can have both proinflammatory and tissue-protective properties depending on the context in which it is expressed [30, 31]. Both IL-17 and IL-22 can be produced by a myriad of immune cells present in the gut, namely T helper 17 (Th17) cells and type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3). We evaluated these cell populations in the gut to understand if they could be playing a role in the protective phenotype observed in resistant mice (Figure II.4B). We found that susceptible and resistant mice have a divergent frequency of both ILC3 and Th17 cells in the gut at homeostatic conditions, with resistant mice displaying a significantly higher frequency of ILC3 and, inversely, lower frequency of Th17 cells, when compared to susceptible mice (Figure II.4C). Interestingly, IL-17-producing ILC3 in resistant mice are decreased in comparison with susceptible mice. ILC3 are one of the major producers of IL-22 [32], and therefore this may suggest that ILC3 in resistant mice is producing other type of cytokines, such as IL-22 (Figure II.4C), which remain to be tested. Moreover, we also observed that although resistant mice display higher levels of IL-17 in the colon when compared to the susceptible group, they also present a decreased frequency of IL-17-producing cells. This can indicate that other cell populations may be contributing for the IL-17 that is found in the gut of resistant mice.



Figure II.4. Susceptible and resistant mice have a distinct cytokine profile and dynamic of ILC3/Th17 cells in the gut during homeostasis. (A) The production of IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22 (pg cytokine/mg colon) was quantified in colonic extracts at homeostatic conditions. (B) Representative plots showing gating strategy used for the identification of Th17 cells and ILC3. Cells were selected by forward scatter (FSC) and side scatter (SSC) profile (i) and excluding doublets (ii). After gating hematopoietic cells by CD45 expression (iii), cells were distinguished by the expression of CD3 (iv). Th17 cells were identified as CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>RORγt<sup>+</sup> cells (v; a). ILC3 were identified as CD45<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Thy1.2<sup>+</sup>RORγt<sup>+</sup> (viii; b). IL-17-producing cells within ILC3 and Th17 were identified in (ix; c) and (x; d), respectively. (C) Frequencies of Th17 cells, IL-17-producing Th17 cells, ILC3 and IL-17-producing ILC3 in the gut of susceptible or resistant mice, under homeostatic conditions. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=5/7 per group. Data is presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.

#### Microbiome is modulating protection against colitis development

Intestinal epithelial barrier integrity and immune cell populations can influence and also be shaped by the microbiome composition in the gut [33]. To determine if the protective phenotype upon colitis induction was driven by a distinctive microbiota composition, susceptible and resistant mice were co-housed during four weeks to share the same environment and subsequently the microbiome, followed by colitis induction (Figure II.5A). The co-housing protocol abolished the protective phenotype displayed by the resistant mice, which became equally susceptible after co-housing with mice from the susceptible group, displaying similar DAI scores and disease progression (Figure II.5B). This result demonstrates that, not only the microbiome is at the basis of the protective phenotype but also the microbiota responsible for the protective phenotype display a recessive pattern and have a decreased fitness when competing with the microbiota present in susceptible mice.



Figure II.5. The resistant phenotype lost in co-housing experiments points for a recessive nature of protective microbiome. (A) Four week-old susceptible and resistant mice were co-housed during 4 weeks and then were administered with DSS 3% for 7 days. (B) Disease progression was assessed by scoring the disease activity index (DAI) throughout the experiment. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=5/10 per group. Data is presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*\*\*p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.

To address the question whether the microbiome was in fact underlying the protective phenotype found in one of the groups of mice, a FMT with fecal contents from resistant mice was performed into antibiotic-induced microbiota depleted susceptible mice (Figure II.6A). Basically, susceptible mice were firstly treated with a mixture of antibiotics composed by a broad-spectrum antibiotic (ampicillin) with the narrow-spectrum antibiotics vancomycin that acts on Gram-positive bacteria, streptomycin active on Gram-negative bacteria and neomycin sulfate effective against Gram-negative and some Gram-positive bacteria. The efficacy of the microbiota depletion was assessed throughout the antibiotic treatment. Very little aerobic bacteria colony-forming units (CFUs) and undetected anaerobic bacteria CFU were assessed just upon five weeks of treatment (Figure II.6B). Hence, we established a five-week antibiotic treatment in susceptible mice prior to the FMT.

Antibiotic-induced microbiota depleted susceptible mice underwent a FMT protocol, in which each mouse orally received a fecal suspension from resistant mice, for three consecutive days (Figure II.6A). Following three weeks upon FMT colonization, mice were submitted to DSS treatment for colitis induction. A clear protection against colitis induction was observed in this group mirroring the resistant group as reflected by their similar DAI (Figure II.6C), which clearly proves that microbiome is the key player in the protective phenotype.



Figure II.6. Fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from resistant to susceptible mice is sufficient to confer protection against colitis induction. (A) Susceptible mice were treated with antibiotic for 5 weeks and then received fecal contents from resistant mice by oral gavage during 3 days. After 3 weeks to allow colonization, mice were challenged with DSS 3% for 7 days. (B) Rate of microbiota depletion during antibiotic treatment was assessed by quantification of aerobic and anaerobic bacteria colony-forming units (CFU) in stool. (C) Disease progression was assessed by scoring the disease activity index (DAI) throughout the experiment. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=5/10 per group. Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*p < 0.05; \*\*\*p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001. BDL – below detection level.

This hypothesis was also corroborated in a relapse-remission model of colitis. Colitis was induced in susceptible mice and upon remission of the disease mice received FMT from the resistant mice by oral gavage during five days. In this experimental setting, no antibiotic treatment was administered. Two weeks after the FMT, mice were again challenged with colitis

(Figure II.7A). Mice treated with fecal contents from resistant mice displayed only mild symptoms of colitis, contrary to control group that only received the vehicle (PBS) (Figure II.7B). Although both groups evidence inflammation features in the histopathological analysis (both have developed colitis in beginning of the treatment and prior FMT), mice that received FMT displayed significantly fewer signs of pathology than the control group. Moreover, mice that received FMT also evidenced higher amount of goblet cells per crypt (Figure II.7C-D). This protection was even more striking by the fact that there was no previous microbiota depletion in these mice, which showed that simply by the enrichment with the microbiota from the resistant mice it was possible to induce protection in mice that were previously susceptible.



Figure II.7. Fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from resistant to susceptible mice is able to avoid relapse in chronic colitis. (A) Susceptible mice were treated with DSS 2% for five days. After remission, mice received FMT from resistant mice by oral gavage for 5 days. Control group was treated with the vehicle (PBS). Two

weeks later, both groups were given DSS 2% as previously. **(B)** Disease progression was assessed by scoring the disease activity index (DAI) throughout the experiment. **(C)** Histological analysis of hematoxylin & eosin and Alcian blue/periodic acid-Schiff stainings of the colonic tissues from mice that received FMT or PBS at 7 weeks of treatment. **(D)** Colitis scores were obtained by the histological evaluation of colon samples at week 7. Quantification of goblet cell numbers per crypt. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=5 per group. Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.

### Metagenomic analysis revealed a distinct gut microbiota composition between susceptible and resistant mice

Our results clearly demonstrate a crucial role of gut microbiota in conferring protection against colitis. To further investigate this hypothesis, we performed a metagenomic analysis of gut microbiota composition by analyzing the stool of mice, both susceptible and resistant, in homeostatic conditions. This approach allows the identification of several bacterial genera that are present in both groups of mice and therefore to retrieve those that can be at the basis of the protective phenotype.

The metagenomic analysis provided a qualitative distinction between susceptible and resistant mice according to the presence or absence of certain bacteria and their relative abundance. A representative heat map summarizes some relevant identified bacterial genera between both groups (Figure II.8A). Susceptible and resistant mice clustered separately in an unsupervised multivariate analysis of the microbiota composition indicating a considerable difference among the microbial populations (Figure II.8B). The graphical representation of the relative abundance of the 129 identified bacterial genera reinforces the different microbiota composition between resistant and susceptible mice (Figure II.8C). Quite unexpectedly, the resistant group of mice present a significantly reduction of richness, measured by the Sobs index that quantifies the number of operational taxonomic units or number of species (OTUs, similar to the phylogenetic level of species; Figure II.8D) and species diversity measured by the Shannon index (Figure II.8E).

We also extended our analysis to susceptible mice that received FMT from resistant ones, since they displayed a protective phenotype after FMT and therefore it can contribute to the identification of the bacteria associated with protection. Interestingly, this group of mice also diverges from the others displaying an intermediate phenotype between susceptible and resistant regarding the gut bacterial composition (Figure II.8B). Interestingly, no significant differences were observed on the susceptible group before or after the FMT in terms of the relative abundance of bacterial genera, number and diversity of species (Figure II.8C-E) Although these results could be seen as somewhat surprising given the similar protective phenotype against colitis induction displayed by the susceptible + FMT and resistant groups, this may also suggest that microbial minority populations could be responsible for the protective phenotype. Overall, by identifying what is different between resistant and susceptible mice, and then what is present in resistant mice that is enriched in susceptible after FMT, we can pinpoint the bacterial candidates that can be at the genesis of protection against colitis.



Figure II.8. Metagenomic characterization of resistant and susceptible mice revealed a distinct microbiota composition (A) Representative heat map of genera identified from DNA from stool samples of susceptible and resistant mice. (B) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on bacterial community similarity of susceptible, resistant and susceptible + FMT mice. (C) Relative abundance of bacterial genera; *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* are marked by purple and beige arrows, respectively. (D) Number of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) and (E) diversity of species found in susceptible, resistant and susceptible + FMT mice. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=5/6 per group. Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.

### Akkermansia and Parabacteroides species are significantly increased in the gut microbiota community of mice protected against colitis development

To identify the most promising bacterial candidates associated with protection, we analyzed thoroughly the metagenomic data obtained with the three previous groups. A multivariate analysis identified several bacteria genera to be significantly increased in resistant mice when compared to the susceptible group (Figure II.9A). Among these, we found that Akkermansia, Parabacteroides, Lactobaccilus, Ureaplasma and Bacteroides genera were the most significant hits as represented by the adjusted p values. Intersecting this with the metagenomic data of susceptible mice after FMT, allowed to pinpoint Akkermansia and Parabacteroides as the most significantly increased when a resistant phenotype was observed. Since these two genera encompass different species, 16S sequences generated by the MiSeq platform from Illumina for OTU identified each as Akkermansia or Parabacteroides were used in а Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) analysis to confirm the identification at a species level. We found that the most representative species for both genera were Akkermansia muciniphila and Parabacteroides distasonis. Therefore, these candidates were selected to evaluate their putative role in the protection against colitis.

To confirm that *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* were in fact increased in mice that showed protection against colitis induction, i.e. resistant mice and also susceptible mice that received FMT, we examined the absolute abundance of these bacteria. For that, we used specific primers for 16S rRNA sequences of both bacteria and assessed the number of copies in DNA extracted from stool samples of mice. As expected, *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* were significantly increased in both resistant and susceptible mice after FMT, when compared to susceptible mice (Figure II.9B). In fact, the abundance of *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* in resistant mice is, on average, 500000 and 15000 times higher, respectively, than in susceptible mice, while for susceptible mice after FMT the abundance of *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* is 3000000 and 7000 times higher than before receiving FMT. Overall, this result confirms the significant representativeness of these two species in the gut microbiota of mice that are able to be protected against colitis, pointing towards a possible effect of these bacteria, alone or in combination, in creating a very particular niche that allows intestine to sustain an inflammatory insult such as colitis induction.

#### Α

Increased in resistant mice ( <i>vs</i> susceptible)			Increased in susceptible + FMT mice ( <i>vs</i> susceptible)		
Genus	<i>p</i> value	Adjusted <i>p</i> value	Genus	<i>p</i> value	Adjusted <i>p</i> value
Akkermansia	0.00131	0.01132	Akkermansia	2.25 x 10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.00153
Parabacteroides	0.00205	0.01284	Parabacteroides	0.00028	0.00860
Lactococcus	0.00560	0.02426	Bacteroides	0.00085	0.01447
Ureaplasma	0.00756	0.03067	Olsenella	0.00342	0.02909
Bacteroides	0.00835	0.03203	Coprococcus	0.00928	0.04856
Parasutterella	0.04786	0.10961	Anaeroplasma	0.01691	0.06764
			Ureaplasma	0.02011	0.07199
			Turicibacter	0.03900	0.12056

В



Figure II.9. Akkermansia muciniphila and Parabacteroides distasonis are significantly associated with a protective phenotype against colitis. (A) Most significant hits found in the metagenomic analysis, based on p value (<0.05) and adjusted p value (false discovery rate (FDR) <0.2); comparison is made by resistant *versus* susceptible mice and susceptible + FMT *versus* susceptible mice. (B) Absolute abundance quantification of *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* in susceptible, resistant and susceptible + FMT mice. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments; n=5/6 per group. Data is presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01.

#### Resistant phenotype is associated with a specific metabolic signature

The intestine offers a very particular metabolic environment that is known to impact immune cell development and function [3, 34]. To characterize the colon metabolic profile of both resistant and susceptible, colonic extracts of mice in homeostatic conditions were analyzed by NMR. Both groups clustered separately in a multivariate analysis of the metabolomic data (Figure II.10A). Indeed, from the 37 metabolites that were identified by the NMR analyses, 12 of them were significantly increased in resistant mice, with lactate being the most significant hit (Figure II.10B-C). Moreover, all the 12 metabolites found to be increased in the colon of resistant mice were not increased in the serum of the same mice, suggesting that these metabolites derive or act
specifically in the intestinal environment but are not drained systemically. Given that most metabolites present in the gut are derived from bacterial metabolism, this result imply that the two groups of mice display a distinct intestinal environment, which may in turn influence the susceptibility for colitis development. Therefore, it will be relevant to unveil if the metabolites identified in resistant mice are being produced or somehow derived from *A. muciniphila* and/or *P. distasonis*. The analysis of these metabolites may contribute to understand the mechanisms by which the identified microbiota candidates modulate intestinal protection. Moreover, by profiling the metabolic environment of susceptible mice, prior and after colitis development, allowed to identify which metabolites are altered during disease. This topic will be further addressed in Chapter III.



**Figure II.10. Resistant mice displayed a specific metabolic profile.** (A) Partial least squares – discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) was obtained for resistant and susceptible mice in homeostatic conditions. (B) Important metabolites selected by volcano plot with fold change threshold 1.8 and p value (t-test) threshold of 0.05. Red circles represent statistically significant metabolites. Both fold changes and p values are log transformed. (C) Metabolites identified as significantly different between the two groups of mice and respective p value. All metabolites were found

increased in resistant mice when compared to the susceptible group. AMP – adenosine monophosphate. Images are representative of one representative experiment out of three; n=10 per group.

# A. muciniphila induces the expression of E-cadherin in epithelial cells in an *in vitro* gut-on-a-chip model

We have found that an enrichment in *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* in the microbiota composition of mice is associated with protection against colitis development. Nevertheless, whether this protective phenotype is defined by the presence of these bacteria or only by one of them, and how this can dampen inflammation through the modulation of the epithelial barrier and immune response, needs to be further explored. By using an *in vitro* gut-on-a-chip model we are able to test the effect of these bacterial candidates in the epithelial barrier and therefore aim to unveil the mechanisms that can be triggered to induce protection against gut inflammation.

The gut-on-a-chip model used in this work consists in an *in vitro* system containing human colon epithelial cells (Caco-2 cell line) and intestinal microvascular endothelial cells (HUVECs) that form a basic organ structure simulating the intestinal layers. Additionally, macrophages are also embedded in the endothelial side of the system (Figure II.11A). The degree of precision of this platform is assured by the mechanostimulatory input obtained by the oscillating change of hydrostatic pressure that mimics the peristaltic movements of the gut and allows a proper three-dimensional cellular growth (Figure II.11B). This system also allows evaluating the expression of several proteins associated with epithelial barrier integrity and intestinal function, such as claudins and mucins (Figure II.11C), and the quantification of metabolites and inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines. Therefore, it represents a valuable tool to study the retrieved candidates above described.

Despite the gut-on-a-chip model is completely developed, this system was not optimized at the time for the use of anaerobic bacteria as components of the microbial environment of the gut. Although fully assembled chips were performed to get acquainted and test the full system in the future, for optimization purposes only epithelial cells were used and the effect of bacteria in the epithelial layer was assessed. This was mostly because we needed to use low oxygen concentrations and HUVECs are very sensitive to oxygen deprivation (preliminary observation). Hence, Caco-2 cells were seeded in the biochip and perfused for seven days, so that they could develop three-dimensional structures with similarity to human gut. Then, the oxygen concentration was gradually reduced to allow the cells to adjust to new hypoxic conditions. *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* were then added to the biochip, alone or in combination (Figure

II.11D). The effect on epithelial cell layer was assessed by immunofluorescence staining of Ecadherin after 24 hours of incubation with bacteria. We observed that the presence of *A. muciniphila* leads to an increased expression of E-cadherin in epithelial cells incubated alone or in combination with *P. distasonis*. E-cadherin is a type of cell adhesion molecule that is involved in the formation of adherens junctions and subsequently for intestinal epithelial barrier function. Interestingly, this increased expression seems to be only dependent of *A. muciniphila*, since cells incubated with *P. distasonis* display similar expression of E-cadherin as control cells (without bacteria; Figure II.11E). Even though these data needs further confirmation, it is in accordance to what was found *in vivo* (Figure II.2C), demonstrating that *A. muciniphila* is a potential bacterial candidate for modulation of intestinal epithelial barrier and possibly be at the basis of the protective phenotype.



50 µm

P. distasonis

50 µr

A. muciniphila + P. distasonis

**Figure II.11.** The gut-on-a-chip model as a powerful tool to study the role of bacterial microbiota candidates in intestinal homeostasis and disease. (A) Graphic representation of a biochip used in this work; HUVEC – human umbilical vein endothelial cells; moMØ – monocyte-derived macrophages; HCEC – human colonic epithelial cells. (B) Microscopical evaluation of epithelial cell development in a static or perfused system. (C) Expression of claudin-3, claudin-4 and mucin-2 in epithelial cells from a perfused biochip assessed by immunofluorescence (data provided by Alexander Mosig's research group). (D) Schematic of the *in vitro* gut-on-a-chip evaluation of the impact of *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* in epithelial cells. (E) E-cadherin expression (yellow) in epithelial cells in the several tested conditions; counterstained with DAPI. Images are representative of one experiment.

#### DISCUSSION

The maintenance of intestinal homeostasis is crucial to prevent exacerbated immune responses to commensal bacteria, and therefore a tight regulation of the cellular mechanisms by which homeostasis is achieved is needed [35, 36]. The balance between the gut microbiota, the immune system and the intestinal epithelial barrier must then be preserved; nonetheless, the mechanisms by which these three components of the intestinal environment can impact one another are not fully understood. Yet, disruption in this dynamic is definitely responsible for the development of intestinal inflammatory disorders [13]. Therefore, one of the main challenges in the understanding the immunopathology of IBD (in particular, of CD and UC) is the fact that we are facing a multifactorial disorder in which it is not clear what can be cause or consequence of the disease.

In this work we have found that mice from different animal facilities have different susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis, with one of the groups displaying a notable protection against disease development. This unforeseen protective phenotype seems to be directly linked with the microbiota composition of the two groups of mice. The characterization of the intestinal microbiota of susceptible and resistant mice revealed that both groups displayed a distinct microbiota profile, with A. muciniphila and P. distasonis found significantly increased in resistant mice. A. muciniphila is a Gram-negative, anaerobic, mucus-colonizing bacterium that degrades mucin, leading to the production of propionate and acetate, and several studies have pointed its impact in the modulation of host intestinal epithelial genes involved in basal metabolism [37, 38]. Moreover, the abundance of A. muciniphila was decreased in patients with IBD and other pathologies such as obesity and type 2 diabetes [39-42]. P. distasonis is a Gram-negative, anaerobic bacterium belonging to Parabacteroides genus, which presents conflicting reports regarding its role in IBD, being both associated with enhanced or attenuated colitis in mice [43, 44]. Similar contradictory results for *P. distasonis* were also found in IBD patients [45, 46]. In this work, these bacteria seem to be strongly associated with protection against colitis, since susceptibility to colitis was abrogated by the transfer of fecal contents from enriched in A. *muciniphila* and *P. distasonis*, in both acute and chronic models of colitis.

The protective phenotype was also found to be associated with an overexpression of mucin-encoding genes and other genes encoding for proteins associated with gut epithelial barrier. These proteins are involved in the maintenance of a proper epithelial barrier function and

92

alterations in these proteins are reported in IBD patients [23]. Nevertheless, the dissimilar expression of these proteins in susceptible and resistant mice were found in homeostatic conditions, which may suggest at least that these two groups of mice shown a different predisposition or activation of the epithelial barrier to respond to an inflammatory challenge. The expression of *MUC2* is widely described as essential for goblet cell function and mucus layer formation, and impairments in this gene are associated with colitis development [24]. Interestingly, not only resistant mice have shown increased expression of mucin-encoding genes, but also in higher number of goblet cells in homeostatic conditions. Indeed, even upon colitis induction resistant mice maintained similar amounts of goblet cells, contrary to the susceptible ones, in which severe crypt ablation was observed, with fewer goblet cells remaining intact. Actually, the higher number of goblet cells present in resistant mice is in accordance with the colonization by *A. muciniphila*, since it is described that this bacterium stimulates host mucin production and increase of the mucus layer thickness, with a possible role in reinforcing the intestinal barrier function [37, 38, 47]. This supports the premise that the epithelial barrier of these mice is more prone to sustain an inflammatory insult.

In accordance with this hypothesis are the increased levels of IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22 found in resistant mice under homeostatic conditions. While the role of IL-10 in the gut is well established [48, 49], the expression of IL-17 and IL-22 is interesting due to their plastic behavior [30]. IL-17 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that is extensively associated with disease, although anti-IL-17 has failed as immunotherapy for colitis, showing that this cytokine plays also an important immunoregulatory function [50, 51]. Indeed, a recent study has shed some light in this dual role of IL-17, showing that the blockade of IL-17F, but not of IL-17A, conferred protection against colitis by inducing Treg cells via intestinal microbiota [52]. Since we have quantified total IL-17, we will further dissect if the increased amount of this cytokine in resistant mice is mostly dependent on A or F isoforms. Our results also seem to indicate that other cell types besides Th17 cells and ILC3 may be responsible for the increased levels of IL-17 found in the intestine of resistant mice. For instance, gamma delta ( $\gamma\delta$ ) T cells are IL-17-producing cells that are highly represented in epithelial barrier tissues, playing an important role in barrier surveillance and in tissue repair and homeostasis [53]. Therefore, further characterization of the cell populations that can be contributing for this specific intestinal environment must be performed. Finally, IL-22 is involved in epithelial cell protection by the expression of antimicrobial peptides, tissue

regeneration and also promotes intestinal wound healing from acute intestinal injury, contributing therefore for the maintenance of intestinal epithelial barrier [54-56].

We have shown that an enrichment in A. muciniphila and P. distasonis seems to have a protective role in mice by sustaining inflammation and inhibiting colitis development, most likely by impacting intestinal epithelial barrier to better tolerate an inflammatory event and injury. Although there are several reports already focused on the impact of these bacteria in the intestinal homeostasis, some of them shown contradictory results. Hence, it is paramount to understand how these bacteria can influence intestinal function. The supplementation of susceptible mice with A. muciniphila and P. distasonis, alone or in combination, followed by colitis induction, will be performed to corroborate the previous results. The specific mechanisms that can be underlying this protection are currently being explored in a biochip-based human gut model that contemplates the complexity of signaling and function within the intestinal epithelium. With this approach it will be possible to test not only the bacterial candidates, alone or in combination, that are associated with an increased epithelial barrier integrity, but also to evaluate the inflammatory mediators and metabolites derived by the presence of these bacteria in the intestinal context. The expression of proteins associated with epithelial barrier function can also be evaluated using the gut-on-a-chip platform. Indeed, preliminary results have shown that the incubation of A. muciniphila in biochips containing epithelial cells leads to an overexpression of Ecadherin in these cells, which is in accordance to what we observed in the colon of resistant mice. Thus, by using this innovative *in vitro* model, we are able to adjust culture conditions and obtain a detailed investigation of the molecular and cellular processes involved in the mediated immune response and regulation of the intestinal epithelial barrier. The most relevant findings will then be explored in several intestinal inflammatory contexts, such as chemical and spontaneous murine models of IBD.

Hence, in this work we described a protective phenotype against colitis found in a group of mice, which we associate with a more tolerant intestinal epithelial barrier to sustain an intestinal insult. The future work within this project will clarify the microbiota partners and its derived factors that promote intestinal epithelial barrier integrity with increased tolerance to external damage. We aim that the findings will provide new insights regarding the interaction between the microbiota, epithelial barrier and immune response in the gut and may hold promise for the development of innovative therapies and clinical approaches for IBD.

#### REFERENCES

- Hill, D.A. and D. Artis, *Intestinal bacteria and the regulation of immune cell homeostasis.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2010. 28: p. 623-67.
- Xu, J. and J.I. Gordon, *Honor thy symbionts.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. 100(18): p. 10452-9.
- 3. Hooper, L.V., D.R. Littman, and A.J. Macpherson, *Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system.* Science, 2012. 336(6086): p. 1268-73.
- Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi, *Pathogen recognition and innate immunity.* Cell, 2006. 124(4): p. 783-801.
- Odenwald, M.A. and J.R. Turner, *The intestinal epithelial barrier: a therapeutic target?* Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2017. 14(1): p. 9-21.
- Wlodarska, M., C.A. Thaiss, R. Nowarski, J. Henao-Mejia, J.P. Zhang, E.M. Brown, G. Frankel, M. Levy, M.N. Katz, W.M. Philbrick, E. Elinav, B.B. Finlay, and R.A. Flavell, *NLRP6 inflammasome orchestrates the colonic host-microbial interface by regulating goblet cell mucus secretion.* Cell, 2014. 156(5): p. 1045-59.
- 7. Groschwitz, K.R. and S.P. Hogan, *Intestinal barrier function: molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2009. 124(1): p. 3-20; quiz 21-2.
- Nalle, S.C. and J.R. Turner, *Intestinal barrier loss as a critical pathogenic link between inflammatory bowel disease and graft-versus-host disease.* Mucosal Immunol, 2015.
  8(4): p. 720-30.
- Ng, S.C., H.Y. Shi, N. Hamidi, F.E. Underwood, W. Tang, E.I. Benchimol, R. Panaccione, S. Ghosh, J.C.Y. Wu, F.K.L. Chan, J.J.Y. Sung, and G.G. Kaplan, *Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies.* Lancet, 2018. 390(10114): p. 2769-2778.
- Abraham, C. and J.H. Cho, *Inflammatory bowel disease*. N Engl J Med, 2009. 361(21): p. 2066-78.
- 11. Danese, S. and C. Fiocchi, *Ulcerative colitis.* N Engl J Med, 2011. 365(18): p. 1713-25.
- Torres, J., S. Mehandru, J.F. Colombel, and L. Peyrin-Biroulet, *Crohn's disease*. Lancet, 2017. 389(10080): p. 1741-1755.
- 13. Maloy, K.J. and F. Powrie, *Intestinal homeostasis and its breakdown in inflammatory bowel disease.* Nature, 2011. 474(7351): p. 298-306.

- Izcue, A., S. Hue, S. Buonocore, C.V. Arancibia-Carcamo, P.P. Ahern, Y. Iwakura, K.J. Maloy, and F. Powrie, *Interleukin-23 restrains regulatory T cell activity to drive T celldependent colitis.* Immunity, 2008. 28(4): p. 559-70.
- 15. V., C., Impact of differential Toll-like receptor recognition of Mycobacterium tuberculosis strains on the adaptive immune response, in School of Health Sciences. 2014, University of Minho: Portugal.
- Isaac, S., J.U. Scher, A. Djukovic, N. Jimenez, D.R. Littman, S.B. Abramson, E.G. Pamer, and C. Ubeda, *Short- and long-term effects of oral vancomycin on the human intestinal microbiota.* J Antimicrob Chemother, 2017. 72(1): p. 128-136.
- Raasch, M., K. Rennert, T. Jahn, S. Peters, T. Henkel, O. Huber, I. Schulz, H. Becker, S. Lorkowski, H. Funke, and A. Mosig, *Microfluidically supported biochip design for culture of endothelial cell layers with improved perfusion conditions.* Biofabrication, 2015. 7(1): p. 015013.
- Groger, M., K. Rennert, B. Giszas, E. Weiss, J. Dinger, H. Funke, M. Kiehntopf, F.T. Peters, A. Lupp, M. Bauer, R.A. Claus, O. Huber, and A.S. Mosig, *Monocyte-induced recovery of inflammation-associated hepatocellular dysfunction in a biochip-based human liver model.* Sci Rep, 2016. 6: p. 21868.
- Jaffe, E.A., R.L. Nachman, C.G. Becker, and C.R. Minick, *Culture of human endothelial cells derived from umbilical veins. Identification by morphologic and immunologic criteria.* J Clin Invest, 1973. 52(11): p. 2745-56.
- 20. Zmora, N., S. Bashiardes, M. Levy, and E. Elinav, *The Role of the Immune System in Metabolic Health and Disease.* Cell Metab, 2017. 25(3): p. 506-521.
- Medzhitov, R., *Origin and physiological roles of inflammation.* Nature, 2008. 454(7203):
  p. 428-35.
- Michielan, A. and R. D'Inca, *Intestinal Permeability in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Pathogenesis, Clinical Evaluation, and Therapy of Leaky Gut.* Mediators Inflamm, 2015.
   2015: p. 628157.
- Zeissig, S., N. Burgel, D. Gunzel, J. Richter, J. Mankertz, U. Wahnschaffe, A.J. Kroesen, M. Zeitz, M. Fromm, and J.D. Schulzke, *Changes in expression and distribution of claudin 2, 5 and 8 lead to discontinuous tight junctions and barrier dysfunction in active Crohn's disease.* Gut, 2007. 56(1): p. 61-72.

- 24. Van der Sluis, M., B.A. De Koning, A.C. De Bruijn, A. Velcich, J.P. Meijerink, J.B. Van Goudoever, H.A. Buller, J. Dekker, I. Van Seuningen, I.B. Renes, and A.W. Einerhand, *Muc2-deficient mice spontaneously develop colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection.* Gastroenterology, 2006. 131(1): p. 117-29.
- 25. Heller, F., P. Florian, C. Bojarski, J. Richter, M. Christ, B. Hillenbrand, J. Mankertz, A.H. Gitter, N. Burgel, M. Fromm, M. Zeitz, I. Fuss, W. Strober, and J.D. Schulzke, *Interleukin-13 is the key effector Th2 cytokine in ulcerative colitis that affects epithelial tight junctions, apoptosis, and cell restitution.* Gastroenterology, 2005. 129(2): p. 550-64.
- 26. Epelman, S., K.J. Lavine, and G.J. Randolph, *Origin and functions of tissue macrophages.* Immunity, 2014. 41(1): p. 21-35.
- 27. Scott, C.L., S. Henri, and M. Guilliams, *Mononuclear phagocytes of the intestine, the skin, and the lung.* Immunol Rev, 2014. 262(1): p. 9-24.
- Bain, C.C., C.L. Scott, H. Uronen-Hansson, S. Gudjonsson, O. Jansson, O. Grip, M. Guilliams, B. Malissen, W.W. Agace, and A.M. Mowat, *Resident and pro-inflammatory macrophages in the colon represent alternative context-dependent fates of the same Ly6Chi monocyte precursors.* Mucosal Immunol, 2013. 6(3): p. 498-510.
- 29. Leach, M.W., N.J. Davidson, M.M. Fort, F. Powrie, and D.M. Rennick, *The role of IL-10 in inflammatory bowel disease: "of mice and men".* Toxicol Pathol, 1999. 27(1): p. 123-33.
- 30. Eyerich, S., K. Eyerich, A. Cavani, and C. Schmidt-Weber, *IL-17 and IL-22: siblings, not twins.* Trends Immunol, 2010. 31(9): p. 354-61.
- 31. Li, L.J., C. Gong, M.H. Zhao, and B.S. Feng, *Role of interleukin-22 in inflammatory bowel disease.* World J Gastroenterol, 2014. 20(48): p. 18177-88.
- Vivier, E., D. Artis, M. Colonna, A. Diefenbach, J.P. Di Santo, G. Eberl, S. Koyasu, R.M. Locksley, A.N.J. McKenzie, R.E. Mebius, F. Powrie, and H. Spits, *Innate Lymphoid Cells:* 10 Years On. Cell, 2018. 174(5): p. 1054-1066.
- 33. Thursby, E. and N. Juge, *Introduction to the human gut microbiota*. Biochem J, 2017.474(11): p. 1823-1836.
- 34. Honda, K. and D.R. Littman, *The microbiome in infectious disease and inflammation.*Annu Rev Immunol, 2012. 30: p. 759-95.
- 35. Garrett, W.S., J.I. Gordon, and L.H. Glimcher, *Homeostasis and inflammation in the intestine.* Cell, 2010. 140(6): p. 859-70.

- 36. Moens, E. and M. Veldhoen, *Epithelial barrier biology: good fences make good neighbours.* Immunology, 2012. 135(1): p. 1-8.
- Derrien, M., P. Van Baarlen, G. Hooiveld, E. Norin, M. Muller, and W.M. de Vos, Modulation of Mucosal Immune Response, Tolerance, and Proliferation in Mice Colonized by the Mucin-Degrader Akkermansia muciniphila. Front Microbiol, 2011. 2: p. 166.
- Derrien, M., E.E. Vaughan, C.M. Plugge, and W.M. de Vos, *Akkermansia muciniphila gen. nov., sp. nov., a human intestinal mucin-degrading bacterium.* Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 2004. 54(Pt 5): p. 1469-76.
- 39. Belzer, C. and W.M. de Vos, *Microbes inside–from diversity to function: the case of Akkermansia.* Isme j, 2012. 6(8): p. 1449-58.
- 40. Cani, P.D. and W.M. de Vos, *Next-Generation Beneficial Microbes: The Case of Akkermansia muciniphila.* Front Microbiol, 2017. 8: p. 1765.
- Png, C.W., S.K. Linden, K.S. Gilshenan, E.G. Zoetendal, C.S. McSweeney, L.I. Sly, M.A. McGuckin, and T.H. Florin, *Mucolytic bacteria with increased prevalence in IBD mucosa augment in vitro utilization of mucin by other bacteria.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2010. 105(11): p. 2420-8.
- Yassour, M., M.Y. Lim, H.S. Yun, T.L. Tickle, J. Sung, Y.M. Song, K. Lee, E.A. Franzosa,
  X.C. Morgan, D. Gevers, E.S. Lander, R.J. Xavier, B.W. Birren, G. Ko, and C.
  Huttenhower, *Sub-clinical detection of gut microbial biomarkers of obesity and type 2 diabetes.* Genome Med, 2016. 8(1): p. 17.
- 43. Dziarski, R., S.Y. Park, D.R. Kashyap, S.E. Dowd, and D. Gupta, *Pglyrp-Regulated Gut Microflora Prevotella falsenii, Parabacteroides distasonis and Bacteroides eggerthii Enhance and Alistipes finegoldii Attenuates Colitis in Mice.* PLoS One, 2016. 11(1): p. e0146162.
- Kverka, M., Z. Zakostelska, K. Klimesova, D. Sokol, T. Hudcovic, T. Hrncir, P. Rossmann, J. Mrazek, J. Kopecny, E.F. Verdu, and H. Tlaskalova-Hogenova, *Oral administration of Parabacteroides distasonis antigens attenuates experimental murine colitis through modulation of immunity and microbiota composition.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2011. 163(2): p. 250-9.
- 45. De Cruz, P., S. Kang, J. Wagner, M. Buckley, W.H. Sim, L. Prideaux, T. Lockett, C. McSweeney, M. Morrison, C.D. Kirkwood, and M.A. Kamm, *Association between specific*

*mucosa-associated microbiota in Crohn's disease at the time of resection and subsequent disease recurrence: a pilot study.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2015. 30(2): p. 268-78.

- 46. Noor, S.O., K. Ridgway, L. Scovell, E.K. Kemsley, E.K. Lund, C. Jamieson, I.T. Johnson, and A. Narbad, *Ulcerative colitis and irritable bowel patients exhibit distinct abnormalities of the gut microbiota.* BMC Gastroenterol, 2010. 10: p. 134.
- Reunanen, J., V. Kainulainen, L. Huuskonen, N. Ottman, C. Belzer, H. Huhtinen, W.M. de Vos, and R. Satokari, *Akkermansia muciniphila Adheres to Enterocytes and Strengthens the Integrity of the Epithelial Cell Layer.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 2015. 81(11): p. 3655-62.
- Schreiber, S., T. Heinig, H.G. Thiele, and A. Raedler, *Immunoregulatory role of interleukin 10 in patients with inflammatory bowel disease.* Gastroenterology, 1995. 108(5): p. 1434-44.
- Zigmond, E., B. Bernshtein, G. Friedlander, C.R. Walker, S. Yona, K.W. Kim, O. Brenner, R. Krauthgamer, C. Varol, W. Muller, and S. Jung, *Macrophage-restricted interleukin-10 receptor deficiency, but not IL-10 deficiency, causes severe spontaneous colitis.* Immunity, 2014. 40(5): p. 720-33.
- Fujino, S., A. Andoh, S. Bamba, A. Ogawa, K. Hata, Y. Araki, T. Bamba, and Y. Fujiyama, Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut, 2003. 52(1): p. 65-70.
- Hueber, W., B.E. Sands, S. Lewitzky, M. Vandemeulebroecke, W. Reinisch, P.D. Higgins, J. Wehkamp, B.G. Feagan, M.D. Yao, M. Karczewski, J. Karczewski, N. Pezous, S. Bek, G. Bruin, B. Mellgard, C. Berger, M. Londei, A.P. Bertolino, G. Tougas, and S.P. Travis, *Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial.* Gut, 2012. 61(12): p. 1693-700.
- 52. Tang, C., S. Kakuta, K. Shimizu, M. Kadoki, T. Kamiya, T. Shimazu, S. Kubo, S. Saijo, H. Ishigame, S. Nakae, and Y. Iwakura, *Suppression of IL-17F, but not of IL-17A, provides protection against colitis by inducing Treg cells through modification of the intestinal microbiota.* Nat Immunol, 2018.

- 53. Nielsen, M.M., D.A. Witherden, and W.L. Havran, *gammadelta T cells in homeostasis and host defence of epithelial barrier tissues.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2017. 17(12): p. 733-745.
- 54. Mizoguchi, A., *Healing of intestinal inflammation by IL-22.* Inflamm Bowel Dis, 2012. 18(9): p. 1777-84.
- 55. Parks, O.B., D.A. Pociask, Z. Hodzic, J.K. Kolls, and M. Good, *Interleukin-22 Signaling in the Regulation of Intestinal Health and Disease.* Front Cell Dev Biol, 2015. 3: p. 85.
- 56. Rutz, S., C. Eidenschenk, and W. Ouyang, *IL-22, not simply a Th17 cytokine.* Immunol Rev, 2013. 252(1): p. 116-32.

**CHAPTER III** 

# L-THREONINE SUPPLEMENTATION DURING COLITIS ONSET DELAYS DISEASE RECOVERY

Frontiers in Physiology, 2018, 9: 1247.

DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01247

# L-Threonine supplementation during colitis onset delays disease recovery

Joana Gaifem, Luís G. Gonçalves, Ricardo J. Dinis-Oliveira, Cristina Cunha, Agostinho Carvalho, Egídio Torrado, Fernando Rodrigues, Margarida Saraiva, António G. Castro and Ricardo Silvestre

#### **IN BRIEF**

Supplementation of mice with L-Threonine in the beginning of colitis development has shown to be detrimental for the remission of the disease and it is associated with a remarkable decrease in goblet cell number.

#### HIGHLIGHTS

- Minor changes were observed upon a metabolomic analysis of colonic extracts performed during colitis development.
- Among those, L-Threonine concentration on colonic extracts was found to be significantly altered with a twofold reduction during acute colitis.
- Threonine supplementation during colitis onset decrease disease recovery associated with a reduced number of goblet cells in the gut crypts and decreased expression of *Muc2* and IL-22 secretion.
- Threonine supplementation upon the establishment of inflammation did not impact disease development and recovery, or any other measured parameter of epithelial barrier stability.





# L-Threonine Supplementation During Colitis Onset Delays Disease Recovery

Joana Gaifem<sup>1,2</sup>, Luís G. Gonçalves<sup>3</sup>, Ricardo J. Dinis-Oliveira<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Cristina Cunha<sup>1,2</sup>, Agostinho Carvalho<sup>1,2</sup>, Egídio Torrado<sup>1,2</sup>, Fernando Rodrigues<sup>1,2</sup>, Margarida Saraiva<sup>7,8</sup>, António G. Castro<sup>1,2</sup> and Ricardo Silvestre<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal, <sup>2</sup> ICVS/3B's – PT Government Associate Laboratory, Guimarães, Portugal, <sup>3</sup> Instituto de Tecnologia Química e Biológica António Xavier, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, Oeiras, Portugal, <sup>4</sup> IINFACTS – Institute of Research and Advanced Training in Health Sciences and Technologies, Department of Sciences, CESPU, CRL, University Institute of Health Sciences, Gandra, Portugal, <sup>5</sup> UCIBIO, REQUIMTE, Laboratory of Toxicology, Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, <sup>6</sup> Department of Public Health and Forensic Sciences, and Medical Education, Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, <sup>7</sup> Instituto de Investigação e Inovação em Saúde, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal, <sup>8</sup> Instituto de Biologia Molecular e Celular, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Maria Teresa Cruz, University of Coimbra, Portugal

#### Reviewed by:

Vicente Lahera, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain Diana Jurado Serra, University of Coimbra, Portugal

\*Correspondence:

Ricardo Silvestre ricardosilvestre@med.uminho.pt

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 09 March 2018 Accepted: 17 August 2018 Published: 05 September 2018

#### Citation:

Gaifem J, Gonçalves LG, Dinis-Oliveira RJ, Cunha C, Carvalho A, Torrado E, Rodrigues F, Saraiva M, Castro AG and Silvestre R (2018) L-Threonine Supplementation During Colitis Onset Delays Disease Recovery. Front. Physiol. 9:1247. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01247 Dietary nutrients have emerged as potential therapeutic adjuncts for inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) given their impact on intestinal homeostasis through the modulation of immune response, gut microbiota composition and epithelial barrier stability. Several nutrients have already been associated with a protective phenotype. Yet, there is a lack of knowledge toward the most promising ones as well as the most adequate phase of action. To unveil the most prominent therapy candidates we characterized the colon metabolic profile during colitis development. We have observed a twofold decrease in threonine levels in mice subjected to DSS-induced colitis. We then assessed the effect of threenine supplementation in the beginning of the inflammatory process (DSS + Thr) or when inflammation is already established (DSS + Thr D8). Colitis progression was similar between the treated groups and control colitic mice, yet threonine had a surprisingly detrimental effect when administered in the beginning of the disease, with mice displaying a delayed recovery when compared to control mice and mice supplemented with threonine after day 8. Although no major changes were found in their metabolic profile, DSS + Thr mice displayed altered expression in mucin-encoding genes, as well as in goblet cell counts, unveiling an impaired ability to produce mucus. Moreover, IL-22 secretion was decreased in DSS + Thr mice when compared to DSS + Thr D8 mice. Overall, these results suggest that supplementation with threonine during colitis induction impact goblet cell number and delays the recovery period. This reinforces the importance of a deeper understanding regarding threonine supplementation in IBD.

Keywords: IBD, threonine, DSS-induced colitis, goblet cells, metabolomics, IL-22, mucin

# INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a complex debilitating disorder of the gastrointestinal tract which comprises both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Despite the unclear etiology of IBD, several factors have been accounted as key for the development of the disease, such as genetics, immune system and environmental factors, namely diet and gut microbiota composition (Khor et al., 2011).

Dietary supplementation has emerged as a promising therapeutic practice in the prevention and treatment of IBD (Durchschein et al., 2016). Recent evidence has revealed that fiber-enriched diets promote protection against IBD development, since dietary fiber is mainly fermented by intestinal microbiota into short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), such as butyrate, acetate and propionate (den Besten et al., 2013). The protective properties of these metabolites are widely described by their impact on immune cell activation and epithelial barrier stability (Kelly et al., 2015; Macia et al., 2015), with decreased levels of SCFAs being found in colon samples from IBD patients (Huda-Faujan et al., 2010). Other studies have also pointed out several specific amino acids that can improve intestinal homeostasis, mainly by boosting mucosal healing and regeneration. For instance, glutamine is known to promote protection in dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)- and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TBNS)-induced intestinal inflammation, acting via NF-κB downregulation (Kretzmann et al., 2008). Colitic mice orally administered with glutamine displayed suppressive Th1/Th17 immune responses and subsequently decreased inflammation when compared to mice fed with regular diet (Hsiung et al., 2014). Other amino acids have been also associated with a protective phenotype against colitis. Using distinct animal models of colitis, diets enriched in threonine, serine, proline and cysteine, given before and throughout disease development, have been shown to restore mucin synthesis and stabilization of gut microbiota (Faure et al., 2006). Similar findings were observed with the administration of a mixture of threonine, methionine and monosodium glutamate after colitis induction (Liu et al., 2013).

Several studies have so far addressed whether administration of specific nutrients may arise as a prophylactic and/or therapeutic approach. However, there is a lack of knowledge toward the most promising and adequate phase of action. Thus, we investigated the metabolic profile of mice developing colitis, aiming to identify variation of metabolites during inflammation. The identification of the most attractive potential targets for therapy and the definition of a time range more prone to potentiate the effects of their supplementation may be relevant for future applications in IBD prophylaxis and therapy.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals

Seven to nine-week old C57BL/6J male mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories and housed in i3S animal facilities, under pathogen free conditions, with food and water *ad libitum*. All experimental procedures were approved by the

i3S Animal Ethics Committee and licensed by the Portuguese National Authority for Animal Health (DGAV) with reference 014811/2016-07-13.

### **Colitis Induction**

Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS; TdB Consultancy; 2% (w/v), molecular weight approximately 40000 Da) was administered in drinking water *ad libitum* for 5 days. Clinical signs of colitis were monitored daily and scored as a disease activity index (DAI; **Supplementary Table S1**).

# **L-Threonine Administration**

Mice were divided into DSS (control), DSS with L-Threonine (DSS + Thr) and DSS followed by L-Threonine administration at day 8 (DSS + Thr D8), as shown in **Figure 2A**. L-Threonine [Thr; Sigma–Aldrich; 0.166% (w/v) corresponding to 250 mg/Kg/day] was given in the drinking water *ad libitum*. The dose was chosen according to the daily intake in previous studies with rodents (Faure et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2013) and to a high-threonine human supplementation study (Pencharz et al., 2008). The safety of our protocol measuring biomarkers of renal and liver damage was evaluated to confirm the absence of toxicity (**Supplementary Figure S1**). Similar fluid intake was found among all groups.

### Metabolomic Analysis by Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)

Methanol/water extracts of colon were analyzed at an UltrashiedTM 800 Plus (Bruker) spectrometer as described in Graça et al. (2017). Metabolite concentrations were performed by integration of 1H-NMR resonances using TSP as reference.

# **Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qPCR)**

Total RNA was isolated from colonic samples (TripleXtractor, Grisp). As DSS inhibits both polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities, RNA was purified with lithium chloride, as in Viennois et al. (2013). qPCR was performed as described in Correia et al. (2017). The list of primers used is in **Supplementary Table S2**.

# **Histology and Goblet Cell Count**

Colons were fixed in 10% buffered formalin (Sigma–Aldrich) and embedded in paraffin. Sections of 5  $\mu$ m were stained with hematoxylin/eosin and Alcian Blue/Periodic acid-Schiff. Goblet cell number was assessed for each experimental condition in a blinded fashion. Only crypts cut longitudinally from crypt opening to bottom were analyzed.

# **Cytokine Quantification**

Colonic explant cultures were performed as previously described (McNamee et al., 2011). Cytokine quantification was performed in supernatants by ELISA (Biolegend). Tissue explants were homogenized and total protein was measured using Bradford assay. The concentration of secreted cytokines in the supernatant was normalized to total tissue protein and expressed as picogram of cytokine *per*  $\mu$ g of total tissue protein.



experiment is shown out of two. \*p < 0.05.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Metabolite differences were evaluated by ANOVA in R statistical software. Partial least squares – discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) models were performed in SIMCA software. Other statistical analyses were carried out with GraphPad Prism (version 6.01). For multiple group comparisons one-way ANOVA test with a Tukey multiple-comparison posttest was performed, while for multiple group comparisons with repeated measures two-way ANOVA test with a Tukey multiple-comparison posttest was applied. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant values are: \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

To characterize the colon metabolic profile during colitis development, metabolites present on colonic extracts of mice prior (day 0) and after 5 days of DSS-induced colitis were analyzed by NMR (**Figure 1A**). These time points were selected since it allows the comparison of a homeostatic profile (day 0) against a period with established inflammation and lesion, yet reversible and treatable (day 5). Multivariate analyses of the metabolomic data only demonstrated minor alterations between profiles for day 0 and day 5 of colitis development (**Figure 1B**). However, univariate analyses performed on the metabolites allow to discriminate ADP and particularly threonine as significantly altered from day 0 to day 5 (**Figures 1C,D**). Among essential amino acids, threonine has a prominent role in maintaining a healthy gut. Threonine is able to generate

the main three SCFAs, namely acetate, butyrate and propionate (Neis et al., 2015). In fact, it has been previously identified several biosynthetic genes for threonine metabolism in the human gut microbiota, suggesting the relevance of this amino acid for microbiota biology (Abubucker et al., 2012). SCFAs are described as important modulators of immune response, since they are ligands for G-protein-coupled receptor 43 (GPR43) that is expressed by immune cells on the lamina propria, such as regulatory T cells, regulating the proinflammatory responses in the intestine (Bollrath and Powrie, 2013). Moreover, threonine is vastly metabolized in the intestine for mucin synthesis (Faure et al., 2005). These proteins are paramount in intestinal stability, since the mucus layer in the colonic outer layer prevents the direct contact of luminal microorganisms with the epithelium (Johansson et al., 2014). It has also been suggested that threonine requirements are increased under pathological settings to maintain proper intestinal function, such as production and formation of the mucus layer (Remond et al., 2009). Therefore, by participating in the mucus layer synthesis and production of anti-inflammatory SCFAs, threonine metabolism by gut microbiota proves to be essential for gut barrier integrity and function. Our data show that threonine levels drop 2-fold during colitis development until day 5 (Figures 1C-E). Therefore, we hypothesized that threonine supplementation during active inflammatory disease could help to restore the intestinal homeostasis and thus present some therapeutic potential.

Previous studies have investigated threonine in combination with other amino acids as a potential candidate for therapy against colitis (Faure et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2013). Nevertheless,



not only single threonine supplementation was not evaluated before, but also there is scarce evidence regarding the most adequate time frame for its supplementation in colitis treatment. Accordingly, we addressed threonine supplementation in two distinct phases: (1) in parallel with the initiation of the inflammatory process, i.e., simultaneously with DSS administration (DSS + Thr), and (2) on day 8, when inflammation is already established (DSS + Thr D8). Mice subjected to DSS-induced colitis but without threonine supply were used as control (DSS) (Figure 2A). We observed that

the three groups developed colitis with a similar progression profile. Nevertheless, after this time point, the recovery profile of colitic mice supplemented with threonine in the drinking water (DSS + Thr) was slower than that of the other two groups, showing statistically significant differences from day 10 to the final day of experiment when compared to control group (DSS). Besides, DSS + Thr mice had also a distinctive DAI score at day 11 and 12 when compared with mice that only received threonine after day 8 (DSS + Thr D8) (**Figure 2B**). Despite the divergent phenotype, no major differences were found in colon length neither in the intestinal permeability (**Supplementary Figure S1**).

Threonine administration was surprisingly detrimental for disease recovery when given at the setting of the inflammatory process. To understand this phenotype, we first evaluated the potential alterations in the colon metabolic profile among the different groups. No significant differences were found between most of the metabolites. Particularly, the levels of the major SCFAs (i.e., acetate, butyrate, and propionate), normally associated with a protective phenotype, were similar among groups. Only succinate levels, which is as an important marker of inflammation promoting IL-1 $\beta$  induction in inflammatory contexts (Tannahill et al., 2013), were found to be markedly decreased in DSS + Thr D8 mice (**Figure 2C**). No major alterations were observed in the inflammatory infiltrate profile, tissue organization and hepatic and renal toxicity serum biomarkers (**Supplementary Figure S1**).

Threonine plays a major role in mucin synthesis and consequently in the formation of the mucus layer. Indeed, lack of threonine is also known to impair intestinal paracellular permeability and is associated with fewer goblet cells and mucus synthesis (Faure et al., 2005; Mao et al., 2011). The mucus layer serves as a barrier against microbial translocation to the lamina propria and therefore its integrity is paramount for intestinal homeostasis. When we analyzed the expression of mucin-encoding genes, we found that Muc2 expression is decreased in DSS + Thr mice when compared to mice that only received threonine at day 8 (DSS + Thr D8) (Figure 2D). Muc2 encodes for the oligomeric mucus gel-forming mucin 2 protein that is the major responsible for mucus synthesis. Indeed, impairment or total absence of the mucus layer is associated with severe colitis, as observed in Muc2-deficient mice (Van der Sluis et al., 2006). We also found that DSS + Thr mice display higher expression of Muc1, which has shown to contribute to intestinal inflammation and colon cancer progression (Baldus et al., 2004; Takahashi et al., 2015). We next quantified the number of goblet cells of the colonic mucosa. These are a secretory epithelial cell lineage found in both the small and the large intestines, whose major function is the production of mucus. By analyzing colon slices stained with Alcian Blue/Periodic acid-Schiff, we observed that DSS + Thr mice displayed significantly fewer goblet cells when compared to both DSS and DSS + Thr D8 (Figures 2E,F). Therefore, our results suggest that an alteration in mucus synthesis due to threonine administration during the onset of disease may impact intestinal integrity, by delaying the recovery of disease. Faure et al. (2006) have demonstrated that supplementation with diet containing higher doses of amino acids, including L-threonine, lead to an increase in goblet cell number, regulated mucin production in the colon and restored microbiota composition after DSS treatment in rats. Notwithstanding, not only the animal model is different, but also L-threonine was given before colitis induction, which may be underlying the distinctive outcome.

Previous studies have linked several cytokines to mucus production in the intestine (Parks et al., 2015). To examine the immunological profile of the three groups, cytokine levels in the colon were quantified. No major changes were observed between the groups for interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-12p70, IL-10, IL-17A/F and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) levels (**Supplementary Figure S2**). Notwithstanding, the amount of IL-22 was significantly decreased in DSS + Thr mice when compared to DSS + Thr D8 mice (**Figure 2G**). IL-22 is a member of the IL-10 family of cytokines and has been vastly studied in the context of intestinal homeostasis. It can be produced by several cell types, such as T helper (Th1) 1, Th17, Th22 and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), and present several roles in the gastrointestinal tract, such as tissue regeneration and maintenance of the intestinal epithelial barrier (Rutz et al., 2013). Thus, the decreased IL-22 levels may be associated with delayed recovery of the intestinal balance.

Overall, our data demonstrate that supplementation of threonine during colitis induction impairs goblet cell number, with concomitant decreased Muc2 expression and IL-22 production. These variations are likely to be the cause of delayed recovery observed in this situation. Interestingly, these effects are not seen when threonine is administered once colitis is established. Acute DSS-induced colitis is known to promote gut microbial dysbiosis (Munyaka et al., 2016). Threonine is metabolized by some intestinal commensal bacteria, leading to the production of several metabolites used for intestinal maintenance and to mediate immune responses (Neis et al., 2015). Thus, threonine supplementation during induction of colitis may impact differently the colonic microbiota populations present during the onset and upon the establishment of inflammation, having ultimately distinct effects in intestinal function. Further understanding of the mechanisms underlying threonine supplementation may give new insights on how dietary nutrients modulate the dynamic balance between microbiome, immune response and barrier function.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of European Council Directive (2010/63/EU) guidelines that where transposed into Portuguese law (Decree-Law n.°113/2013, August 7th), i3S Animal Ethics Committee and licensed by the Portuguese National Authority for Animal Health (DGAV). The protocol was approved by the i3S Animal Ethics Committee and licensed by the Portuguese National Authority for Animal Health (DGAV) with reference 014811/2016-07-13.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JG, ET, CC, AgC, FR, MS, AnC, and RS designed the experiments. JG, LG, RD-O, and RS performed the experiments. JG, LG, RD-O, and RS analyzed the data. JG, LG, RD-O, and RS interpreted the results. JG and RS drafted the manuscript and prepared the tables and figures. JG, LG, RD-O, ET, CC, AgC, FR, MS, AnC, and RS revised the paper and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by the Northern Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the Portugal 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (FEDER) (NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000013) and the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) (contracts PD/BD/106053/2015 to JG via Inter-University Doctoral Programme in Ageing and Chronic Disease – PhDOC, IF/00021/2014 to RS, IF/01390/2014 to ET, IF/01147/2013 to RD-O, IF/00735/2014 to AgC, SFRH/BPD/96176/2013 to CC, and SFRH/BPD/111100/2015

#### REFERENCES

- Abubucker, S., Segata, N., Goll, J., Schubert, A. M., Izard, J., Cantarel, B. L., et al. (2012). Metabolic reconstruction for metagenomic data and its application to the human microbiome. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 8:e1002358. doi: 10.1371/journal. pcbi.1002358
- Baldus, S. E., Monig, S. P., Huxel, S., Landsberg, S., Hanisch, F. G., Engelmann, K., et al. (2004). MUC1 and nuclear beta-catenin are coexpressed at the invasion front of colorectal carcinomas and are both correlated with tumor prognosis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10, 2790–2796. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0 3-0163
- Bollrath, J., and Powrie, F. (2013). Immunology. Feed your Tregs more fiber. *Science* 341, 463–464. doi: 10.1126/science.1242674
- Correia, C. R., Gaifem, J., Oliveira, M. B., Silvestre, R., and Mano, J. F. (2017). The influence of surface modified poly(l-lactic acid) films on the differentiation of human monocytes into macrophages. *Biomater. Sci.* 5, 551–560. doi: 10.1039/ c6bm00920d
- den Besten, G., van Eunen, K., Groen, A. K., Venema, K., Reijngoud, D. J., and Bakker, B. M. (2013). The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. *J. Lipid Res.* 54, 2325–2340. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R036012
- Durchschein, F., Petritsch, W., and Hammer, H. F. (2016). Diet therapy for inflammatory bowel diseases: the established and the new. World J. Gastroenterol. 22, 2179–2194. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i7.2179
- Faure, M., Mettraux, C., Moennoz, D., Godin, J. P., Vuichoud, J., Rochat, F., et al. (2006). Specific amino acids increase mucin synthesis and microbiota in dextran sulfate sodium-treated rats. J. Nutr. 136, 1558–1564. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.6. 1558
- Faure, M., Moennoz, D., Montigon, F., Mettraux, C., Breuille, D., and Ballevre, O. (2005). Dietary threonine restriction specifically reduces intestinal mucin synthesis in rats. *J. Nutr.* 135, 486–491. doi: 10.1093/jn/135. 3.486
- Graça, G., Desterro, J., Sousa, J., Fonseca, C., Silveira, M., Serpa, J., et al. (2017). Identification of putative biomarkers for leptomeningeal invasion in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma by NMR metabolomics. *Metabolomics* 13:136. doi: 10.1007/s11306-017-1269-9
- Hsiung, Y. C., Liu, J. J., Hou, Y. C., Yeh, C. L., and Yeh, S. L. (2014). Effects of dietary glutamine on the homeostasis of CD4+ T cells in mice with dextran sulfate sodium-induced acute colitis. *PLoS One* 9:e84410. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0084410
- Huda-Faujan, N., Abdulamir, A. S., Fatimah, A. B., Anas, O. M., Shuhaimi, M., Yazid, A. M., et al. (2010). The impact of the level of the intestinal short chain Fatty acids in inflammatory bowel disease patients versus healthy subjects. *Open Biochem. J.* 4, 53–58. doi: 10.2174/1874091x010040 10053
- Johansson, M. E., Gustafsson, J. K., Holmen-Larsson, J., Jabbar, K. S., Xia, L., Xu, H., et al. (2014). Bacteria penetrate the normally impenetrable inner colon mucus layer in both murine colitis models and patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 63, 281–291. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303207
- Kelly, C. J., Zheng, L., Campbell, E. L., Saeedi, B., Scholz, C. C., Bayless, A. J., et al. (2015). Crosstalk between microbiota-derived short-chain fatty acids and

to LG). MS is a FCT investigator. The NMR data was acquired at CERMAX (Centro de Ressonância Magnética António Xavier) which is a member of the National NMR network with the support of Project LISBOA-01-0145-FEDER-007660.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2018.01247/full#supplementary-material

intestinal epithelial HIF augments tissue barrier function. *Cell Host Microbe* 17, 662–671. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.03.005

- Khor, B., Gardet, A., and Xavier, R. J. (2011). Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* 474, 307–317. doi: 10.1038/nature10209
- Kretzmann, N. A., Fillmann, H., Mauriz, J. L., Marroni, C. A., Marroni, N., Gonzalez-Gallego, J., et al. (2008). Effects of glutamine on proinflammatory gene expression and activation of nuclear factor kappa B and signal transducers and activators of transcription in TNBS-induced colitis. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 14, 1504–1513. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20543
- Liu, X., Beaumont, M., Walker, F., Chaumontet, C., Andriamihaja, M., Matsumoto, H., et al. (2013). Beneficial effects of an amino acid mixture on colonic mucosal healing in rats. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 19, 2895–2905. doi: 10. 1097/01.MIB.0000435849.17263.c5
- Macia, L., Tan, J., Vieira, A. T., Leach, K., Stanley, D., Luong, S., et al. (2015). Metabolite-sensing receptors GPR43 and GPR109A facilitate dietary fibreinduced gut homeostasis through regulation of the inflammasome. *Nat. Commun.* 6:6734. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7734
- Mao, X., Zeng, X., Qiao, S., Wu, G., and Li, D. (2011). Specific roles of threonine in intestinal mucosal integrity and barrier function. *Front. Biosci.* 3: 1192–1200.
- McNamee, E. N., Masterson, J. C., Jedlicka, P., McManus, M., Grenz, A., Collins, C. B., et al. (2011). Interleukin 37 expression protects mice from colitis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 16711–16716. doi: 10.1073/pnas.11119 82108
- Munyaka, P. M., Rabbi, M. F., Khafipour, E., and Ghia, J. E. (2016). Acute dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis promotes gut microbial dysbiosis in mice. *J. Basic Microbiol.* 56, 986–998. doi: 10.1002/jobm.201500726
- Neis, E. P., Dejong, C. H., and Rensen, S. S. (2015). The role of microbial amino acid metabolism in host metabolism. *Nutrients* 7, 2930–2946. doi: 10.3390/ nu7042930
- Parks, O. B., Pociask, D. A., Hodzic, Z., Kolls, J. K., and Good, M. (2015). Interleukin-22 signaling in the regulation of intestinal health and disease. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 3:85. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2015.00085
- Pencharz, P. B., Elango, R., and Ball, R. O. (2008). An approach to defining the upper safe limits of amino acid intake. J. Nutr. 138, 1996s–2002s. doi: 10.1093/ jn/138.10.1996S
- Remond, D., Buffiere, C., Godin, J. P., Mirand, P. P., Obled, C., Papet, I., et al. (2009). Intestinal inflammation increases gastrointestinal threonine uptake and mucin synthesis in enterally fed minipigs. J. Nutr. 139, 720–726. doi: 10.3945/ jn.108.101675
- Rutz, S., Eidenschenk, C., and Ouyang, W. (2013). IL-22, not simply a Th17 cytokine. *Immunol. Rev.* 252, 116–132. doi: 10.1111/imr.12027
- Takahashi, H., Jin, C., Rajabi, H., Pitroda, S., Alam, M., Ahmad, R., et al. (2015). MUC1-C activates the TAK1 inflammatory pathway in colon cancer. *Oncogene* 34, 5187–5197. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.442
- Tannahill, G. M., Curtis, A. M., Adamik, J., Palsson-McDermott, E. M., McGettrick, A. F., Goel, G., et al. (2013). Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces IL-1beta through HIF-1alpha. *Nature* 496, 238–242. doi: 10.1038/nature 11986
- Van der Sluis, M., De Koning, B. A., De Bruijn, A. C., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J. P., Van Goudoever, J. B., et al. (2006). Muc2-deficient mice spontaneously develop

colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection. *Gastroenterology* 131, 117–129. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.04.020

Viennois, E., Chen, F., Laroui, H., Baker, M. T., and Merlin, D. (2013). Dextran sodium sulfate inhibits the activities of both polymerase and reverse transcriptase: lithium chloride purification, a rapid and efficient technique to purify RNA. *BMC Res. Notes* 6:360. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-6-360

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer DS and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation at the time of the review.

Copyright © 2018 Gaifem, Gonçalves, Dinis-Oliveira, Cunha, Carvalho, Torrado, Rodrigues, Saraiva, Castro and Silvestre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

#### **Supplementary methods**

#### In vivo intestinal permeability assay

To assess barrier function at day 13, *in vivo* intestinal permeability assay was performed by FITC-labelled dextran administration. Food and water were withdrawn for eight hours and mice were administered with 44 mg/100 g body weight of FITC-labelled dextran (TdB Consultancy; 4 kDa) by oral gavage. Serum was collected four hours later and fluorescence intensity was measured by spectrophotofluorimetry (excitation: 485 nm; emission: 528 nm). Concentrations were determined using a standard curve of serially diluted FITC-labelled dextran. Serum from mice not administered with the permeability tracer was used as background control.

#### Quantification of serum toxicological biomarkers

Aspartate transaminase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and creatinine were measured on an AutoAnalyzer (PRESTIGE 24i, PZ Cormay S.A.).

#### **Supplementary Tables and Figures**

S1 Table – Disease activity index (DAI) scores for colitis evaluation. The final score is obtained by the sum of each parameter.

Score	Weight loss	Stool consistency	Bleeding
0	No loss	Normal	No blood
1	1-5%	Mild-soft	Brown color
2	6-10%	Very soft	Reddish color
3	11-20%	Diarrhea	Bloody stool
4	> 20%		Gross bleeding

**S2 Table** – List of primers used for qPCR.

Genes	Forward sequence	Reverse sequence	
Muc1	CCCTATGAGGAGGTTTCGGC	AAGGGCATGAACAGCCTACC	
Muc2	TCCTGACCAAGAGCGAACAC	ACAGCACGACAGTCTTCAGG	
Ubq	TGGCTATTAATTATTCGGTCTGCAT	GCAAGTGGCTAGAGTGCAGAGTAA	



**Figure S1 - Evaluation of histological and clinical parameters.** (A) Colon length was measured after excision at day 13. (B) Intestinal permeability was measured after administration of FITC-Dextran by oral gavage and quantified in the serum after four hours of administration. (C) As one of the parameters of DAI, the body weight was measured daily during the experimental procedure. (D) Serum levels of alanine transaminase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and creatinine were analyzed for renal and hepatic toxicity control. (E) Histological analysis of hematoxylin & eosin staining of mice treated with DSS, DSS+Thr and DSS+Thr D8. Scale bar = 100  $\mu$ m. Data is shown as mean  $\pm$  SD; n=5 mice/group. No statistical differences were found between conditions.



Figure S2 - Quantification of cytokine levels in supernatants from colonic extracts. Levels of colonic IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-17A/F and GM-CSF were measured in the supernatants of ex vivo colonic explants cultured at day 13. The concentration of secreted cytokines in the supernatant was normalized to total explant protein and expressed as picogram of cytokine per milligram of protein. Data is shown as mean  $\pm$  SD; n=5 mice/group. No statistical differences were found between conditions.

**CHAPTER IV** 

# **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

The data presented in this thesis address two complementary topics that can provide groundbreaking advances in the comprehension of the mechanisms underlying IBD. The first focuses on the impact of intestinal microbiota on the susceptibility to colitis and the mechanisms responsible for the regulation of intestinal homeostasis. We identified two bacterial candidates, *Akkermansia muciniphila* and *Parabacteroides distasonis*, which were found significantly increased in mice evidencing a remarkable protection against colitis induction. This protection is dependent on microbiota composition since the treatment of susceptible mice with fecal contents from resistant ones rescues the phenotype, with mice becoming protected from both acute and relapse-remission colitis models. Current findings point towards a microbiota-induced impact in the intestinal epithelial barrier that allows it to better sustain an inflammatory insult and therefore conferring protection against colitis.

The second topic is based on the effect of L-threonine supplementation in an IBD context. We explored the metabolic variations occurring in the gut during colitis development, and found a twofold decrease in L-threonine levels from the beginning of colitis induction until the day when the first symptoms of the disease occurred. The impact of L-threonine supplementation in colitis was then evaluated with two distinct approaches: mice were supplemented with L-threonine in the beginning of disease development or after the inflammation being established. We found that the supplementation with L-threonine in the beginning of colitis development is detrimental to the remission of the disease. On contrary, L-threonine supplementation upon established inflammation did not influence colitis recovery. Decrease in Muc2 expression and IL-22 production combined with a reduced number of goblet cells in the intestine were found in mice treated with L-threonine during the onset of colitis.

The relevance of the topics presented above – the contribution of microbiota to health and disease, and the dietary supplementation to prevent, ameliorate or even treat IBD – is undeniable in the context of research in IBD. The impact of intestinal microbiota in diverging from protection to susceptibility and the potential of dietary supplementation in disease management and prevention is recognized among the scientific and medical communities; still, there is a lack of knowledge on how these factors can be used in the development of effective predictive biomarkers of susceptibility and/or disease and in the implementation of innovative therapeutic approaches. One of the main challenges in this field is therefore to understand how these elements are intertwined and how they can be modulated in favor of a healthy intestinal environment.

117

#### **1. MICROBIOTA-MEDIATED REGULATION OF INTESTINAL HOMEOSTASIS**

The intestinal microbiota has a decisive role in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis by its contribution to immune cell training, the occupation of niches avoiding pathogen colonization, and the synthesis of vitamins, nutrients and other compounds only accessible through microbial metabolism [1]. In this sense, intestinal microbial populations must live in equilibrium so that the intestinal environment is not perturbed.

Despite several advances in IBD research, the etiology of this pathology is still unclear. Several non-mutually exclusive events can occur and contribute to the development of IBD: infection with a persistent pathogen; impairments in immune system by insufficient effector cell activation or lack of regulatory cell activity towards intestinal bacteria; abnormal permeability of the intestinal epithelial barrier allowing excessive microbial translocation; and imbalance between harmless and harmful commensal intestinal bacteria, i.e., dysbiosis [2].

Alterations in the biodiversity of the fecal microbiota are correlated with IBD development, such as the decrease in the abundance of bacteria within the dominant phylum Firmicutes [3]. For instance, Sokol and colleagues have found that a decrease in *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, one of the major members of Firmicutes, is associated with an increased risk of postoperative recurrence of ileal CD [4]. The supplementation of colitic mice with *F. prausnitzii* or its supernatant markedly decreased the severity of the disease and promoted the correction of the dysbiosis associated with TNBS-induced colitis. This protective phenotype seemed to derive from the higher amounts of butyrate produced by the bacterium, which block NF-kB activation and IL-8 production [4]. The reestablishment of the microbiota composition was recently shown to be pivotal for colitis management, as it was demonstrated by Wang and colleagues with a pioneer treatment of immune checkpoint inhibitors-associated colitis by FMT from healthy individuals [5]. This provides new challenging insights on how modulation of the gut microbiome can be effectively associated with the recovery of colitis. Nevertheless, it is important to uncover the specific mechanisms underlying the protective effects, since diverse factors can be at the genesis of the disease.

Reduction in the number and diversity of species in the gut is often associated with pathology [6]. Notwithstanding, we have described in Chapter II a group of mice that display a resistant phenotype against colitis, despite revealing a decrease in number and diversity of bacterial species in the gut. Indeed, these reductions were accompanied by an expansion of *A*.

muciniphila and P. distasonis, which seems to have a beneficial effect on intestinal epithelial barrier and subsequently in protecting these animals from the development of colitis. A. muciniphila is a member of the Verrucomicrobia phylum described in 2004 by Derrien and colleagues [7]. This anaerobe, mucus-degrading bacteria inhabits mainly the mucus layer of the large intestine, representing between 1 up to 4% of the total gut microbiota, and it is ubiquitously distributed in intestinal tracts all over the animal kingdom [8-11]. P. distasonis is an anaerobic, Gram-negative bacterium that belongs to the Bacteroidetes phylum [12]. Both A. muciniphila and P. distasonis have already been described in the context of IBD, but with controversial results. As a matter of fact, A. muciniphila is reported to be significantly reduced in biopsies and fecal samples of IBD patients when compared to healthy individuals [13]. On the other hand, A. muciniphila can act as a pathobiont in double knockout mice for IL-10 and NLRP6 due to an overgrowth in this bacterium [14]. Similarly, *P. distasonis* is described by some authors as enhancing colitis in mice, while others point its role in attenuating colitis in mice by modulating immunity and microbiota composition [15, 16]. Moreover, P. distasonis has been described to be decreased in colon biopsies from patients with CD [17]. The divergent phenotypes described for these bacteria demonstrate that several factors, either environmental or genetic, contribute to the development of IBD. Nevertheless, the fact that both bacteria are found decreased in IBD patients reinforces their putative role in keeping a healthy gut.

The role of these bacteria in other pathologies besides IBD has also been described, although with some discordant reports. As such, decreased abundance of *A. muciniphila* in tissue and fecal samples are also reported in obesity, autism and type 2 diabetes, which is suggestive of a beneficial role of this bacterium in a broad spectrum of diseases [18-21]. This is also extended to anti-tumor therapies, with *A. muciniphila* positively influencing the efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors [22]. In contrast, *A. muciniphila* was found to be increased in multiple sclerosis patients; interestingly, the same study has observed that *P. distasonis* was reduced in the microbiota composition of those same patients [23].

Indeed, a recent report has demonstrated that *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* can synergistically be involved in the prevention of epilepsy, by reducing gammaglutamylation of amino acids, increasing hippocampal GABA/glutamate ratios and subsequently preventing seizures [24]. This is particularly relevant, since previous studies focusing on the effects of each one of the bacterium in intestinal inflammation, have not addressed the possibility of both acting in combination to induce intestinal protection, which supports the novelty of this work.

119

Apart from a different microbiota profile, susceptible and resistant mice also display a distinct metabolic signature. Since most identified metabolites can derive from and/or be involved in microbiota metabolism, it is paramount to understand the possible contribution of *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* in metabolite production.

Although no differences were found regarding the main SCFAs, i.e., acetate, propionate and butyrate, the second top hit metabolite that was found to be increased in resistant mice was succinate. Given the increased levels of *P. distasonis* in resistant mice and its capacity to synthesize mostly acetate and succinate [12], we hypothesized that *P. distasonis* could be a major source for the increased levels of succinate present in the intestine of resistant mice. On the other hand, *A. muciniphila* is described as a major propionate and acetate producer mainly through mucin fermentation [7, 25, 26]. Indeed, it was recently described that the production of propionate by *A. muciniphila* can be promoted by vitamin B12 that is used as a cofactor in the conversion of succinate to propionate via methylmalonyl-CoA synthase [27]. Thus, we may infer that a cross-feeding mechanism between *P. distasonis* and *A. muciniphila* can occur in the intestine of resistant mice, with the succinate produced by *P. distasonis* being available for *A. muciniphila* metabolism and colonization.

Besides the succinate pathway, propionate can also be generated by microbial fermentation in the gut through two other pathways: the lactate pathway and the propanediol pathway [28]. Indeed, lactate was the major metabolite found increased in resistant mice and it can probably be derived from species belonging to the *Lactococcus* genus, since this bacterial population was also identified as part of the microbiota of resistant mice. Other metabolites depicted in the protective phenotype, such as leucine and isoleucine, can also contribute to SCFA synthesis, to a lesser extent [29].

The intestinal microbiota is involved in several processes associated with the restoration of homeostasis, such as immunomodulation, production of signaling molecules that target the host or pathogens, and factors that promote increased tight junction barrier function on the epithelia of the host [30]. In the quest to understand how the enrichment in these specific bacteria could be associated with a more protective phenotype, we evaluated the expression of epithelial barrier-associated proteins and intestinal permeability. *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* seem to induce protection by influencing the intestinal epithelial barrier to better tolerate an inflammatory insult. Still, the specific mechanisms underlying this protective phenotype must be dissected. *A. muciniphila* is described to be essential for an healthy mucus layer, promoting mucus production

120

and thickness [8]. This is reiterated in resistant mice described in our study, which display increased expression of mucin-encoding genes and increased number of goblet cells when compared to susceptible mice, in homeostatic conditions. The increased expression of Ecadherin- and claudin-encoding genes in resistant mice also point towards a modulation of intestinal epithelial barrier to control inflammation and prevent cellular damage. Alterations in the expression of these proteins are widely described in IBD patients, with claudin-2 found to be upregulated, while other claudins, such as claudin-4 and claudin-8, are downregulated [31, 32]. The members of claudin family display different functions. For instance, claudin-1, -3, -4, -5, -7 and -8 confer barrier properties and are found mainly where the epithelium is more tight, such as the distal colon; on the other hand, other claudins such as claudin-2 promote channel formation within the tight junctions and are expressed in leaky epithelia such as the proximal intestine [32]. In resistant mice, we observe an upregulation of claudin-2, -3, -4 and -7, when compared to susceptible mice. This observation was made at homeostatic conditions, where no significant alteration in intestinal permeability was found in either of the groups. Nonetheless, by upregulating diverse claudins, it is suggestive that the epithelial barrier of resistant mice is better prepared to deal with cellular damage and avoid possible translocation of microbial populations from the lumen to the lamina propria.

Similarly, the cytokine profile found in resistant mice is in accordance with a more protected intestinal epithelial barrier, with resistant mice presenting increased levels of IL-10, IL-17 and IL-22 in the colon. IL-10 is essential for intestinal regulation and the assessment of which population may be responsible for the increased amount of this cytokine in resistant mice needs further evaluation. Treg cells are strong candidates for this role, since they are able to respond to bacterial SCFA ligands by expressing GPR43 and not only expand but also increase the production of IL-10 to control proinflammatory responses derived from effector T cells [33]. On the other hand, IL-10 can be ubiquitously produced by immune cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells, and therefore innate immune cells can also be contributing to the increased amounts of IL-10 found in resistant mice [34]. ILC3 are also highly represented in the intestine of resistant mice, as compared with the susceptible group. These cells are probably responsible for the production of IL-22, but it does not fully explain the increased amounts of IL-17 that are found in the gut of resistant mice. The presence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the intestine of resistant mice may be a plausible explanation. These cells are well represented in the epithelial sites and not only are IL-17 producers, but also are described to contribute to barrier and tissue repair and

homeostasis [35]. The presence of IL-17 in the intestine is usually associated with intestinal pathology and with an inflammatory environment; nonetheless, the immunotherapy with secukinumab (anti-IL-17A) has shown to be ineffective in IBD patients, suggesting an important regulatory role of this cytokine [36]. Indeed, the impact of IL-17 in the intestine seems to depend on the isoform. The inflammatory responses of IL-17A and IL-17F seem to differ in intestinal disease, with IL-17F deficiency in mice being associated with attenuated DSS-induced colitis, contrary to mice deficient in IL-17A [37]. Similar findings were shown recently by Tang and colleagues, demonstrating that the impact of IL-17 in colitis development is dependent on the isoform, with IL-17F blockade ameliorating colitis, contrary to IL-17A. This observation was explained by an increase in *Clostridium* cluster XIVa in colonic microbiota that is capable of promoting Treg cells [38]. Therefore, IL-17F seems to have a critical role in the regulation of inflammatory responses in the gut. Since we have quantified total IL-17 and not each isoform independently, a further analysis to evaluate both IL-17A and IL-17F is needed to understand if there is a predominance of one of the IL-17 isoforms in the intestine of resistant mice. Finally, IL-22 is known to participate in epithelial repair after injury and expression of antimicrobial peptides [39, 40], suggesting once again that resistant mice display an intestinal epithelial environment more capable of sustaining and overcoming inflammatory stimuli.

Further experiments are needed to confirm that the increased expression of genes encoding for E-cadherin, claudins and mucins, as well as the cytokine profile found in resistant mice, are a direct consequence of *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* presence (alone, or the combination of both proteins). Nevertheless, the preliminary results obtained in the gut-on-a-chip platform suggest that the contact of *A. muciniphila* with the epithelial cells promotes the expression of E-cadherin. The dissection of the mechanisms underlying the impact of these bacterial candidates in intestinal epithelial barrier will be performed in a two-stage approach. Firstly, we are going to supplement susceptible mice with *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* (alone or in combination) and allow the colonization of the bacteria in the gut, followed by the induction of colitis by DSS. The response of these mice to the inflammatory challenge will be evaluated by the disease activity index, in order to assess if the supplementation is sufficient to rescue the protective phenotype and thus validate our candidates as promoters of protection against colitis. Next, we will also unveil the mechanisms by which these bacterial candidates impact the epithelial barrier, by culturing them in the gut-on-a-chip model and assess epithelial barrier integrity, through the evaluation of proteins associated with the regulation of epithelia barrier

122
immune response. Since these bacteria may not only have a direct impact on epithelial barrier, but also in the production of metabolites and other mediators (for instance, *A. muciniphila* is described to ameliorate the severity of colitis through the secretion of extracellular vesicles [41]), supernatants from bacteria culturing will also be assessed in the biochip system. Within this integrated approach we aim to unravel the mechanisms by which microbiota can contribute to the regulation of intestinal epithelial barrier and transpose these findings to possible new approaches that promote protection against IBD.

## 2. PROBIOTICS AND PREBIOTICS AS ADJUVANTS FOR IBD

Due to the lack of an effective therapy for IBD and the advances regarding the impact of colonic microbiota in the outcome of disease development, new possible therapeutic approaches have emerged. Among these, probiotics and prebiotics are in the spotlight for IBD treatment.

Probiotics are mono or mixed cultures of live microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts for humans or animals, exert beneficial health effects in the host by restoring the properties of the intestinal microflora [42]. In turn, prebiotics are non-digestible compounds that induce specific alterations in the composition and/or activity of the gastrointestinal microflora, conferring positive effects to the host [43].

Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium species are frequently used as probiotics in IBD management. A clinical trial with UC patients has tested the efficacy of an oral capsule containing *Bifidobacterium* following UC standard therapy, with only 20% of the probiotic group suffering relapse against almost 94% of the placebo group [44]. A recent study has also highlighted the beneficial properties of *Bifidobacterium longum* in intestinal homeostasis, as the administration of these bacteria to mice is able to correct barrier defects by restoring mucus growth [45]. Other reports have demonstrated the positive effects of Lactobacillus species in experimental colitis in mice, mostly by decreasing mucosal inflammation [46-48]. Actually, one of the most commonly prescribed probiotics for the induction and maintenance of UC remission is VSL#3, a multispecies probiotic composed by Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus, Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus plantarum, Streptococcus salivarius subsp. thermophilus, Bifidobacterium breve, Bifidobacterium infantus and B. longum [49]. VSL#3 was demonstrated to attenuate inflammatory responses due to the downregulation of IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma$  production, reducing neutrophil infiltration and colonic epithelial cell apoptosis. Moreover, it also impacts microbiota composition, promoting the colonization by Streptococci and Lactobacilli and controlling the expansion of Enterococcus species (described to contribute to intestinal inflammation) [49-51].

*E. coli* Nissle 1917 is described as other probiotic used to aid the treatment of UC since it contributes to the production of anti-inflammatory molecules that act systemically and induces  $\beta$ -defensin production by intestinal epithelial cells, having a beneficial impact in intestinal barrier function via regulation of tight junctions [52]. Clinical studies were performed with *Saccharomyces boulardii* to assess its potential as IBD treatment, with positive results in CD and

UC. Nonetheless, others have shown that *S. boulardii* failed in the treatment of CD, which reinforces the need for further evaluation on the potential clinical usage of this probiotic in IBD management [53-56].

We have identified two distinct bacteria that may have similar protective effects. One of the main challenges in the design of probiotics is the fact that most bacteria found in the intestine are anaerobic and some of them are slow-growers. These are important issues to address, since a proper probiotic needs to assure that the microorganism will be able to survive throughout the gastric cavities until the intestine and also be able to colonize the gut [57]. Although *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis* are anaerobic bacteria, it will be interesting to explore in the future the potential probiotic effect of these bacteria and if they can act as prophylaxis or part of the treatment. As previously discussed in this chapter, both A. muciniphila and P. distasonis produce metabolites, such as SCFAs and other metabolites that can be converted into SCFAs, which are described as beneficial to the intestinal environment, through the downregulation of inflammatory responses and modulation of mucus layer thickness and epithelial barrier integrity. In Chapter II we have observed that susceptible mice that received fecal contents enriched in A. muciniphila and *P. distasonis* were able to avoid colitis relapse when challenged with an inflammatory insult, demonstrating that colonization with the given bacteria was successfully achieved. This is particularly relevant since it is known that colitis flares or prolonged antibiotic treatment are associated with a dysregulation of the microbiota composition in the gut [58, 59]. Thus, A. muciniphila and P. distasonis may emerge as possible candidates for intestinal microbiota reconstitution after an inflammatory event or persistent antibiotic usage, by their administration as prophylactic adjuvant for IBD.

The use of prebiotics within the diet to promote intestinal health has arisen as a potential therapeutic strategy to prevent and aid in the treatment of IBD [60]. The relevance of including fibers in the dietary habits has been widely described [45, 61]. Fibers are fermented by intestinal bacteria into SCFAs, such as acetate, propionate and butyrate, which in turn will impact immune cell activation and epithelial barrier integrity [62-64]. In Chapter III, we have explored the metabolic alterations occurring in the colon of colitic mice. We found a twofold decrease in L-threonine levels during colitis development. Since L-threonine is important for mucin synthesis and previous studies have associated deficits in this amino acid with fewer goblet cells and mucus [65, 66], alongside its decrease during colitis development, L-threonine emerged as a preferential target for supplementation. Thus, we evaluated the supplementation of L-threonine,

at the beginning of colitis and during a well-established inflammatory environment. While supplementation during inflammation had no impact, either beneficial or unfavorable, on disease development and recovery, L-threonine supplementation during colitis onset was found to be detrimental for colitis remission. Indeed, besides a delayed recovery, mice also exhibit fewer goblet cells and reduced amounts of IL-22 in the colon.

Dietary supplementation with L-threonine has already been assessed in the context of colitis, but our findings differ from some of the data available in the literature. For instance, Faure and colleagues [67] used a combination of amino acids (L-threonine, L-proline, L-cysteine and Lserine), not L-threonine singled out, to assess their potential anti-colitogenic effect in rats. The study compared two distinct dietary compositions in terms of amino acid concentration given to rats before and during colitis induction. The authors found that the diet containing the higher dose of amino acids led to an increase in goblet cell number in the epithelial surface of the ulcerated area, stimulated and regulated mucin production in the colon and restored microbiota composition after DSS treatment [67]. The divergent findings in our work can be due to different factors, such as the animal model (rat versus mouse), the use of a mixture of amino acids and not L-threonine alone and, importantly, the supplementation period – Faure and colleagues initiated the treatment with the amino acid mixture before colitis induction; instead, we analyzed the impact of L-threonine administration simultaneous to colitis induction or when the disease was already established. Additionally, several studies have pinpointed L-threonine as an essential amino acid for embryonic stem cell renewal and also the regulatory role of L-threonine dehydrogenase in somatic cell reprogramming [68, 69]. This demonstrates that L-threonine can impact metabolic cell remodeling and thus it could be interesting to unveil if this amino acid, besides impacting mucus production and goblet cell synthesis, is acting in specific cell types present in the intestine, from immune to epithelial cells. This may contribute to a better understanding on why L-threonine has a divergent effect during colitis according with the intestinal inflammatory state.

Overall, despite the current advances in probiotic and prebiotic research, further studies are needed to identify how these factors can modulate the intestinal environment, the safety and the dosage required for a beneficial effect, and the design of a time frame of action for their use in IBD therapy.

## **3. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES IN IBD**

Major discoveries in basic research and in clinical settings for IBD have been made in the last years, with a deeper understanding on the genetic variations of the disease, the contribution of microbiome and its immune regulation, and the role of epithelial cells in the maintenance of homeostasis. However, to develop strategies and techniques that are finally successful for the treatment of this disease, there is still the need for an integrated vision of all the components influencing the disease development.

To achieve this, it is paramount to translate more laboratorial findings to the clinics. The establishment of predictive biomarkers of disease outcome is essential to better tailor the treatment of both CD and UC patients. The development of therapies that take advantage of the potential of the gut microbiota, either by promoting the colonization of protective species, or by restoring the balance of microbiota composition with beneficial effects to the host (for instance, through the modulation of dietary composition), should be considered.

Within this work we have explored the versatility of the microbiome in the regulation of intestinal health or disease. We identified two specific bacterial species that seem to induce protection by enhancing epithelial barrier integrity and increasing its tolerance upon external damage. We also pinpointed several metabolites that can be differentially present in the gut during homeostatic or disease contexts. Besides, we took advantage of a groundbreaking complementary *in vitro* model that, by highly mimicking the intestinal environment, is preferential to dissect the exact mechanisms by which the identified bacteria are able to promote protection against colitis. It will also be useful to test and validate the role of specific metabolites in the different cell types present in the intestine. Finally, this biochip-based human gut model can also be used to explore other intestinal pathologies that can be associated with intestinal homeostasis, such as intestinal infection and colorectal cancer, providing new perspectives on the mechanism of action during disease and giving new perspectives for *in vivo* studies and, subsequently, to novel clinical strategies.

In recent years, several studies have associated alterations in the intestinal microbiota composition with several pathologies, including IBD [70-73]. Nevertheless, bacterial profiles in the gut can rapidly fluctuate due to environmental cues, and this represents a huge challenge in the identification of specific beneficial microbes to intestinal health. Knowing this, we envisage the development of an observational longitudinal prospective study, aiming to associate the

intestinal microbiota composition with relapse-remission events inherent to the disease. In particular, it will be of major interest to dissect the possible association between the microbial composition in the gut, including *A. muciniphila* and *P. distasonis*, with disease severity and intestinal barrier function. By pinpointing the gut microbiota fluctuations during disease and, in parallel, exploring the effect of the identified bacteria in intestinal function (for instance, in the gut-on-a-chip model), this strategy can contribute to the design of new personalized therapies with the core purpose of a long-lasting or, at least, more effective remission of the disease.

Overall, there are still several questions to be answered in the context of IBD. The identification of the ideal biomarkers for patient stratification regarding disease course or response to treatment would be extremely valuable. Additionally, the design of optimized prophylactic and treatment strategies, either by immunomodulators, probiotics/prebiotics or the combination of both, and subsequent adaption to the disease profile of patients is urgent, taking into consideration the increased number of IBD cases. In this sense, microbiome-derived therapies seem to be a reality for IBD prophylaxis and treatment, and despite the need to evaluate if microbiota modulation can lead to long-term effect on disease remission, it is undoubtedly an attractive field to explore in order to design new strategies of tackling IBD.

## 4. REFERENCES

- 1. Hooper, L.V., D.R. Littman, and A.J. Macpherson, *Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system.* Science, 2012. 336(6086): p. 1268-73.
- 2. Tamboli, C.P., C. Neut, P. Desreumaux, and J.F. Colombel, *Dysbiosis in inflammatory bowel disease.* Gut, 2004. 53(1): p. 1-4.
- Manichanh, C., L. Rigottier-Gois, E. Bonnaud, K. Gloux, E. Pelletier, L. Frangeul, R. Nalin,
  C. Jarrin, P. Chardon, P. Marteau, J. Roca, and J. Dore, *Reduced diversity of faecal microbiota in Crohn's disease revealed by a metagenomic approach.* Gut, 2006. 55(2):
  p. 205-11.
- Sokol, H., B. Pigneur, L. Watterlot, O. Lakhdari, L.G. Bermudez-Humaran, J.J. Gratadoux, S. Blugeon, C. Bridonneau, J.P. Furet, G. Corthier, C. Grangette, N. Vasquez, P. Pochart, G. Trugnan, G. Thomas, H.M. Blottiere, J. Dore, P. Marteau, P. Seksik, and P. Langella, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. 105(43): p. 16731-6.
- Wang, Y., D.H. Wiesnoski, B.A. Helmink, V. Gopalakrishnan, K. Choi, H.L. DuPont, Z.D. Jiang, H. Abu-Sbeih, C.A. Sanchez, C.C. Chang, E.R. Parra, A. Francisco-Cruz, G.S. Raju, J.R. Stroehlein, M.T. Campbell, J. Gao, S.K. Subudhi, D.M. Maru, J.M. Blando, A.J. Lazar, J.P. Allison, P. Sharma, M.T. Tetzlaff, J.A. Wargo, and R.R. Jenq, *Fecal microbiota transplantation for refractory immune checkpoint inhibitor-associated colitis.* Nat Med, 2018. 24(12): p. 1804-1808.
- Mosca, A., M. Leclerc, and J.P. Hugot, *Gut Microbiota Diversity and Human Diseases:* Should We Reintroduce Key Predators in Our Ecosystem? Front Microbiol, 2016. 7: p. 455.
- Derrien, M., E.E. Vaughan, C.M. Plugge, and W.M. de Vos, *Akkermansia muciniphila gen. nov., sp. nov., a human intestinal mucin-degrading bacterium.* Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 2004. 54(Pt 5): p. 1469-76.
- 8. Belzer, C. and W.M. de Vos, *Microbes inside-from diversity to function: the case of Akkermansia.* Isme j, 2012. 6(8): p. 1449-58.
- 9. Collado, M.C., M. Derrien, E. Isolauri, W.M. de Vos, and S. Salminen, *Intestinal integrity and Akkermansia muciniphila, a mucin-degrading member of the intestinal microbiota*

present in infants, adults, and the elderly. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2007. 73(23): p. 7767-70.

- Derrien, M., M.C. Collado, K. Ben-Amor, S. Salminen, and W.M. de Vos, *The Mucin degrader Akkermansia muciniphila is an abundant resident of the human intestinal tract.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 2008. 74(5): p. 1646-8.
- 11. Geerlings, S.Y., I. Kostopoulos, W.M. de Vos, and C. Belzer, *Akkermansia muciniphila in the Human Gastrointestinal Tract: When, Where, and How?* Microorganisms, 2018. 6(3).
- Sakamoto, M. and Y. Benno, *Reclassification of Bacteroides distasonis, Bacteroides goldsteinii and Bacteroides merdae as Parabacteroides distasonis gen. nov., comb. nov., Parabacteroides goldsteinii comb. nov. and Parabacteroides merdae comb. nov.* Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 2006. 56(Pt 7): p. 1599-605.
- Png, C.W., S.K. Linden, K.S. Gilshenan, E.G. Zoetendal, C.S. McSweeney, L.I. Sly, M.A. McGuckin, and T.H. Florin, *Mucolytic bacteria with increased prevalence in IBD mucosa augment in vitro utilization of mucin by other bacteria.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2010. 105(11): p. 2420-8.
- Seregin, S.S., N. Golovchenko, B. Schaf, J. Chen, N.A. Pudlo, J. Mitchell, N.T. Baxter, L. Zhao, P.D. Schloss, E.C. Martens, K.A. Eaton, and G.Y. Chen, *NLRP6 Protects II10(-/-) Mice from Colitis by Limiting Colonization of Akkermansia muciniphila.* Cell Rep, 2017. 19(4): p. 733-745.
- Dziarski, R., S.Y. Park, D.R. Kashyap, S.E. Dowd, and D. Gupta, *Pglyrp-Regulated Gut Microflora Prevotella falsenii, Parabacteroides distasonis and Bacteroides eggerthii Enhance and Alistipes finegoldii Attenuates Colitis in Mice.* PLoS One, 2016. 11(1): p. e0146162.
- Kverka, M., Z. Zakostelska, K. Klimesova, D. Sokol, T. Hudcovic, T. Hrncir, P. Rossmann, J. Mrazek, J. Kopecny, E.F. Verdu, and H. Tlaskalova-Hogenova, *Oral administration of Parabacteroides distasonis antigens attenuates experimental murine colitis through modulation of immunity and microbiota composition.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2011. 163(2): p. 250-9.
- Zitomersky, N.L., B.J. Atkinson, S.W. Franklin, P.D. Mitchell, S.B. Snapper, L.E. Comstock, and A. Bousvaros, *Characterization of adherent bacteroidales from intestinal biopsies of children and young adults with inflammatory bowel disease.* PLoS One, 2013. 8(6): p. e63686.

- Dao, M.C., A. Everard, J. Aron-Wisnewsky, N. Sokolovska, E. Prifti, E.O. Verger, B.D. Kayser, F. Levenez, J. Chilloux, L. Hoyles, M.E. Dumas, S.W. Rizkalla, J. Dore, P.D. Cani, and K. Clement, *Akkermansia muciniphila and improved metabolic health during a dietary intervention in obesity: relationship with gut microbiome richness and ecology.* Gut, 2016. 65(3): p. 426-36.
- Hanninen, A., R. Toivonen, S. Poysti, C. Belzer, H. Plovier, J.P. Ouwerkerk, R. Emani,
  P.D. Cani, and W.M. De Vos, *Akkermansia muciniphila induces gut microbiota remodelling and controls islet autoimmunity in NOD mice.* Gut, 2018. 67(8): p. 1445-1453.
- Plovier, H., A. Everard, C. Druart, C. Depommier, M. Van Hul, L. Geurts, J. Chilloux, N. Ottman, T. Duparc, L. Lichtenstein, A. Myridakis, N.M. Delzenne, J. Klievink, A. Bhattacharjee, K.C. van der Ark, S. Aalvink, L.O. Martinez, M.E. Dumas, D. Maiter, A. Loumaye, M.P. Hermans, J.P. Thissen, C. Belzer, W.M. de Vos, and P.D. Cani, *A purified membrane protein from Akkermansia muciniphila or the pasteurized bacterium improves metabolism in obese and diabetic mice.* Nat Med, 2017. 23(1): p. 107-113.
- Wang, L., C.T. Christophersen, M.J. Sorich, J.P. Gerber, M.T. Angley, and M.A. Conlon, Low relative abundances of the mucolytic bacterium Akkermansia muciniphila and Bifidobacterium spp. in feces of children with autism. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2011. 77(18): p. 6718-21.
- Routy, B., E. Le Chatelier, L. Derosa, C.P.M. Duong, M.T. Alou, R. Daillere, A. Fluckiger, M. Messaoudene, C. Rauber, M.P. Roberti, M. Fidelle, C. Flament, V. Poirier-Colame, P. Opolon, C. Klein, K. Iribarren, L. Mondragon, N. Jacquelot, B. Qu, G. Ferrere, C. Clemenson, L. Mezquita, J.R. Masip, C. Naltet, S. Brosseau, C. Kaderbhai, C. Richard, H. Rizvi, F. Levenez, N. Galleron, B. Quinquis, N. Pons, B. Ryffel, V. Minard-Colin, P. Gonin, J.C. Soria, E. Deutsch, Y. Loriot, F. Ghiringhelli, G. Zalcman, F. Goldwasser, B. Escudier, M.D. Hellmann, A. Eggermont, D. Raoult, L. Albiges, G. Kroemer, and L. Zitvogel, *Gut microbiome influences efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors.* Science, 2018. 359(6371): p. 91-97.
- Cekanaviciute, E., B.B. Yoo, T.F. Runia, J.W. Debelius, S. Singh, C.A. Nelson, R. Kanner,
  Y. Bencosme, Y.K. Lee, S.L. Hauser, E. Crabtree-Hartman, I.K. Sand, M. Gacias, Y. Zhu,
  P. Casaccia, B.A.C. Cree, R. Knight, S.K. Mazmanian, and S.E. Baranzini, *Gut bacteria*

from multiple sclerosis patients modulate human T cells and exacerbate symptoms in mouse models. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2017. 114(40): p. 10713-10718.

- Olson, C.A., H.E. Vuong, J.M. Yano, Q.Y. Liang, D.J. Nusbaum, and E.Y. Hsiao, *The Gut Microbiota Mediates the Anti-Seizure Effects of the Ketogenic Diet.* Cell, 2018. 173(7): p. 1728-1741.e13.
- Koh, A., F. De Vadder, P. Kovatcheva-Datchary, and F. Backhed, *From Dietary Fiber to Host Physiology: Short-Chain Fatty Acids as Key Bacterial Metabolites.* Cell, 2016. 165(6): p. 1332-1345.
- Ouwerkerk, J.P., K.C.H. van der Ark, M. Davids, N.J. Claassens, T.R. Finestra, W.M. de Vos, and C. Belzer, *Adaptation of Akkermansia muciniphila to the Oxic-Anoxic Interface of the Mucus Layer.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 2016. 82(23): p. 6983-6993.
- 27. Belzer, C., L.W. Chia, S. Aalvink, B. Chamlagain, V. Piironen, J. Knol, and W.M. de Vos, *Microbial Metabolic Networks at the Mucus Layer Lead to Diet-Independent Butyrate and Vitamin B12 Production by Intestinal Symbionts.* MBio, 2017. 8(5).
- Reichardt, N., S.H. Duncan, P. Young, A. Belenguer, C. McWilliam Leitch, K.P. Scott, H.J.
  Flint, and P. Louis, *Phylogenetic distribution of three pathways for propionate production within the human gut microbiota.* Isme j, 2014. 8(6): p. 1323-35.
- 29. Rios-Covian, D., P. Ruas-Madiedo, A. Margolles, M. Gueimonde, C.G. de Los Reyes-Gavilan, and N. Salazar, *Intestinal Short Chain Fatty Acids and their Link with Diet and Human Health.* Front Microbiol, 2016. 7: p. 185.
- Reid, G., J.A. Younes, H.C. Van der Mei, G.B. Gloor, R. Knight, and H.J. Busscher, Microbiota restoration: natural and supplemented recovery of human microbial communities. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2011. 9(1): p. 27-38.
- Landy, J., E. Ronde, N. English, S.K. Clark, A.L. Hart, S.C. Knight, P.J. Ciclitira, and H.O.
  Al-Hassi, *Tight junctions in inflammatory bowel diseases and inflammatory bowel disease associated colorectal cancer.* World J Gastroenterol, 2016. 22(11): p. 3117-26.
- Luettig, J., R. Rosenthal, C. Barmeyer, and J.D. Schulzke, *Claudin-2 as a mediator of leaky gut barrier during intestinal inflammation.* Tissue Barriers, 2015. 3(1-2): p. e977176.
- Bollrath, J. and F. Powrie, *Immunology. Feed your Tregs more fiber.* Science, 2013.
  341(6145): p. 463-4.

- 34. Saraiva, M. and A. O'Garra, *The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2010. 10(3): p. 170-81.
- 35. Nielsen, M.M., D.A. Witherden, and W.L. Havran, *gammadelta T cells in homeostasis and host defence of epithelial barrier tissues.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2017. 17(12): p. 733-745.
- Hueber, W., B.E. Sands, S. Lewitzky, M. Vandemeulebroecke, W. Reinisch, P.D. Higgins, J. Wehkamp, B.G. Feagan, M.D. Yao, M. Karczewski, J. Karczewski, N. Pezous, S. Bek, G. Bruin, B. Mellgard, C. Berger, M. Londei, A.P. Bertolino, G. Tougas, and S.P. Travis, *Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial.* Gut, 2012. 61(12): p. 1693-700.
- Yang, X.O., S.H. Chang, H. Park, R. Nurieva, B. Shah, L. Acero, Y.H. Wang, K.S. Schluns, R.R. Broaddus, Z. Zhu, and C. Dong, *Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F.* J Exp Med, 2008. 205(5): p. 1063-75.
- 38. Tang, C., S. Kakuta, K. Shimizu, M. Kadoki, T. Kamiya, T. Shimazu, S. Kubo, S. Saijo, H. Ishigame, S. Nakae, and Y. Iwakura, *Suppression of IL-17F, but not of IL-17A, provides protection against colitis by inducing Treg cells through modification of the intestinal microbiota.* Nat Immunol, 2018.
- Parks, O.B., D.A. Pociask, Z. Hodzic, J.K. Kolls, and M. Good, *Interleukin-22 Signaling in the Regulation of Intestinal Health and Disease.* Front Cell Dev Biol, 2015. 3: p. 85.
- 40. Rutz, S., C. Eidenschenk, and W. Ouyang, *IL-22, not simply a Th17 cytokine.* Immunol Rev, 2013. 252(1): p. 116-32.
- Kang, C.S., M. Ban, E.J. Choi, H.G. Moon, J.S. Jeon, D.K. Kim, S.K. Park, S.G. Jeon, T.Y. Roh, S.J. Myung, Y.S. Gho, J.G. Kim, and Y.K. Kim, *Extracellular vesicles derived from gut microbiota, especially Akkermansia muciniphila, protect the progression of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis.* PLoS One, 2013. 8(10): p. e76520.
- 42. Jonkers, D. and R. Stockbrugger, *Probiotics and inflammatory bowel disease.* J R Soc Med, 2003. 96(4): p. 167-71.
- 43. Looijer-van Langen, M.A. and L.A. Dieleman, *Prebiotics in chronic intestinal inflammation*. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 2009. 15(3): p. 454-62.

- 44. Cui, H.H., C.L. Chen, J.D. Wang, Y.J. Yang, Y. Cun, J.B. Wu, Y.H. Liu, H.L. Dan, Y.T. Jian, and X.Q. Chen, *Effects of probiotic on intestinal mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis.* World J Gastroenterol, 2004. 10(10): p. 1521-5.
- Schroeder, B.O., G.M.H. Birchenough, M. Stahlman, L. Arike, M.E.V. Johansson, G.C. Hansson, and F. Backhed, *Bifidobacteria or Fiber Protects against Diet-Induced Microbiota-Mediated Colonic Mucus Deterioration.* Cell Host Microbe, 2018. 23(1): p. 27-40.e7.
- 46. Alard, J., V. Peucelle, D. Boutillier, J. Breton, S. Kuylle, B. Pot, S. Holowacz, and C. Grangette, *New probiotic strains for inflammatory bowel disease management identified by combining in vitro and in vivo approaches.* Benef Microbes, 2018. 9(2): p. 317-331.
- 47. Le, B. and S.H. Yang, *Efficacy of Lactobacillus plantarum in prevention of inflammatory bowel disease.* Toxicol Rep, 2018. 5: p. 314-317.
- Madsen, K.L., J.S. Doyle, L.D. Jewell, M.M. Tavernini, and R.N. Fedorak, *Lactobacillus species prevents colitis in interleukin 10 gene-deficient mice.* Gastroenterology, 1999. 116(5): p. 1107-14.
- 49. Orel, R. and T. Kamhi Trop, *Intestinal microbiota, probiotics and prebiotics in inflammatory bowel disease.* World J Gastroenterol, 2014. 20(33): p. 11505-24.
- 50. Chibbar, R. and L.A. Dieleman, *Probiotics in the Management of Ulcerative Colitis.* J Clin Gastroenterol, 2015. 49 Suppl 1: p. S50-5.
- Zhou, Y., H. Chen, H. He, Y. Du, J. Hu, Y. Li, Y. Li, Y. Zhou, H. Wang, Y. Chen, and Y. Nie, *Increased Enterococcus faecalis infection is associated with clinically active Crohn disease.* Medicine (Baltimore), 2016. 95(39): p. e5019.
- Scaldaferri, F., V. Gerardi, F. Mangiola, L.R. Lopetuso, M. Pizzoferrato, V. Petito, A. Papa, J. Stojanovic, A. Poscia, G. Cammarota, and A. Gasbarrini, *Role and mechanisms of action of Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 in the maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis patients: An update.* World J Gastroenterol, 2016. 22(24): p. 5505-11.
- Bourreille, A., G. Cadiot, G. Le Dreau, D. Laharie, L. Beaugerie, J.L. Dupas, P. Marteau,
  P. Rampal, D. Moyse, A. Saleh, M.E. Le Guern, and J.P. Galmiche, *Saccharomyces boulardii does not prevent relapse of Crohn's disease.* Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2013. 11(8): p. 982-7.
- 54. Garcia Vilela, E., M. De Lourdes De Abreu Ferrari, H. Oswaldo Da Gama Torres, A. Guerra Pinto, A. Carolina Carneiro Aguirre, F. Paiva Martins, E. Marcos Andrade Goulart,

and A. Sales Da Cunha, *Influence of Saccharomyces boulardii on the intestinal permeability of patients with Crohn's disease in remission.* Scand J Gastroenterol, 2008. 43(7): p. 842-8.

- 55. Guslandi, M., P. Giollo, and P.A. Testoni, *A pilot trial of Saccharomyces boulardii in ulcerative colitis.* Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2003. 15(6): p. 697-8.
- 56. Guslandi, M., G. Mezzi, M. Sorghi, and P.A. Testoni, *Saccharomyces boulardii in maintenance treatment of Crohn's disease.* Dig Dis Sci, 2000. 45(7): p. 1462-4.
- 57. Culligan, E.P., C. Hill, and R.D. Sleator, *Probiotics and gastrointestinal disease: successes, problems and future prospects.* Gut Pathog, 2009. 1(1): p. 19.
- 58. Becattini, S., Y. Taur, and E.G. Pamer, *Antibiotic-Induced Changes in the Intestinal Microbiota and Disease.* Trends Mol Med, 2016. 22(6): p. 458-478.
- Chassaing, B., *Microbiota Alterations in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: From Correlation to Causality.* Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2016. 2(4): p. 403-404.
- 60. Durchschein, F., W. Petritsch, and H.F. Hammer, *Diet therapy for inflammatory bowel diseases: The established and the new.* World J Gastroenterol, 2016. 22(7): p. 2179-94.
- Desai, M.S., A.M. Seekatz, N.M. Koropatkin, N. Kamada, C.A. Hickey, M. Wolter, N.A. Pudlo, S. Kitamoto, N. Terrapon, A. Muller, V.B. Young, B. Henrissat, P. Wilmes, T.S. Stappenbeck, G. Nunez, and E.C. Martens, *A Dietary Fiber-Deprived Gut Microbiota Degrades the Colonic Mucus Barrier and Enhances Pathogen Susceptibility.* Cell, 2016. 167(5): p. 1339-1353.e21.
- 62. den Besten, G., K. van Eunen, A.K. Groen, K. Venema, D.J. Reijngoud, and B.M. Bakker, *The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism.* J Lipid Res, 2013. 54(9): p. 2325-40.
- Kelly, C.J., L. Zheng, E.L. Campbell, B. Saeedi, C.C. Scholz, A.J. Bayless, K.E. Wilson,
  L.E. Glover, D.J. Kominsky, A. Magnuson, T.L. Weir, S.F. Ehrentraut, C. Pickel, K.A.
  Kuhn, J.M. Lanis, V. Nguyen, C.T. Taylor, and S.P. Colgan, *Crosstalk between Microbiota-Derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Intestinal Epithelial HIF Augments Tissue Barrier Function.* Cell Host Microbe, 2015. 17(5): p. 662-71.
- Macia, L., J. Tan, A.T. Vieira, K. Leach, D. Stanley, S. Luong, M. Maruya, C. Ian McKenzie, A. Hijikata, C. Wong, L. Binge, A.N. Thorburn, N. Chevalier, C. Ang, E. Marino, R. Robert, S. Offermanns, M.M. Teixeira, R.J. Moore, R.A. Flavell, S. Fagarasan, and C.R. Mackay, *Metabolite-sensing receptors GPR43 and GPR109A facilitate dietary fibre-*

*induced gut homeostasis through regulation of the inflammasome.* Nat Commun, 2015. 6: p. 6734.

- Faure, M., D. Moennoz, F. Montigon, C. Mettraux, D. Breuille, and O. Ballevre, *Dietary threonine restriction specifically reduces intestinal mucin synthesis in rats.* J Nutr, 2005. 135(3): p. 486-91.
- 66. Mao, X., X. Zeng, S. Qiao, G. Wu, and D. Li, *Specific roles of threonine in intestinal mucosal integrity and barrier function.* Front Biosci (Elite Ed), 2011. 3: p. 1192-200.
- Faure, M., C. Mettraux, D. Moennoz, J.P. Godin, J. Vuichoud, F. Rochat, D. Breuille, C.
  Obled, and I. Corthesy-Theulaz, *Specific amino acids increase mucin synthesis and microbiota in dextran sulfate sodium-treated rats.* J Nutr, 2006. 136(6): p. 1558-64.
- 68. Chen, G. and J. Wang, *Threonine metabolism and embryonic stem cell self-renewal.* Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care, 2014. 17(1): p. 80-5.
- 69. Han, C., H. Gu, J. Wang, W. Lu, Y. Mei, and M. Wu, *Regulation of L-threonine dehydrogenase in somatic cell reprogramming.* Stem Cells, 2013. 31(5): p. 953-65.
- 70. Imhann, F., A. Vich Vila, M.J. Bonder, J. Fu, D. Gevers, M.C. Visschedijk, L.M. Spekhorst, R. Alberts, L. Franke, H.M. van Dullemen, R.W.F. Ter Steege, C. Huttenhower, G. Dijkstra, R.J. Xavier, E.A.M. Festen, C. Wijmenga, A. Zhernakova, and R.K. Weersma, *Interplay of host genetics and gut microbiota underlying the onset and clinical presentation of inflammatory bowel disease.* Gut, 2018. 67(1): p. 108-119.
- Pascal, V., M. Pozuelo, N. Borruel, F. Casellas, D. Campos, A. Santiago, X. Martinez, E. Varela, G. Sarrabayrouse, K. Machiels, S. Vermeire, H. Sokol, F. Guarner, and C. Manichanh, *A microbial signature for Crohn's disease.* Gut, 2017. 66(5): p. 813-822.
- 72. Sabino, J., S. Vieira-Silva, K. Machiels, M. Joossens, G. Falony, V. Ballet, M. Ferrante, G. Van Assche, S. Van der Merwe, S. Vermeire, and J. Raes, *Primary sclerosing cholangitis is characterised by intestinal dysbiosis independent from IBD.* Gut, 2016. 65(10): p. 1681-9.
- Vrakas, S., K.C. Mountzouris, G. Michalopoulos, G. Karamanolis, G. Papatheodoridis, C. Tzathas, and M. Gazouli, *Intestinal Bacteria Composition and Translocation of Bacteria in Inflammatory Bowel Disease.* PLoS One, 2017. 12(1): p. e0170034.